

Autism, Aging, and Dementia: A Consensus Report of the Autism/Dementia Work Group of the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia

April 2024



Suggested citation:

International Summit Autism/Dementia Work Group. (2024). Autism, aging, and dementia: A consensus report of the Autism/Dementia Work Group of the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia. 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia. https://www.the-ntg.org/summit-secretariat.

Acknowledgements:

The Summit acknowledges the generous underwriting and contributions of the Reena Organization, the Bunz Family Fund, Azrieli Foundation, Temple University, University of Stirling, the Canadian Consortium, and the National Task Group on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia Practices. Cover art is attributed to IMAGE FX. The Summit further acknowledges the contribution of the National Task Group for the development of this report.

© 2024 Summit Secretariat

v. 2024-April 1a

Readers are welcome to copy for personal use, link to, and quote from this document with attribution.

Reproduction in whole requires explicit permission from the Summit Secretariat. No permission will be given for the private sale of this document.



Autism, aging, and dementia: A consensus report of the Autism Work Group of the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia

Issued April 2024

This is a product stemming from the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia, Toronto, Ontario Canada

October 24-25, 2023

Summit Secretariat

https://www.the-ntg.org/summit-secretariat





Summit Autism/Dementia Work Group

Lucille Esralew, PhD National Task Group on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia Practices Sacramento, California USA

Matthew P. Janicki, Ph.D.

Institute on Disability and Human Development Department of Disability and Human Development University of Illinois at Chicago Chicago, Illinois USA

Nancy Jokinen, Ph.D.

UNBC School of Social Work Prince George, British Columbia NTG-Canadian Consortium Canada

Frode Kibsgaard Larsen

The Norwegian National Centre for Ageing and Health Vestfold Hospital Trust Tønsberg, Norway Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo Oslo, Norway

Christina N. Marsack-Topolewski, Ph.D., LMSW

School of Social Work Eastern Michigan University Ypsilanti, Michigan USA

Philip McCallion, Ph.D.

ABA Centers of America Autism Lab School of Social Work Temple University Philadelphia, Pennsylvania USA

Dawna Torres Mughal, PhD

College of Health Professions and Sciences Gannon University Erie, Pennsylvania USA

Vikram Palanisamy, FRCPC

Provincial Assessment Center Coquitlam, British Columbia University of British Columbia Department of Psychiatry Vancouver, British Columbia Canada

Flavia H. Santos, Ph.D.

School of Psychology University College Dublin Dublin, Ireland

Kathryn P Service RN, MS, FNP-BC

National Task Group on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia Practices Massachusetts Department of Developmental Disabilities Northampton, Massachusetts USA

Shahin Shooshtari, PhD

Department of Community Health Sciences Rady Faculty of Health Sciences University of Manitoba Winnipeg, Manitoba Canada

Anupam Thakur, MBBS, MD

Surrey Place and CAMH, Toronto Department of Psychiatry University of Toronto Toronto, Canada

Gomiero Tiziano, Ph.D.

Down Alzheimer Dementia (DAD) Project ANFFAS TRENTINO ONLUS Research Ethics Committee of the University of Trento Trento, Italy

Karen Watchman, Ph.D.

Faculty of Health Sciences and Sport University of Stirling Stirling, Scotland UK Autism, aging, and dementia: A consensus report of the Autism Work Group of the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia

Contents

- 0.0 Executive Summary
- 1.0 Introduction
- 1.1 Autism
 - 1.2 Prevalence
 - 1.3 Nutrition, microbiota, and gut health in autism
 - 1.4 Previous collective efforts exploring aging and autism
- 2.0 Methodology
- 3.0 Autism diagnostic aspects recognition and assessment
 - 3.1 Characteristics and variations
 - 3.2 Co-occurring autism and intellectual disability and with Down syndrome.
 - 3.3 Health and related factors
- 4.0 Autism and dementia
 - 4.1 Co-occurring conditions, risk, & dementia
 - 4.2 Other factors
 - 4.2.1 Mortality
 - 4.2.2 Intellectual disability and dementia risk
 - 4.2.3 Down syndrome and dementia risk
 - 4.2.4 Mental health conditions and dementia risk
 - 4.2.5 BPSD and dementia risk
 - 4.2.6 Autism and frontotemporal dementia
 - 4.2.7 Other factors associated with dementia
- 5.0 Pharmacological interventions/treatments
- 6.0 Assessment/diagnosis for dementia
- 7.0 Non-pharmacological interventions, dementia supports, and later life outcomes
 - 7.1 Respite, caregiving, and training
 - 7.1.1 Respite and home-based supports
 - 7.1.2 Environmental design
 - 7.1.3 Caregiving
 - 7.1.4 Imparting knowledge
 - 7.2 Housing and dementia care planning
 - 7.3 Behavioral distress management
 - 7.4 Health management
 - 7.4.1 Health care access equity
 - 7.4.2 Pain and autism
 - 7.5 Sensory considerations
 - 7.6 End-of-life care planning
 - 7.7 Autism and post-diagnostic supports
- 8.0 Commentary
- 9.0 Conclusions and statement
- 10.0 References
- 11.0 Appendix Table: Reports and key findings of previous efforts

Autism, aging, and dementia: A consensus report of the Autism Work Group of the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia

Executive Summary

The aim of this summative report is to synthesize what is known about the nature of autism (or 'autism spectrum disorder') and inherent later-age neuropathologies, particularly dementia, and to explore potential genetic, neurobiological, and environmental factors associated with dementia and their effects on the lifespan and lived experience of older adults with autism. This work stems from discussions undertaken during and after the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia, held in Toronto, Canada, on October 24-25, 2023. Drawing from the research and clinical literature, the summative report examines what is currently known about the intersection of autism and dementia, and those relevant factors that may contribute to the risk for dementia. The complexities of assessing dementia in older adults with autism, particularly when they have co-occurring intellectual disability are noted, along with the best practices for intervention and support among older adults with autism with conjoint age-associated cognitive impairment. The findings of the Summit Autism/Dementia Work Group include:

(1) There is limited information available regarding the **demographics** and factors associated with older age among autistic adults. The available data primarily consist of prevalence studies focusing on cognitive decline. Estimates of the aging population vary, primarily extending from epidemiological studies conducted on individuals in early age or school age populations.

(2) Our **understanding of autism** is evolving, challenging the conventional view of it as a static, inherited neurodevelopmental disorder. Recent research is delving into the intricate relationship between genetic predisposition and environmental influences, suggesting a dynamic system of metabolic and immune abnormalities affecting various organ systems, including the brain, which may impact cognitive function later in life. Gastrointestinal (GI) factors, such as antibiotic exposure, hospitalization history, and distinct intestinal bacterial populations, are also under scrutiny, although the precise nature of their relationship to autism remains unclear.

(3) Previous efforts to **examine aging issues**, including neuropathologies like dementia, in autism have faced significant challenges. Previous work has not provided a definitive understanding of aging and autism or laid the groundwork for studying emergent neuropathologies in older autistic individuals. Challenges include sparse case identification, limited representation of older autistic adults in research, and a lack of emphasis on aging within the autism research community. (4) The **diagnostic** landscape for autistic adults poses numerous challenges and complexities. While classic symptoms may not persist into adulthood, autistic adults commonly face difficulties in social interaction, communication, repetitive behaviors, sensory processing, and executive function, which may evolve with age. Two major sets of diagnostic criteria, outlined in the DSM-5 and ICD-11, are generally used to assess symptoms and their impact on individuals' lives. However, guidelines for diagnosing adults vary, with some recommending multidisciplinary assessments, while others suggest relying on a singular experienced healthcare professional.

(5) Assessment of autism shows significant **sexbased differences**, with the condition less frequently diagnosed in females. Genetic and hormonal factors contribute to this disparity, leading to variations in how symptoms present in girls and women. The commonly cited adult sex ratio of 4:1 is influenced by intelligence levels, with males overrepresented among high-functioning cases.

(6) The association between autism and **co-occurring neurodevelopmental disorders** unveils a spectrum of genetic or genomic conditions like fragile X syndrome, tuberous sclerosis complex, and Down syndrome, often stemming from DNA mutations or chromosomal abnormalities. Intellectual disability frequently accompanies autism, while epilepsy rates are notably elevated in those with an intellectual disability. Down syndrome presents a variable co-occurrence rate of 2% in the general U.S. population, with an increased risk of dementia attributed to amyloidbeta protein accumulation. These links suggest shared genetic factors and neuropathological changes, highlighting the intricate web of conditions seen alongside autism.

(7) Research into **comorbidities** among autistic adults reveals a wide range of associated health issues, including seizures, gastrointestinal disorders, psychiatric conditions, infections, skin ailments, and hearing impairments, highlighting the intricate neurological and physiological nature of autism. Genetic and familial factors contribute to later-life outcomes, potentially exacerbating progressive health challenges and cognitive decline. Mental health conditions are prevalent among older autistic adults, alongside age-related health conditions more commonly observed in the general elderly population.

(8) The link between dementia and autism is intricate, with limited research exploring this relationship, especially in older adults, where dementia prevalence is often influenced by co-occurring intellectual disability or Down syndrome. Some autistic adults, especially males, may face an elevated risk of developing dementia compared to the general population. Some studies suggest potential protection against age-related cognitive decline in autistic adults, others indicate associations between dementia and autism symptoms. Key indicators of dementia suspicion in autistic adults include frontotemporal functioning decline, severity of behavioral and psychological symptoms, increased stereotypical behaviors, and heightened compulsivity. Understanding this complex dynamic is hindered by overlapping symptoms, communication deficits, limited verbal expression, and atypical presentation of dementia-related symptoms.

(9) The association between **autism and certain types of dementia** remains complex and largely unexplored. While autistic adults under 65 show a 2.6 times higher likelihood of early-onset dementia, no direct link with Alzheimer's disease has been established. These early-onset findings may encompass various forms of dementia. Speculation on a potential bio-neurological relationship stems from shared brain changes in both dementia and autism, with autism exhibiting structural differences and dementia causing brain damage affecting memory and communication. Some studies suggest a genetic connection, while others explore lifestyle factors like diet and exercise as potential influences.

(10) Mortality patterns among autistic adults revealed nuance. While their mean age at death closely mirrors that of the general population, exceptions exist for those with significant comorbidities. Mortality rates vary based on functioning level, with higher rates among those with both autism and intellectual disability. Sex differences are notable, with females typically outliving males, yet males with autism show a higher likelihood of dementia on death certificates. Autistic adults are less prone to Alzheimer's disease or dementia as a cause of death, although sex-specific disparities persist. Epilepsy emerges as a prevalent cause of death in severe autism, contrasting with circulatory diseases in milder cases. Lifestyle and social factors, rather than genetic elements, are implicated in the higher mortality rates observed in autism.

(11) Risk factors across social, individual, environmental, and biological domains significantly influence health outcomes, with their intersectionality critical in addressing health disparities. Research frameworks for health disparities emphasize both biological (like allostatic load and inflammatory response) and sociocultural factors (such as stigma and bias). Allostatic load, a response to chronic stress, may play a role in physiological dysregulation and accelerated aging in autistic adults, akin to the 'weathering hypothesis'. The interplay of these factors illuminates health challenges in autistic adults, including accelerated aging and immune system dysregulation. A holistic understanding of chronic health challenges in aging autistic adults necessitates considering both biological and sociocultural factors.

(12) The relationship between **intellectual disability and dementia** in autistic older adults presents a complex and underexplored area of research. Studies highlight a higher prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors among autistic individuals, especially those with co-occurring intellectual disability, such as obesity, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia. Research also suggests increased odds of neurological disorders, including dementia, in autistic adults with intellectual

disability, possibly influenced by comorbidities rather than a direct outcome of autism itself. While the link between autism and dementia is less evident in cases without intellectual disability, shared genetic and neurobiological factors, particularly in forms like frontotemporal dementia, are indicated by research.

(13) Studies indicate that approximately 16–18% of individuals with **Down syndrome** are also diagnosed with autism, with this population exhibiting a higher likelihood of various dementia-associated issues, like epilepsy. Despite known neuropathological changes linked to Alzheimer's disease in adults with Down syndrome by age 40, there is a lack of dedicated research on dementia in this mixed population. Overall, while the coexistence of Down syndrome and autism is acknowledged, any increased risk for Alzheimer's in adults with both conditions is primarily attributed to co-occurring Down syndrome rather than autism.

(14) Studies highlight the intricate relationship between autism, cognitive health, and cognitive de*cline* in adulthood. Diagnosing dementia in autistic adults is challenging due to overlapping symptoms with psychiatric or neurological conditions. There's a significant association between autism symptoms and late-life degenerative dementia, especially in early-onset cases. Adults with mental disorders, including some with autism, face an increased risk of subsequent dementia. Elevated rates of cognitive decline are observed in middle and older age autistic adults without intellectual disability, suggesting a potential link between autism and cognitive deterioration. Overall, older adults with elevated autistic traits may encounter greater mental health challenges, with difficulties persisting and potentially worsening over time.

(15) Autistic individuals often experience heightened levels of social isolation and **mental health issues**, leading to comorbid mood and anxiety disorders. However, the manifestation of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia in autistic adults remains unclear. The co-occurrence of Down syndrome, which increases the risk for Alzheimer's disease, further complicates the situation. Changes in anxiety, sleep disturbances, apathy, and depressive symptoms in individuals with Down syndrome may indicate the onset of Alzheimer's disease and conversion to dementia, often accompanied by increased aggression or destructive behavior. In autistic adults with Down syndrome, heightened verbal or physical aggression may serve as additional indicators of mild cognitive impairment or early Alzheimer's disease.

(16) Research suggests a notable connection between **autism and frontotemporal dementia** (FTD), though causality is not established. Some studies indicate potential overlap between behavioral variant FTD (bvFTD) and autism, with similarities in symptoms. Neuropathological evaluations reveal increased tau and neurofibrillary pathology in the frontal lobes of those showing autism-like behaviors in late-onset dementia. Despite challenges in bvFTD diagnosis, biomarkers may offer diagnostic clarity in the future.

(17) Data do not indicate a clear increased **risk of Alzheimer's disease** in individuals with autism, but some studies suggest a higher prevalence of other forms of dementia, such as behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia. Understanding the risk factors for dementia in autistic adults is still developing, with genetic, neurobiological, and environmental factors playing complex roles. Further research is needed to better comprehend the precise mechanisms underlying these associations and to elucidate the intricate relationships between these factors.

(18) Certain **medications** used for Alzheimer's treatment have shown promise in addressing dementia-related symptoms in autistic adults, particularly behavioral symptoms like irritability. However, further research on treatments targeting Alzheimer's disease is needed due to the lack of approved autism-specific medications. Caution is advised when considering use of emerging anti-amyloid drugs for autistic adults with mild cognitive impairment or early-stage Alzheimer's dementia, especially in those with Down syndrome, due to potential adverse effects and lack of specific safety studies.

(19) **Diagnosing dementia** in older autistic adults, particularly those with intellectual disabilities, poses significant clinical challenges due to the complex interplay of cognitive, communicative, and behavioral factors inherent to these conditions. Diagnosis is complicated by the overlapping symptoms of autism with other mental health disorders, further complicating the assessment process. Standard dementia assessment tools may not be suitable, necessitating comprehensive evaluations that consider sensory sensitivities, anxiety, and unconventional communication methods. Tailored approaches are needed to address communication difficulties and behavioral obscurities, requiring a multidisciplinary approach and input from various sources. Longitudinal assessments and frequent monitoring are essential for identifying subtle changes indicating the onset or progression of dementia in autistic adults. Advances in blood biomarkers and neuroimaging will be even more critical for this population and reasonable accommodations should be implemented to support individuals engaged in these investigations.

(20) Caregiving for older autistic adults with dementia presents diverse support needs, ranging from minimal assistance to extensive care, either at home or in supervised housing. Caregivers encounter various challenges, including difficulties in finding primary care providers, navigating patient-provider communication, managing anxiety, addressing stigma, and considering cultural and ethnic dimensions of dementia care. The mental health impact on caregivers is considerable, with higher levels of stress, anxiety, and depressive disorders compared to caregivers without autism-related responsibilities. Recognizing the importance of respite care, which offers crucial temporary relief for caregivers facing the physical and emotional strains of caring for individuals with complex needs, is essential.

(21) While home caregiving remains an option, alternative living arrangements such as dementia-capable apartments or **group homes** offer supervised support and specialized care for autistic adults with dementia. Adapting group homes for dementia should involve addressing sensory issues. Individualized dementia care planning is crucial, necessitating tailored care plans, as well as providing supports and staff training. Longitudinal studies are recommended to improve understanding and identify effective living setting accommodations. (22) Autistic individuals commonly face **sensory sensitivities** that significantly affect their well-being. Tailoring sensory modulation techniques and creating sensory-friendly environments can enhance their quality of life. Dementia care settings can be adapted, focusing on minimizing triggers like strong smells, bright lights, and noise. Providing ample personal space, visual supports, calming colors, and reduced noise levels are crucial accommodations.

(23) Autistic adults need **structures and routines** and in the context of living with a dual diagnosis of dementia and autism it is often particularly challenging for the individual to hold onto structure/routine and sharing living space with others can be particularly challenging. Environments need to respond to this need and education/training of staff/family caregivers needs to consider this cumulative complexity.

(24) **End-of-life planning** is crucial for ensuring comfort and dignity, particularly in the later stages of dementia and what guidance for advanced dementia exists applies equally to older autistic adults. For autistic individuals, comprehensive end-of-life care should include palliative and hospice care.

(25) In essence, global initiatives like the WHO resolutions and NICE guidelines to enhance autism support are noteworthy. These should lead to coordinated efforts to address gaps in early detection, care, and treatment. These include government commitments to aid autistic adults with dementia, strengthening the workforce, and creating inclusive environments. Key aims for post-diagnostic dementia supports stress timely identification and emotional wellbeing, as well as access to medical/health care, noninstitutional residential supports, and adaptive environments.

(26) It is recognized that many **gaps in research** persist, particularly regarding the impact of autism on aging and dementia, underscoring the need for broader investigations tailored to autistic individuals' unique characteristics.

The intersection of intellectual disability, autism, and dementia presents a complex array of challenges influenced by genetic, neurobiological, and environmental factors. A holistic, person-centered approach is essential for providing optimal care tailored to individual needs. Prospective, longitudinal studies are needed to understand aging in autism comprehensively and evaluate interventions for diverse sub-groups of older autistic

adults. Research gaps include understanding social isolation, living arrangements, and dementia epidemiology, as well as educating healthcare providers and developing health programs for autistic individuals. Additionally, exploring neuropathology, cognitive aging trajectories, and the relationship between autism and dementia mechanisms are crucial areas for further investigation. Further research should also address methodological expansion, including varied research designs and larger sample sizes, to enhance our understanding and improve outcomes for this vulnerable population.

Statement on Autism and Dementia

The prevailing viewpoint, derived from current research, is that there is no overarching basis or foundation supporting a notable increased risk for any specific form of dementia in individuals with autism. As individuals with autism age, akin to the general population, some may undergo assessments and receive dementia diagnoses; however, such cases do not seem inherently predisposed to any specific brain disease genetically or otherwise. It is worth noting that adults with co-occurring conditions, such as Down syndrome and some intellectual disabilities, exhibit elevated risk markers, potentially leading to higher rates of clinical dementia in older age. In acknowledging this, the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disability and Dementia underscores the impact of social determinants of health, adverse life experiences, and stressors in compromising cognitive health during later stages of life and potentially influencing cognitive decline and premature mortality. However, the research is still incipient and inconclusive regarding whether such factors determine early, faster, or worse dementia outcomes in autistic adults in comparison to the general population. The Summit supports evidence-based practices to enhance social competencies, commitment to healthy lifestyles, and provide living supports that enhance personal capabilities, whenever consent and choices are sought, minimizing exposure to unsafe environments and risk-heightening behaviors, and encouraging adherence to life practices that promote mental and physical health wellness.

 \leftrightarrow





1.0 Introduction

The aim of this report is to synthesize what is known about the nature of autism¹ (or 'autism spectrum disorder') and inherent later-age neuropathologies, such as dementia, and to explore the genesis of such neuropathologies and their effects on the lifespan and lived experience of older adults with autism. This stems from discussions undertaken prior to, during, and after the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disability and Dementia, held in Toronto, Canada, on October 24-25, 2023. One of the topics considered at the Summit regarded autism and the participants queried whether autism posed risk for any specific form of neurodegenerative disorder expressed as dementia, whether dementia expression in autistic adults was out-of-norm from the general population, and whether its expression was distinct from other neurodiverse or neuroatypical conditions. In this report, we use an international perspective, cover contributory information on aging, and consider factors that may have bearing on whether there is distinctness with respect to the risk and occurrence of dementia associated with autism.

A word about the literature related to autism and associated conditions. How research is done and who is researched is evolving with respect to autism. Earlier studies generally included more narrow definitions of autism as well as focused primarily, if not exclusively, on childhood. More recent work has broadly included various aspects of the spectrum, expanded to examine lifespan issues, and moved away from focusing more narrowly on autistic adults with co-occurring intellectual disability (ID). When attempting to examine the situations of aging autistic adults, we acknowledged that complications of life experiences must be considered in addition to the degree that autistic features have migrated from or to other forms of behavioral neurodivergence.

When examining the associations with aging-associated dementia, the co-occurrence of ID, epilepsy, other health conditions, and the cascading effects of medication, must all be considered. The life opportunities and lived experiences of adults (i.e., schooling, living arrangements, employment experiences, availability of support), as well as the adverse effects of social isolation and systemic discrimination over a lifetime should be considered. Therefore, who we consider autistic (earlier studies have focused on a group with higher rates of co-occurring conditions that are associated with dementia) and how their brain health is related to their environments and opportunities, is very much evolving. What we see now or what we saw in earlier research is impacted by various cohort effects. We also need to be cognizant of what research tells us about when and what population was studied. What was the prevailing characteristic and of what aspect of autism is it representative? Also, needing consideration is that the data may not reflect what will happen to autistic people growing up now, who are not yet older or of other cohort effects. This includes where the study was undertaken, what was the prevailing attitude toward autism, what educational opportunities were available, what social and financial supports were available, and how did autistic adults view themselves. Also, a consideration is a transition on how autism was (and is now) diagnosed, who is diagnosed, and who is diagnosing, also

¹ Terminology used to describe autism has varied. Two distinct perspectives included "person-first "language (e.g., "adult with autism") versus "identity-first "language (e.g., "autistic adult") (Canadian Academy of Health Sciences, 2020; Edelson et al., 2021). Supporters of person-first language feel that it is important to emphasize the person rather than the disorder or disability, and promote the use of terms such as, "person with autism" or "a person with ASD." Surveys in Australia (Bury et al., 2023), the Netherlands (Buijsman et al., 2023), and the United Kingdom (Keating et al., 2023) have supported language preferences depending upon the autism-related stakeholder group. In one study, Taboas et al. (2023), surveyed autism stakeholders in the United States and overwhelmingly autistic adults preferred identity-first language terms to refer to themselves or others with autism. Professionals and academics who work with the autism community tended to support and use person-first language. There are other terms in different languages in which self-definition, professionals and community terminology also vary. In this report, the term 'autism' is employed to be equivalent to 'autism spectrum disorders' (which include autism, Asperger's syndrome, and atypical autism or pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified, Rett's syndrome, and Heller syndrome). In this report, we have opted to use identity-first language.

makes summarizing research challenging. Lastly, we recognize the diversity of adults affected by autism, its degrees of impact, and confluence with other neurodevelopmental conditions.

In preparing this report, we drew from a broad range of studies and other sources, not all of which were explicit as to the factors noted above. We have tried to note the context of the studies, but also recognize that without standardization it is often impossible to extract such factors. Thus, what we present is an amalgamation of work reporting certain factors which may (or may not) lead us to better understand the possible relationship of autism and aging-associated dementia. We also recognize that the life situations of autistic adults may vary considerably and may be determined or influenced by co-occurring conditions. It is our intent to present what the literature and clinical practice offers and where appropriate draw conclusions, and if uncertainty prevails, offer what is known and leave the outcomes to interpretation.

This report is parsed into two main areas, beginning with an introductory segment that includes fundamentals on definitional issues, prevalence and occurrence, the hypothetical basis of gut health and autism, a summary of previous efforts at synthesis, and an analytic segment, in which we examine various potential contributions to aging-related neuropathologies, such as dementia, in autistic adults. This latter segment also contains commentary on peri- and post-diagnostic supports. We conclude with a commentary and recommendations for further queries and actions. In this report, we take a worldwide perspective and examine work emanating from many countries.

1.1 Autism

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE, 2021) describes autism as a lifelong neurodevelopmental condition, with core features including persistent difficulties in social interaction and communication, as well as the presence of stereotypic (rigid and repetitive) behaviors, resistance to change, or restricted interests. While the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5; APA, 2015) classifies autism as a disorder, many autistic people prefer terms such as neurological "difference" or "condition" to remove the negative associations with the word "disorder" (Canadian Academy of Health Sciences, 2022). In the United Kingdom, the Guideline Development Group (2012) recognized that different individuals and groups prefer various terms for autism, including autistic spectrum condition, autistic spectrum difference, and neurodiversity. These preferences are reflected in government documents.

Autism is a spectrum. This implies that while all individuals on the spectrum will encounter some of the differences mentioned above, the extent to which each autistic person experiences these differences and the level of support they require will vary. Autism may manifest in individuals in diverse ways at different life stages, often alongside coexisting conditions such as intellectual disability. The features of autism can range from mild to severe and may fluctuate over time or in response to changes in circumstances. Much remains unknown, specifically regarding the aging of individuals with autism, their health outcomes, and factors that might mitigate lifelong neurodiversity (Perkins & Berkman, 2012). Although research on brain changes with age has been limited, a small comparative study demonstrated structural changes, revealing reduced bilateral hippocampal volumes in middle-aged autistic adults (Braden et al., 2017). Another study indicated that autistic adults displayed age-related cortical thinning, most significantly in the left temporal lobe (Braden et al., 2019). However, there is limited information on brain changes in older autistic individuals. Mortality rates seem to be elevated 2- to 5-fold in studies involving middle-aged adult samples, with most deaths associated with epilepsy or accidents (Gillberg et al., 2010). Premature mortality is also markedly increased due to various medical conditions (Hirvikoski et al., 2016). It remains unclear whether being autistic is a risk or if premature mortality is better accounted for by the presence of co-occurring conditions such as epilepsy, intellectual disability (Happe & Charlton, 2010), or mental health issues (Newell et al., 2023), along with inequitable healthcare. Nevertheless, autism is believed to be a complex, neurobiologically determined, and heterogenous neurodevelopmental disorder (Murphy et al., 2016).

1.2 Prevalence

Globally, Salari et al. (2022) using a systematic review and meta-analysis of some 74 studies (N= 30,212,757 participants) reported that the earlier age (<27) worldwide prevalence of autism was 0.6% (95% confidence interval: 0.4–1%). Regional analyses indicated that the prevalence of autism in Asia, America, Europe, Africa, and Australia was 0.4% (95% Cl: 0.1–1), 1% (95% Cl: 0.8–1.1), 0.5% (95% Cl: 0.2–1), 1% (95% Cl: 0.3–3.1), 1.7% (95% Cl: 0.5–6.1), respectively. No data were included on adults past their late twenties. In another global review, Zeidan et al. (2022) synthesized estimates of the prevalence of autism worldwide and noted a global autism prevalence that ranges within and across regions, with a median prevalence of 100/10,000 (range: 1.09/10,000 to 436.0/10,000) or about 1%. The median male-to-female ratio was 4.2. The median percentage of autism cases with co-occurring intellectual disability was 33.0%. Lyall et al. (2017) reported estimates show that 1.5% of the population in developed countries are autistic. Elsabbagh et al. (2012) in their review reported that the median prevalence estimate of autism was 62/10,000 and reported the limitations and reliability of existing data sets, particularly those from low-income countries.

In the U.S., Dietz et al. (2020), utilizing a statistical model based on estimates of children, estimated that the national prevalence of adults aged 18-84 years living with autism was approximately 2.21% (95% simulation interval 1.95%, 2.45%), equating to around 5.4 million adults. They also highlighted that exact figures for national and state populations of adults living with autism in the U.S. are unavailable due to the absence of surveillance systems. Sacco et al. (2022) reported that European member state estimates, primarily drawn from younger age individuals with autism, were 0.8% based on register-based studies and 1.4% based on population. They observed that there is still a gap in research and awareness regarding autistic adults, and many teenagers and adults remain undiagnosed, suggesting a potential underestimation of prevalence among older age groups. Estimates for the United Kingdom provided by O'Nions et al. (2023) indicate that rates of diagnosed autism in children/young people were much higher than in adults/older adults. They found that only 0.02% of adults aged 70+ (1 in 6000) were diagnosed compared to 2.94% of 10- to 14-year-olds (1 in 34). Agerelated inequalities were evident in new diagnoses (incidence): approximately 1 in 250 5- to 9-year-olds had a newly recorded autism diagnosis in 2018, vs. approximately 1 in 4000 20- to 49-year-olds, and approximately 1 in 18,000 people aged 50+. Liu et al. (2023) merged the Swedish Total Population Register and the National Patient Register of some 4.2 million adults aged 35+ and found 5,291 middle-age and older autistic adults, accounting for 0.001% of the 35+ population.

In Canada, it was estimated that 1.5% (or one in 66) children and youth aged 5-17 years had a diagnosis of autism based on administrative data derived in 2015 from six provinces and one territory (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2018). The estimated prevalence ranged between 0.8% and 1.8% across jurisdictions. Autism was four times more prevalent among males than females. Jurisdictions that tracked prevalence of autism over time, found an increase of three to four-fold among children 5-14 years of age between 2003 and 2015. Loomes et al. (2017) undertook a meta-analysis of prevalence studies of autistic children undertaken in the United Kingdom and found that the true male-to-female ratio is not 4:1, as is often assumed; but closer to 3:1. The authors posited that there appears to be a diagnostic sex bias, meaning that girls who meet criteria for autism are at disproportionate risk of not receiving a clinical diagnosis.

A more recent estimate of autism prevalence among Canadian children aged 1-17 years is 2.0% (one in 50) ranging from 0.8% to 4.1% across jurisdictions (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2022). This estimate is based on data from a pan-Canadian survey completed by parents. The prevalence of autism varied by age, and it was the highest at 2.5% among children 5-11 years of age. Among autistic children, there were almost four times more boys than girls (a sex ratio of 3.9). The survey did not include adults, so currently, there is no estimate of autism prevalence among Canadian adults at the national level.

As noted by O'Nions et al. (2023), imperfections in domestic datasets and "substantial age-related differences in the proportions of people diagnosed suggest an urgent need to improve access to adult autism diagnostic services." An Irish survey of unhoused adults, conducted by Boilson et al. (2023), highlighted a substantial number of autistic adults without stable housing, potentially contributing to undercounts of prevalence for adults. This issue was also addressed in a UK study (Churchard et al. , 2019) and by Brugha et al. (2011), who observed that autistic adults "living in the community are socially disadvantaged and tend to be unrecognized." In the U.S., Zahorodny et al. (2023) conducted a prevalence investigation of teenagers with autism and concluded that approximately 25% of the potential population were undiagnosed, further supporting the belief of a gross undercount among aging autistic adults.

While estimates providing an indication of the prevalence of autism exist in most populations, these estimates are predominantly based on studies and analyses involving younger individuals. Little to no prevalence studies exist that offer a sound indication of the epidemiology of adults diagnosed with autism. As reported by Gerhardt and Lainer (2011), approximately 70% of currently identified individuals with autism are less than 14 years old. The rationale for variations by age includes a greater focus on diagnosis at a younger age (due to early recognition and documentation for special education services), increased integration within the workforce among post-school age adults, adverse longevity factors (mortality), and a lack of diagnostic urgency in older age. Also, noteworthy is the finding of Shaw et al. (2022) that there are early identification disparities due to ethnicity, such that in the U.S. African-heritage and Spanish-language heritage children without ID were less likely to be identified with autism than were European-heritage children. All these factors may influence prevalence determinations with increasing age. Piven et al. (2011) have projected that by 2030 there will be approximately 700,000 older autistic adults with a formal diagnosis in the U.S..

A factor to consider when defining the nature and extent of the older population of autistic adults (and projecting the potential expression of dementia) is the lived experience of adults born prior to or proximate to the midpoint of the 20th century. As Krantz et al. (2023) have aptly noted, these autistic adults were born before autism was recognized as an official diagnosis in the various diagnostic manuals (e.g., the 1980 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual III; DSM-III) and interventions and behavioral therapies were available for autistic individuals.² It is likely, therefore, that many current older adults were not beneficiaries of special attention and services, and exposure to special education efforts, all of which may have shaped their developmental and aging trajectory. This life situation may also affect any efforts to assess prevalence of autistic adults with concurrent conditions, that may have been shaped by various aging-related neurological factors and potentially influence rates of dementia observed in this age group, may not auger what younger-older adults and children in current and subsequent generations may experience as life and health trajectories and consequently shape their social and biological aging.

In summary, little formative information is available on the demographics and older age factors of autistic adults. Those available are mainly prevalence studies on cognitive decline. Estimates of aging population vary but are mostly extensions of estimates of epidemiological studies of individuals in early age or school age populations. What is known is that autism is found in about 2% of adults, with an approximate 3:1 ratio of males to females with aging, and inherent differential prevalence is not associated with 'race' or ethnicity. Therefore, this prevalence highlights that during the transition to aging, the lifetime experience of autism may play a role in veiled and perhaps early symptoms of

² For a trajectory of the diagnostics associated with autism and its implications, see: IACC (2023). IACC Statement regarding scientific, practice and policy implications of changes in the diagnostic criteria for autism spectrum disorder. https://iacc.hhs.gov/publications/general/2014/statement-changes-in-diagnostic-criteria.shtml

mild neurocognitive disorders and dementia, emphasizing the need to offer treatment for this population. The available literature may not distinguish aging, autism, and comorbidities such as intellectual disability, which could determine whether certain groups could have an increased risk for cognitive decline. These groups may not have been scrutinized in epidemiological studies of intellectual disability cohorts. The expression of the population of autistic adults is pyramidal, with the bulk within the early three decades and then progressively lessening with middle-age and what would be considered the retirement-age populations. This lessening effect appears to be due to a variable 'moderating' of certain symptoms, earlier mortality, minimal clinical contacts, diagnostic uncertainties, societal blending, and difficulties with ascertainment.

1.3 Nutrition, Microbiota, and Gut Health in Autism

This section is included as contemporary work is making significant advances on examining the relationship of gut issues and autism, and we are interested in determining whether any of these issues might show a relationship to cognitive impairment in later age and possible transition to dementia (Panpalli Ates & Yilmaz Can, 2020; Zhou et al., 2021). Autism originally was thought to be a static, inheritable neurodevelopmental disorder. However, research now indicates that the etiology of autism arises from a complex interaction between genetic susceptibility and environmental exposures (Frye et al., 2019). One theory is that a dynamic system of metabolic and immune anomalies involving many organ systems, including the brain, and environmental exposure may influence the neurology behind the brain in autism. The initial detailed observation and inquiry of autistic adults and related conditions and the histories of their caregivers and families pointed to connections between the gut and some cases of autism. Although the mechanism of the connections is not clear yet, many autistic adults have a history of previous antibiotic exposure or hospitalization, GI symptoms, abnormal food cravings, and unique intestinal bacterial populations. These factors have been proposed to relate to variable symptom severity (MacFabe, 2013).

GI symptoms (including constipation, diarrhea, recurrent abdominal pain/bloating and gastroesophageal reflux) are frequent among autistic adults, who often present alterations in intestinal motility and dysfunction of the epithelial barrier ("leaky gut") (Dargenio et al., 2023). Holingue et al. (2018) examined the rate of such GI issues among autistic adults via a review of numerous studies. They found that the prevalence range for constipation was 4.3-45.5% (median 22%), for diarrhea 2.3-75.6% (median 13.0%), and for any or more than one symptom 4.2-96.8% (median 46.8%). GI symptoms were found to differ significantly by age of individuals, primary goal of study, study design, study sample, and who reported symptoms (p<0.05). They reported the difficulties experienced by workers in obtaining valid data due to various methodological challenges, including age of subjects, primary goal of study, study design, study sample, and who reported symptoms.

With the rapid growth of microbiome research during the last fifteen years (Clavell et al., 2022), more studies were conducted to better understand the role of the gut macrobiota³ (Hou et al., 2022) in health and in disorders such as autism that show symptoms of gut microbiota dysbiosis or imbalance. The gut microbiome's link to psychiatric disorders including autism has been studied (Bastiaanssen et al., 2019). Research also included factors that affect the microbiome (individual factors beginning in the womb and environmental factors). Besides the gene, factors include diet and other lifestyle behaviors (smoking and alcohol), delivery

³ The *macrobiota* is defined as the macroscopic living organisms of an area. The *microbiome* is the collection of all microbes, such as bacteria, fungi, viruses, and their genes, that naturally live on our bodies and inside us. The human microbiota consists of the 10-100 trillion symbiotic microbial cells harbored by each person, primarily bacteria in the gut; the human microbiome consists of the genes these cells harbor [see: Hou et al., (2022). Microbiota in health and diseases. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 7, 135. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-00974-4; Turnbaugh et al., (2007). The human microbiome project. *Nature*, 449(7164), 804-810. doi: 10.1038/nature06244.]

method, sex, race, stress, medications (antibiotics and psychotropics), illnesses, nutritional status, and inflammation (Bastiaanssen et al., 2019; Srikantha & Mohajeri, 2019). Interventions to help the gut microbiome include probiotics, prebiotics, synbiotics, and fecal transplant (Abdellatif et al., 2020; Bastiaanssen et al., 2019). Studies on dysbiosis and gut-related symptoms in autism focus more on children than on adults. Understanding the etiology and pathology in childhood contributes to quality of life throughout the life course. When the disorder has no satisfactory or effective treatment available (such as in autism), avoiding symptom triggers. mitigating symptoms, and providing holistic person-centered care are realistic goals.

The complex partnership of the gut microbiota with the host at the endocrine, neural, immune, and metabolic levels has received greater attention in relation to health and diseases (Watson, 2023). Evidence shows that alteration in level of gut microbes and their metabolites are not only linked to GI problems but also to autism (Mehra et al., 2022). The co-occurring GI problems that many children with autism experience point to a possible link between the gut microbiome and autism. A wide range of GI symptoms are found in these children, such as constipation, diarrhea, bloating, abdominal pain, reflux, vomiting, gaseousness, foul smelling stools, and food allergies (Alharthi et al., 2022; Alhazmi et al. 2019; Wasilewska & Klukowski, 2015). Some researchers use the gut-brain axis (GBA) to understand the interplay between the gut and the brain in the causes and symptoms of autism. GBA indicates the reciprocal relationship between the central nervous system and GI system, including the intestinal nervous system (Lewandowska-Pietruszka et al., 2023).

The gut and the brain cross talk and influence each other. The communication system ensures the proper maintenance of GI homeostasis and may have multiple effects on affect, motivation, and higher cognitive functions (Carabotti et al., 2015). Signals from gut-microbiota to brain and from brain to gut-microbiota go by means of neural, endocrine, immune, and humoral pathways. In clinical practice, evidence of microbiota-GBA interactions comes from the association of dysbiosis with central nervous system (CNS) disorders (i.e., autism, anxiety-depressive behaviors) and functional GI disorders such as irritable bowel syndrome (Carabotti et al., 2015). Metabolites and molecules such as short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (acetate, propionate, and butyrate) and neurotransmitters (serotonin, and gamma amino butyric acid or GABA) produced along the metabolic pathways affect the CNS and the brain. The colonic macrobiota digests the non-digestible carbohydrate such as dietary fiber, forming the SCFAs which are fuel sources and can regulate motility, secretion, and gut-brain signaling (Margolis et al., 2021).

A systematic review by Srikantha and Mohajeri (2019) reviewed several epidemiological, and experimental human and in vivo studies for the involvement of different microbes in the autism pathology, such as *clostridia* spp. That is, the correlation between changes in distinct bacterial populations and several bacterial metabolites, and the behavioral changes related to autism warrant further investigations. The authors noted that elevated abundance of Clostridium spp in autistic individuals correlated with the severity of autistic behavior. The mechanism via the gut brain axis needs to be clarified (Srikantha & Mohajeri, 2019). A good concept to remember is that the diversity of the microbes is important as it improves their ability to stop pathogens. Using an ecological approach in their study, Spragge et al. (2023) concluded that ecological diversity, as well as community, is important for colonization resistance (Spragge et al., 2023). Thus, examining the effects and potential applications of the gut microbiota on autism pathology and symptom alleviation and GBA should be in the context of the macrobiota composition, their community, and ecology.

A comprehensive systematic review of the current studies on gut macrobiota and autism (Lewandowska-Pietruszka et al., 2023) concluded that the altered composition of the gut microbiota in children with autism and its correlation with GI symptoms and core behavioral characteristics need further investigation. Interventions, particularly probiotics and microbiota transfer therapy, show promise in ameliorating both the GI and behavioral symptoms. Targeting the gut microbiome could be a viable avenue to improve the quality of life of individuals with autism over their lifespan. However, their specific mechanisms of action and long-term

effects should be further studied. Limitations include variability in methodologies, study populations, and interventions, small sample sizes, and the lack of standardized protocols. Thus, definitive conclusions or universal recommendations cannot be established at this time. It does mean that the field needs large-scale, controlled studies to confirm the potential benefits of microbiota-based interventions for individuals with autism.

That said, questions still arise as to the relationship of GI issues and potentially declining cognitive health with aging. Dicks and Hurn (2021) reported that the gut microbiome is diverse, ever changing and highly responsive to external stimuli. Thus, research may not fully decipher the connection between gut microbiota and mental health, although some have noted a relationship (Appleton, 2018). However, better understanding of gut microbiome and the GBA, improves chances of developing new therapeutics, probiotics and psychobiotics to treat GI disorders such as inflammatory bowel disease and irritable bowel syndrome, improve cognitive functions and prevent or treat mental disorders (Dicks et al., 2021). It has been noted that disturbances along the brain-gut-microbiota axis may significantly contribute to the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease (Bou Zerdan et al., 2022; Kowalski & Mulak, 2019). Alterations in the gut microbiota composition have been reported to induce increased permeability of the gut barrier and immune activation leading to systemic inflammation, which in turn may impair the blood-brain barrier and promote neuroinflammation, neural injury, and ultimately neurodegeneration (Kowalski & Mulak, 2019). Gut microbiota metabolites, including short-chain fatty acids, pro-inflammatory factors, and neurotransmitters were noted by Bou Zerdan et al. (2022) to affect Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis and associated cognitive decline potentially also. Zuou et al. (2021) concluded that Alzheimer's disease patients have gut microbiota alterations related to cognition, and differential taxa between Alzheimer's disease patients with and without neuropsychiatric symptoms (NPS) associated differently with NPS domains, which helps further understand the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. However, the question remains as to whether these processes may heighten the risk for Alzheimer's disease in autistic adults?

In summary, our evolving understanding of autism is beginning to challenge the traditional notion of this condition as being a static, inheritable neurodevelopmental disorder. Current research is exploring the complex interplay between genetic susceptibility and environmental exposures, proposing a dynamic system of metabolic and immune anomalies across organ systems, including the brain – which may influence cognitive functioning in later age. GI factors in autism, particularly antibiotic exposure, hospitalization history, and unique intestinal bacterial populations, are considerations, though the exact relationship remains unclear. Studies are beginning to reveal a prevalence range of diverse GI issues in autistic adults. Microbiome research is highlighting the gut microbiota's role in autism as well as in psychiatric disorders, reflecting the influence of factors like diet, lifestyle, and medications. The gut-brain axis emerges as a crucial focus, emphasizing bidirectional communication between the central nervous system and GI system. Individuals with autism experience a spectrum of GI symptoms (and which carry over to adults), pointing to a potential link with the gut microbiome. Comprehensive reviews underscore the promise of interventions like probiotics in ameliorating both GI and behavioral symptoms, although specific mechanisms and long-term effects still are awaiting large-scale, controlled studies to confirm the benefits of microbiota-based interventions for individuals with autism. Diverse microbial composition, its responsiveness to external stimuli, and ecological considerations underscore the complexity of the gut-brain connection, suggesting potential avenues for therapeutic development in treating GI disorders, improving cognitive functions, and potentially mitigating the onset of dementia.

1.4 Previous Collective Efforts Exploring Aging and Autism

Over the past few years, several working groups and scientific panels have convened to examine general issues associated with autistic adults and their aging (e.g., Autism Canada, 2017; Edelson et al., 2021; Janicki et al., 2008; Mason et al., 2022; Piven et al., 2011; Roestorf et al., 2019). These efforts have been complemented by academic reviews touching on the same subject (Happé & Charlton, 2012; Mukaetova-Ladinska et al., 2011; Perkins & Berkman, 2012). Some of these efforts were general and exploratory and some attempted to examine nuanced issues. For example, Mason et al. (2022) undertook a broad review of the literature on autism across the lifespan. They found that there was a 392% increase in research with autistic people since 2012, however, older adult research only accounted for 0.4% of these published studies. One prominent difficulty is the challenge in identifying papers relevant to older age autism research. However, in aggregate, these previous efforts in researching aging issues in autism showed that these endeavors are not without their diffi-

culties, and none have produced a definitive statement on dementia and autism. Most, if not all, noted the absence of significant focal research in adult autism issues and barely raised older age neuropathologies. At the same time, on a singular level the extant research involvement in adult autism has increased, albeit very marginally.

To set a foundation and to examine what others have done prior to the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disability and Dementia, we have provided a summary of these various efforts in **Table 1** (see Appendix, pages A-D), noting key summative findings as to whether specific variables contribute to general aging differences among autistic adults and to what degree later-age onset neuropathologies were noted. The various groups, panels, and review authors have reported that in the realm of autism and aging, significant Table 1: Reports and Key of Previous Efforts

Table on previous efforts to examine autism and aging is found in the Appendix, pages A-D.

challenges exist due to sparse case identification, low representation of older adults in research studies, and a lack of focus on aging within the autism research community. The adverse health status and predictable trajectories of older individuals with autism remain largely unknown, but some studies of trajectories into older age have found that, for most individuals, body mass index, and prescription medication use increase throughout early adulthood. Limited information is available on the phenomenology, associated features, neurobiological changes, and specific medical, psychiatric, and social aspects related to aging in autism, as well as later life care or support issues or practices.

While there is a growing body of evidence on brain abnormalities in autism, these findings are predominantly confined to children and young adults, with practically no studies on older adults. The impact of aging processes on individuals with autism is not well-understood, and research on age-related changes in behavior, cognition, and neurobiology is scarce. The literature suggests that autism-related behavioral characteristics may vary across the lifespan, and comorbidities such as anxiety, depression, epilepsy, and ID can impact life experiences, clinical needs, cognitive and adaptive functioning, and quality of life (Overland et al., 2022). Suggested also is some effect from social determinants of health, particularly those that affect lifestyle.

These efforts have also noted that a lack of consensus exists on effective diagnostic approaches for later life assessments, referral procedures, and post-diagnostic support for autistic adults. To address these gaps, they proposed various remedies, including the initiation of prospective, longitudinal studies using both cross-sectional and longitudinal methods. Such studies, it has been generally reported, should focus on understanding typical and atypical aging in autism (given its heterogeneity) and evaluating the effectiveness of interventions for different sub-groups of older autistic adults (e.g., those with autism as a primary condition, and those with significant co-occurring conditions).

On a clinical level, the reports generally report that insufficient associated data on medical history, development, therapies, and educational backgrounds of autistic adults limit opportunities for reliable clinical and neurobiological correlations. The call for such longitudinal studies on autism and aging includes a requirement to collect biological samples and brain tissue, to parse on neurological factors that may show autism-related factors affecting brain aging. Such a bio-neurological focus would aid in gaining detailed insights into the progression of autism over the life course and to improve correlations between clinical phenotypes and neurobiological mechanisms. The current impediments to research involving brain tissue include the heterogeneity among autism spectrum disorders, differing clinical presentations, and diverse developmental trajectories.

The consensus among these reports is that the impact of aging processes on individuals with autism is not well-defined, and research on age-related changes in behavior, cognition, and neurobiology is scarce. Moreover, the variation of behavioral characteristics across the lifespan and the influence of comorbidities such as epilepsy, intellectual disability, anxiety, and depression on quality of life underscore the complexity of the issue. The absence of consensus on effective diagnostic approaches for later life assessments and the need for post-diagnostic support for autistic adults further complicate the landscape. Generally, there is agreement on the necessity for prospective, longitudinal studies using both cross-sectional and longitudinal methods to understand typical and atypical aging in autism in all its forms. There is also agreement on the need to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions for diverse sub-groups of older autistic adults (for example, those with high intellectual function versus those with concurrent intellectual disability, and those with stable lifestyles versus those whose living arrangements and lived-experience conditions are sketchy).

In summary, as recognized in preceding efforts, researching aging issues, including neuropathologies such as dementia, in autism is not without difficulties and none of the efforts undertaken to date have produced the definitive statement on aging and autism or the foundation for older age emergent neuropathologies (i.e., dementia). There is general recognition that the challenges in understanding the intersection of autism and aging are significant, marked by sparse case identification, a dearth of representation of older autistic adults in research studies, and a notable absence of emphasis on aging within the autism research community. The health status and predictable trajectories of older individuals with autism remain largely unexplored, lacking comprehensive insights into phenomenology, associated features, neurobiological changes, and specific medical, psychiatric, and social aspects related to aging in autism. Existing evidence on brain abnormalities in autism is predominantly centered on children and young adults, leaving a critical gap in knowledge concerning aging and potential risk factors or biomarkers for mild neurocognitive disorders and dementia.

2.0 Methodology

This report emanates from work associated with the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia, held in Toronto, Ontario, Canada on October 24-25, 2023 (see: https://www.the-ntg.org/ key-past-events). Summit participants represented key researchers, academics, advocacy personnel, providers, and government officials concerned with lack of robust knowledge about different facets of life with dementia among adults with intellectual and related disabilities.

Participants were involved in collective discussions as well as subgroup teams. Prior to meeting in person at the Summit, participants worked in small groups to produce background documents on the three

main topics to be examined at the Summit (these included brain health, human rights and equity, and neurodiversity), including an extensive search of the relevant literature (published and 'grey').

Autism was examined as part of the discussions on neurodiversity. Summit participants contributing to the examination of autism and dementia led the open discussion during the comment period and then worked together after the Summit to produce this report. Participants were asked to examine subtopics related to previous efforts exploring autism and aging; diagnostic aspects, characteristics, and variation; risk factors with lifelong autism; autism and dementia; co-occurring conditions, risk, and dementia; other factors-mortality; other factors; pharmacological approaches; assessment for dementia; non-pharmacological interventions, autism and post-diagnostic supports; interventions and later life outcomes. The report drafts were shared with all Summit participants to obtain further insight and contributions, and to gain consensus on the findings and recommendations. The report also benefited from outside content experts who read and contributed during the post-Summit report generation period.

Specifically, Summit participants considered the following questions:

- a) What were key findings from preceding efforts?
- b) What is the connection between autism, ID, and dementia?
- c) What about autism and ID might increase the risk for dementia?
- d) What are the difficulties faced when trying to diagnose dementia in older autistic adults?

e) What are recommended non-pharmacological interventions and supports for older autistic adults who have been diagnosed with dementia?

f) What might be a research agenda stemming from the findings of this report?

3.0 Autism Diagnostic Aspects - Recognition and Assessment

Autism is a relatively contemporary diagnosis, first identified in case reports by Kanner (1943) and Asperger (1944). Given this and the fact that the diagnostic term is more common from the 1960s onwards, the first cohort of identified children are only now entering old age (Happé & Charlton, 2010). "Classic" symptoms of autism in children are not always present in adults on the spectrum, especially in those underdiagnosed as children (Lewis, 2018). Adults on the spectrum commonly exhibit symptoms related to social and communication difficulties, repetitive behaviors, sensory processing difficulties, and issues with executive function and theory of mind.

There are two major sets of autism diagnostic criteria commonly used. One is criteria in the American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (currently in its fifth edition – DSM-5; 2013). The DSM-5 requires professionals to assess the symptoms of autism and the impact these have on a person's life. Symptoms are identified in two 'domains' – social communication and social interaction, and restricted and repetitive behaviors. It requires a range of considerations, including co-occurring diagnosis. Diagnosticians are also asked to specify what level of support among three levels, whether the individual assessed has co-occurring intellectual disability, and if the individual also displays catatonia. This information can help clinicians in their diagnostic decision-making and identification of support needs. The other is the World

Health Organization's International Classification of Diseases (currently in its 11th edition – ICD-11; 2019/2021). The ICD-11 requires clinicians to specify the presence and extent of intellectual and language impairment, along with the impact on numerous areas of functioning.

Numerous authors/groups have produced guidelines for assessing individuals suspected of having symptoms of autism. Most of these guidelines focus on diagnosis in childhood; however, several guidelines have been issued for assessing and diagnosing adults (e.g., APA, 2013; AutismSA, 2023; Centers for Disease and Prevention [CDC], 2022; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [NICE], 2021; Royal College of Psychiatrists, 2020; Whitehouse et al., 2018). The diagnostic criteria for autism in adults and children are generally the same, but the ways symptoms are assessed against the criteria will vary by age group. Hayes et al. (2018) in their review reported that guidelines varied in recommendations for use of diagnostic tools and assessment procedures and that although multidisciplinary assessment was identified as the 'ideal' assessment, some guidelines suggested that in practice a singular experienced healthcare professional was sufficient. They also noted that social factors in operational, interactional, and contextual areas added complexity to guidelines, but there were few concrete recommendations as to how these factors should be operationalized for best diagnostic outcomes. Although guidelines are available, practice often does not follow guidelines. There is no one test that can unequivocally ascertain the presence of autism. The ADOS-2 comes the closest and is the international gold standard (Curnow et al., 2023), but in the U.S. it is not necessarily the most prevalent assessment used due to its bias toward medical aspects. There is great variability in the testing protocols used outside of university center clinics and clinical judgment is still the most accepted means at which diagnosis is determined.

Timing with respect to diagnosis of autism is a factor. Most instances of determining the presence of autism occur in early childhood when the classic symptoms are most evident and education authorities are involved with documenting needs for specialized educational services. Later life determination may be less precise due to confabulation of symptoms and the effects of life factors. In aging, clinical determinations are even less evident, with many overt symptoms attributed to psychiatric conditions or organicity, such as dementia. Such 'diagnostic overshadowing' is prevalent in situations of disadvantage, isolation, or when adults are unhoused (Brown et al., 2019; Gupta & Gupta, 2023). The recognition of autism is also complicated by gender and culture. Most assessments of autism have been normed on males and do not pick up the subtle social variations that have been reported among high functioning females who may be diagnosed with social anxiety or ADHD and have their autism missed (Harmens et al., 2022). Similarly, autism is less likely to be recognized among minoritized groups who may not have access to clinical centers in which individuals are assessed for autism (Aylward et al., 2021).

Symptom trajectories are also a factor; witness situations which occur where children originally diagnosed show lessening of symptoms past school age (Baghdadli et al., 2018) and alternatively where adults absent symptoms in childhood have clinician-observed autism symptoms later in the lifespan (Ozonoff et al., 2018). Spinazzi, Velasco, et al. (2023) reported a mean 4.7-year gap between first noticing symptoms and receiving an autism diagnosis in school age children; with adults this gap is unknown. Elias and Lord (2022) remarked that the diagnoses of autism can shift across life and are associated with gradual changes in core features of autism beginning in childhood. They noted that in later age, adult diagnostic judgments are based on current functioning and do not rely entirely on historical information. Given this, it is noteworthy that Abu-Akel et al. (2019) described a bimodal distribution in autism prevalence [potentially linked to age at diagnosis], with the bulk occurring between ages 10 and 20, but with a small bump-up occurrence noted around age 40. The late-age factor is considered further in this report with respect to risk for Alzheimer's disease or neuropathologies linked to dementia.

There are also reports of a variable 'moderating' of specific symptoms of autism at certain periods of the lifespan. Hong et al. (2023) reported significant trajectories of age-related change in a USA cohort, with variations in patterns depending upon the symptom category. They noted that most autism symptoms improved through adulthood, while health worsened. They reported that an inverted U-shaped curve best describes change for repetitive behavior symptoms, activities of daily living, maladaptive behaviors, and social interaction. For these measures, improved functioning was evident from adolescence until midlife, then change leveled off with worsening functioning from later midlife into early older age. Given such variations, Keller et al. (2020) recommended periodic reassessments to determine the nature of prevalent symptoms and considering life issues that may affect behavioral changes as autistic adults grow older.

An autism evaluation in adulthood can be challenging. The Canadian Academy of Health Sciences (2020) has noted that research has not produced an assured or recommended autism diagnostic tool for adults (Baghdadli et al., 2017; Wigham et al., 2019) and suggested that extant diagnostic tools should be incorporated into the assessment process and tailored to the complexity of clinical presentation. However, with adults with average-to-above average intelligence, diagnosis of autism is obtained through a clinical interview using a scale, for example, the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule-2⁴ (ADOS-2; Curnow et al., 2023; Lord et al., 2012) and a clinical assessment. Typically, a full evaluation includes a history presenting complaint, psychiatric history, family history, medical history, and a developmental history (Garland et al., 2013). Garland et al. (2013) noted that an evaluation must consider the core clinical features of autism, which would include (1) difficulties in social relationships (such as evidence of few or no sustained relationships, aloof, awkward interaction with others, egocentric, with limited empathy, and poor awareness of social norm); (2) problems in communication (such as stilted, pedantic use of language, monotonous voice or inappropriate volume, nonreciprocal, one-sided interaction, literal interpretation of what is heard, restricted affect and limited use of gestures, poor integration of gaze with content of speech, and uncomfortable posture and body language); (3) absorbing and narrow interests (such as circumscribed interest of limited practical or social value, obsessive pursuit of restricted interests, strict daily routine and schedule, deviation from daily structure causes distress); and (4) onset and duration (such as onset in childhood, lifelong condition, and pervasiveness across all activities of living).

Keller et al. (2020) also suggested that there is a need for a diagnostic revaluation over time during various transition periods in the lifespan. They reported that almost half of their Italian study sample of autistic adults (N=500) required revision of diagnosis—mostly due to changes of the clinical picture, nosographic reference parameters, cognitive functioning, and psychopathological co-occurrences – during various periods in the lifespan. They noted these modifications occurred in about a quarter of their sample. Such revaluations are particularly useful in detecting not only modifications of cognitive level of functioning but also the co-occurrence of a psychiatric disorder, which may be more problematic at a later age.

In contrast to diagnostic practices in play with respect to Alzheimer's disease and the growing reliance on biomarkers,⁵ Hayes et al. (2018) reported that currently there is a lack of consensus on a definitive

⁴ Module 4, in the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule 2 (ADOS-2), can be used with autistic older adults who have fluent language; it has been shown at least moderate power to distinguish autistic adults from those adults without autism (Royal College of Psychiatrists, 2020; Swetlik, Earp, & Franco, 2019). Given its medical focus, work has been undertaken to adapt procedures for the ADOS-2 to accommodate assessors to incorporate key principles including "nothing about us without us"; "difference not deficit"; "environment first"; "diagnosis matters," "language and mindsets matter"; and "a neurodevelopmental lens," to support the provision of neurodiversity affirming assessment practice (Curnow et al., 2023). ⁵ Biomarkers are objective measures of biological or pathophysiological processes and are seen to be more effective confirmation of the presence of a disease or condition. According to the Biomarkers Definitions Working Group (2001), common applications of biomarkers include biomarkers which (I) can help diagnose a disease by identifying individuals with an abnormal biological process, (II) can classify disease severity, (III) can indicate prognosis, or (IV) can predict or monitor response to therapy.

biomarker for autism. Anderson (2015) commented that the heterogeneous and interactive nature of autism symptoms makes the identification of clinically useful biomarker tests problematic (Anderson, 2015). However, emerging work is exploring their use with early-age children, but due to heterogeneity of autism physiology, no definitive biomarker has yet been identified to be viable (Frye et al., 2019). Work with adults is emerging, for example, Kim et al. (2023) suggest that retinal photographs may be a viable objective screening tool for autism and possibly for symptom severity. However, biomarker research has yet to be integrated with clinical practice and none currently has enough evidence to support routine clinical use. As Frye et al. (2019) noted, "...any diagnostic biomarker developed needs to measure biological processes and most likely will need to be used in conjunction with other behavioral tests and clinically relevant information to perform adequately."

In summary, the diagnostic landscape for autistic adults presents several challenges and complexities. The contemporary diagnosis of autism, initially described by Kanner (1943) and Asperger (1944), has evolved over the years, with the early cohorts of identified children now entering old age. While classic symptoms may not always persist into adulthood, autistic adults commonly exhibit challenges in social interaction, communication, repetitive behaviors, sensory processing, and executive function and may interact with diminishing capabilities when aging. Two major sets of diagnostic criteria, outlined in the DSM-5 and ICD-11, guide professionals in assessing these symptoms and their impact on individuals' lives. Guidelines for diagnosing adults vary, with some recommending multidisciplinary assessments, while others suggest reliance on a singular experienced healthcare professional. Evaluating autism in adulthood involves considering diverse aspects such as developmental history, psychiatric and medical history, and core clinical features. Unlike diagnostic practices for diseases like Alzheimer's, consensus on a definitive biomarker for autism remains elusive due to the heterogeneous and interactive nature of symptoms. Although researchers have explored biomarkers appropriate for young children, none have been validated for routine clinical use with adults, emphasizing the need for further research into integrated approaches combining biological measures and behavioral tests.

3.1 Characteristics and variations

Autism represents a diverse group of conditions, which are characterized by some degree of difficulty with social interaction and communication, as well as atypical patterns of activities and behaviors – such as difficulty with transition from one activity to another, a focus on details and unusual reactions to sensations (WHO, 2023). Adults on the spectrum commonly exhibit symptoms related to social and communication difficulties, repetitive behaviors, sensory processing difficulties, and issues with executive function and theory of mind (ARI, 2023).

There are differentials in characteristics depending on sex. Autism is found less frequently in females than males as several sex-differential genetic and hormonal factors may contribute (Werling & Geschwind, 2013) and symptoms may appear different in girls and women (OHSU, 2023). Females may often more effectively mask autistic features or experience more subtle social challenges (Rynkiewicz et al., 2016), and often are diagnosed later in life than males (Leedham et al., 2020)). Some of the symptoms include (a) difficulty with friends as a child or fewer, closer friendships, (b) sensitivity to textures and clothing, (c) social anxiety or confusion, (d) eating disorders, (f) higher rates of anxiety or depression, (g) difficulty understanding or following social rules, (h) intense special interests, and (i) mood disorders (OHSU, 2023). With respect to this, most commonly a sex ratio of 4:1 is cited. Intelligence level affects this sex ratio as well as males are substantially over-represented among high-functioning cases, but males and females are more equally represented among cases with severe intellectual disability (Werling & Geschwind, 2013). A question is to what degree does such

adaptive social functioning and gender roles contribute to 'masking' which may confound diagnoses of neurocognitive impairment associated with dementia?

Autism is strongly biased towards males, with ratios of 4:1 (male:female) for classic autism and as high as 11:1 in individuals with Asperger's (Baron-Cohen et al., 2011). Baron-Cohen et al. proposed that high male ratio stems from the 'extreme male brain' (EMB) theory, first proposed in 1997, as an extension of the Empathizing-Systemizing (E-S) theory of typical sex differences that proposes that females on average have a stronger drive to empathize while males on average have a stronger drive to systemize. The male bias is much more pronounced in autism, especially in the case of Asperger's. They note that this male bias could simply reflect the difficulty of diagnosing autism in females and though classic autism would not be missed in females, it could be if it presented as some other condition (such as anorexia or borderline personality disorder, both of which involve the exercise of excessive control over the environment or other people, and a certain degree of a self-centeredness). Equally, they posited, autism in females could be under-diagnosed if females are more motivated to learn to conform socially or have better imitation skills that allow them to "pretend to be normal." Beggiato et al. (2017) raised the question as to whether there is a potential gender bias in autism diagnostic instruments that leads to an underestimation of the prevalence of autistic females.

Hull et al. (2017) reported that differences found in male and female autism symptoms may offer some explanation for the differences in diagnostic rates between sexes/genders in autism. It may be that the greater task switching and cognitive flexibility abilities of females with autism may explain why they are able to develop compensatory or 'camouflaging' techniques to 'mask' their social and communication impairments. Ratto et al. (2018) found that although females and males were rated similarly on gold-standard autism diagnostic measures (such as the ADI-R⁶), females with higher IQs were less likely to meet criteria on the ADI-R and were also found to be significantly more impaired on parent reported autistic traits and adaptive skills. Ratto et al. noted that their findings suggested that some autistic females may be missed by current diagnostic procedures. Lehnhardt et al. (2015) also found higher processing speed in females than males in their adult diagnosis sample, suggesting that autistic females are better able to use explicit cognitive strategies to cope in complex social interactions. It is possible that other cognitive and behavioral abilities found in neurotypical females are also used by autistic females when camouflaging. Navarro-Pardo et al. (2021) questioned whether current instrumentation has a gender bias and concluded that specific or complementary diagnostic tools and procedures differentiated by gender should be refined to reduce any potential biases.

In summary, the assessment of autism reveals notable differentials based on sex, with the condition being less frequently identified in females. Various genetic and hormonal factors contribute to this sex disparity, and symptoms may manifest differently in girls and women. Females may exhibit more subtle social challenges, masking autistic features, and presenting with characteristics such as difficulty with friendships, sensitivity to textures, social anxiety, eating disorders, and mood disorders. The sex ratio, commonly cited as 4:1, is influenced by intelligence levels, with males over-represented among high-functioning cases. Additionally, late-life onset of autism symptoms has been explored in

 $cARIsAOyL0 fjezYUBLGE1YYHSCPzSEzoS_teRbBL4se412 fv37 lcpBvUiD9cWqjlaAqzpEALw_wcBbl4se412 fv37 lcpBvUiD9cWqjlaAqqpAbbl4se412 fv37 lcpBvUiD9cWqjlaAqqpAbbl4se412 fv37 lcpBvUiD9cWqjlaAqqpAbbl4se412 fv37 lcpBvUiD9cWqqb4abbl4se412 fv37 lcpBvUiD9cWqqb4abbl4se412 fv37 lcpBvUiD9cWqqb4abbl4se412 fv37 lcpBv0abbl4se412 fv37$

⁶ Frigaux A, Evrard R, Lighezzolo-Alnot J. (2019). L'ADI-R et l'ADOS face au diagnostic différentiel des troubles du spectre autistique : intérêts, limites et ouvertures [ADI-R and ADOS and the differential diagnosis of autism spectrum disorders: Interests, limits and openings]. *Encephale*, 45(5), 441-448. French. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2019.07.002. Epub 2019 Sep 5. PMID: 31495549. Rutter, M., LeCouteur, A., & Lord, C. (2003). Autism Diagnostic Interview–Revised (ADI-R). Western Psychological Services. https://www.wpspublish.com/adi-r-autism-diagnostic-interviewre-

vised.html?utm_term=adi%20r&utm_campaign=Search+%7C+Product+Family+Name&utm_source=adwords&utm_medium=ppc&hsa_net=adwords&hsa_tgt=kwd-

^{323653837841&}amp;hsa_ad=628854246702&hsa_acc=6243382947&hsa_grp=145401091671&hsa_mt=b&hsa_cam=18635497 850&hsa_kw=adi%20r&hsa_ver=3&hsa_src=g&gad_source=1&gclid=Cj0KCQjwwYSwBhD-

relation to degenerative dementia, showing a significant association with early-onset dementia. Further research on the interplay between autism and late-life dementia could provide insights into shared neuroanatomic involvement between the two conditions.

3.2 Co-occurring autism and other neurodevelopmental disorders

The focus of this section is on the intersection of autism and other co-occurring cognitive impairments, and the issues related to ascertaining the impact of this intersection in later life. The question arises as to what degree do various co-occurring neurodevelopmental disorders occur in people with autism? Numerous genetic or genomic disorders can include autistic features in their clinical presentations. For example, people with certain genetic disorders, such as fragile X syndrome (FXS), Rett syndrome, Cornelia de Lange syndrome, tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC), and Down syndrome, are more likely to have comorbid autism (CDC, 2022). FXS is the most known genetic cause of inherited ID and the most known single-gene cause of autism. Dykens and Volkmar (1997) reported that 4% of people with autism have FXS. Kidd et al. (2014) reported that a spectrum of medical problems is commonly experienced by people with FXS, such as otitis media, seizures, and gastrointestinal problems. Kaufman et al., (2017) reported that behavioral manifestations in FXS among autistic adults are quite variable and include attention deficits, hyperactivity/ impulsivity, hyperarousal, anxiety, self-injurious behavior, and are extensified when FXS and autism coexists, versus when only FXS is present. Such comorbidity can stem from DNA mutations, triplet repeat expansions, or rare chromosomal abnormalities visible by high resolution karyotyping (Persico & Napolioni, 2013). There are many other genetic variants including deletion, insertion inversion, duplications, and complex recombination involving DNA segments and the effects of gene-environment.

It has been reported that there was a strong association of autism with hypermobile Ehlers Danlos syndrome (EDS). Autonomic dysfunction may further impair quality of life in autistic adults, particularly among those unable to adequately express their experience of autonomic symptoms (Owens et al., 2021). Casanova et al. (2020) outlined a symptom overlap between autism and Ehlers-Danlos syndromes/hypermobility spectrum (EDS/HSD) and reiterated certain features present in EDS/HSD, such as hypermobility, dysautonomia, chronic pain, and proprioceptive impairment, all of which contribute as sources for pain. They also noted early data regarding the presence of an EDS-like phenotype associated with the FMR1 gene. Additionally, she suggests that it is also possible that chronic collagen dysregulation and subsequent tissue injury may lead to chronic immune dysregulation, as evidenced by the mast cell-related disorders that are such a common comorbid feature in EDS/HSD. This lends itself to a relationship to "weathering" and allostatic load, which may add to cognitive decline in older age.

The relationship between ID, autism, and dementia is a multifaceted and increasingly critical area of research in the field of neurodevelopmental disorders. ID is a condition characterized by below average intellectual functioning (IQ<70) in conjunction with significant limitations in adaptive functioning (American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities [AAIDD], 2023). While ID is usually diagnosed early in life, autism is also present early in life, although in some individuals it may not be diagnosed until later in adulthood. ID may occur as an isolated phenomenon or accompanied by malformations, neurological signs, impairment of the special senses, seizures, and behavioral disturbances. ID is common in autism, although not as common as once thought. Recent estimates from the CDC suggest that 38% of children identified as autistic also had an ID (Maenner et al., 2020). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2009) reports 41% of individuals with autism also have an ID that can range from mild to profound. Kats et al. (2013) set out to investigate the prevalence of clinically relevant behaviors and medical problems in a sample of adults aged 30 to 59 in the U.S. with autism and ID, in comparison to those with ID only. They observed the rate of support needed to manage self-injurious, disruptive, and destructive behavior in subjects with autism and ID ranged

from 40 to 60%. Similarly, the rate estimates of self-injurious, disruptive, and destructive behavior were almost double in adults with autism and ID relative to those with only ID.

Are there other notable co-conditions that may contribute to cognitive decline with aging? As lateonset seizures are often indicative of brain neuropathies (DiFrancesco et al., 2022), studies showing the presence of epilepsy can provide value to this query. Lee et al. (2015) noted that autism and epilepsies are often comorbid with varying degrees of developmental delay, learning disorders (Vidyadharan & Tharayil, 2019), ID, and behavior problems and there exists a clinical overlap in adults presenting with epilepsy and autism. They cited that there are genetic causes of both disorders, with several biological pathways involved in both disease processes, including gene transcription regulation, cellular growth, synaptic channel function, and maintenance of synaptic structure. Tidmarsh and Volkmar (2003) noted the co-incidence of various disorders in autism such as epilepsy, as well as tuberous sclerosis complex, cerebral palsy, and Down syndrome. They reported rates of epilepsy in autism ranging from 5% to 38.3%, with increasing rates in adolescents and adults (with about one-third with seizures). Also, they reported that the presence of ID has a potential predictive aspect for the development of seizures in persons with autism. The risk of epilepsy is also higher in Rett's syndrome, usually between 75% to 90% (Minshew, Sweeney & Bauman, 1997). Bauman (2010) noted that the high prevalence of seizures among autistic adults emphasizes the neurological dimension of autism.

The question arises as to whether late-onset seizures (those after age 60) among older autistic adults signal the potential emergence of dementia? In an analysis of seizures and age among autistic adults, Bishop et al. (2021) found, from an analysis of U.S. Medicaid claim data in the state of Wisconsin, that while epilepsy prevalence was impacted by age, there were no clear age-related trends across age categories in autistic adults *without* ID. For autistic adults *with* ID [data were absent if this group contained adults with DS] there was increasing prevalence with increasing age. The authors noted that the lack of an association between age and epilepsy prevalence in autistic adults without ID could be due to cohort effects, as older autistic adults without ID are likely very different from younger autistic adults without ID (Rubenstein & Bishop, 2019). Although the prevalence of seizures over the lifespan is higher than norm for autistic individuals, and the cumulative effects can lead to neurological issues in adulthood (Bolton et al., 2011), data are unavailable as to a direct association of late-onset seizures and dementia. As Reyes et al. (2023) have noted, whether seizures result in accelerated brain and cognitive aging has been an ongoing debate in the literature, there is evidence of cognitive deterioration regardless of the age of onset.

Although there is no *population-based data* on autism prevalence in persons with DS, there are various reported *estimates* based on population samples. Capone et al. (2005), Oxelgren et al. (2017), and Warner et al. (2014) provided estimates that ranged from 7 to 42%. Richards et al. (2015) undertook a systematic review and reported that the comorbidity may occur in some 16% of people and Baio et al. (2018) estimated co-occurrence rate of autism and DS in the U.S. general population at 2%. Dimachkie Nunnally et al. (2021), reported that individuals with DS are diagnosed with autism at a higher rate than individuals in the general population. The connection between these conditions may lie in both shared genetic factors and the presence of specific neuropathological changes. The primary contributing factor to this increased risk is thought to be the presence of excess amyloid-beta protein in the brain, a hallmark of Alzheimer's disease and other mechanisms (Antonarakis et al., 2020). Notably, as individuals with Down syndrome exhibit a heightened risk of developing dementia as they age, the question is whether DS and autism together in an individual raises the risk for expressing dementia in older age among adults with this comorbidity?

In summary, when examining the co-occurring neurodevelopmental disorders associated with autism, it becomes evident that numerous genetic or genomic disorders, such as fragile X syndrome, tuberous sclerosis complex, and DS, can present with autistic features. These disorders often result from DNA mutations, triplet repeat expansions, or chromosomal abnormalities. The interplay between ID, autism, and dementia is a complex area of research, with ID commonly occurring in individuals with

autism. The co-occurrence of epilepsy in autism is notable, with increased rates found in those individuals with ID. The relationship between DS and autism is characterized by varying estimates, with a reported co-occurrence rate of 2% in the general U.S. population. Individuals with DS are at a notably increased risk of developing dementia, primarily attributed to the accumulation of amyloid-beta protein, a hallmark of Alzheimer's disease. Overall, the connection between these conditions may stem from shared genetic factors and specific neuropathological changes, contributing to the complex landscape of co-existing disorders in individuals with autism. What these interesting findings mean for the occurrence of dementia in autistic individuals remains to be established.

3.3 Health and related factors

What are identifiable risk factors for health issues and possibly later-age neuropathologies among autistic adults? Numerous studies explored comorbidities in autistic adults, revealing a diverse range of health issues and challenges (Brondino et al., 2019; Cawthorpe, 2017; Miot et al., 2019; Vohra et al., 2017). The prevalence of seizures among these individuals ranges from 20% to 35%, emphasizing the neurological dimension of autism and risk proffered by concurrent epilepsy (Wise et al., 2017). Gastrointestinal disorders (GI), estimated between 9% and 70%, underscore the complex nature of health challenges in this population and add to health-related risk. In one study, Vohra et al. (2017) reported that in a sample of 1,772 autistic adults, a substantial prevalence of psychiatric comorbidity (81%) was observed, as well as epilepsy (22%), infections (22%), skin disorders (21%), and hearing impairments (18%). Developmental disorders were prevalent in 70% of autistic adults, with lower rates of non-psychiatric comorbidities compared to the general population. Notably, autistic adults showed lower prevalence rates of cancer, cardiovascular disorders, musculoskeletal disorders, and respiratory disorders. Overall, autistic adults and ID displayed higher rates of medical comorbidities, and those taking psychotropic medications were more likely to have medical conditions (Brondino et al., 2019). The number of medical comorbidities positively correlated with age and severity of autism. However, none (with the exception for seizures) correlated with risk for Alzheimer's disease, or most other dementias. Hong et al. (2023) noted that studies of health trajectories into older age have found that, for most individuals, body mass index and prescription medication use increased throughout early adulthood.

Findings have also revealed a wide range of physical health (medical) comorbidities, such as constipation, epilepsy, mental and neurological diseases, and cardiovascular risk factors (Miot et al., 2019). Noteworthy was the finding of the range of comorbidities, including GI disorders, mental, and neurological diseases. Chronic kidney disease was prevalent in 25% of the autism-ID sample, elevating cardiovascular risk factors. Constipation, epilepsy, and chronic kidney disease were the most frequent chronic health conditions. With respect to mental health comorbidities, Rydzewska et al. (2018) reported that mental health conditions were present in 33% of all adults with reported autism (range 23%–37% depending on age group; 27%–37% for men and 30%–40% for women). Vohra et al. (2017) found significantly higher rates of psychiatric comorbidity (81%), noting that some 70% of autistic adults had developmental disorders, followed by schizophrenia (17%), mood disorders (14%), and anxiety (12%). With respect to serious mental illnesses, Jonas et al. (2022) found that some non-autistic adults with schizophrenia often experience accelerated cognitive deterioration that results in dementia. It is unknown what the actual transition rate is among autistic adults so affected.

Bishop and Rubenstein (2019) compared autistic adults without an ID with those with an ID and noted that although there were many similarities between those individuals with and without co-occurring ID, middle-aged and older autistic adults had a greater prevalence of epilepsy and lower prevalence of depression and anxiety compared to those without co-occurring ID. They suggest that autistic adults have a high prevalence of physical and mental health conditions in midlife and old age, regardless of ID status. However, none of these health comorbidities were associated with elevated risk for dementia associated with Alzheimer's disease or other forms of dementia, such as vascular dementia.

With respect to later life outcomes, genetic or familial risk factors have been noted, some of which may contribute to health risk factors contributing to progressive health issues contributing to cognitive decline. Xie et al. (2019) in a population-based cohort study of 567,436 Swedish participants, found that positive family history was associated with increased risk of autism. Autism with ID exhibited a weaker familial association with other mental disorder diagnoses but a stronger familial association with some neurological diagnoses as compared with autism without ID. This suggests that family history of mental and neurological disorders is associated with autism risk, and the familial component of autism etiology may differ by presence or absence of co-occurring ID.

Hand et al. (2022) undertook a cross-sectional retrospective cohort study of U.S. 2016–2017 Medicare data to compare the prevalence of physical and mental health conditions in a national sample of autistic older adults (N = 4685) to a matched population comparison (N = 46,850) cohort. Autistic older adults had significantly greater odds of nearly all physical health conditions, including epilepsy (odds ratio = 18.9; 95% confidence interval = 17.2–20.7), Parkinson's disease (odds ratio = 6.1; 95% confidence interval = 5.3–7.0), and gastrointestinal conditions (odds ratio = 5.2; 95% confidence interval = 4.9–5.5). Most mental health conditions were more common among autistic older adults, including schizophrenia and psychotic disorders (odds ratio = 25.3; 95% confidence interval = 22.4–28.7), attention deficit disorders (odds ratio = 24.4; 95% confidence interval = 16.2–31.0), personality disorders (odds ratio = 24.1; 95% confidence interval = 17.8–32.5), and suicidality or self-inflicted injury (odds ratio = 11.1; 95% confidence interval = 8.9–13.8). Health conditions commonly associated with advanced age in the general population (e.g., osteoporosis, cognitive disorders, heart disease, cancer, cerebrovascular disease, osteoarthritis) were also significantly more common among autistic older adults.

Ward et al. (2023) conducted a cross-sectional, convenience-sampling study via a survey of autistic and non-autistic adults (n = 2305, mean age = 41.6). There were significantly elevated rates of non-communicable conditions across all organ systems in autistic people, including gastrointestinal, neurological, endocrine, visual, ear/nose/throat, skin, liver and kidney, and hematological conditions. This confirmed previous findings by showing highly significant differences in rates of neurological and gastrointestinal symptoms. In addition, they established in the largest sample to date that EDS [see page 15] was more likely to occur among autistic females compared to non-autistic females. Notably, they also found a higher prevalence of Celiac disease among autistic individuals compared to non-autistic individuals.

With respect to sex differences, males with autism are less likely to have certain disorders, while females exhibit a higher likelihood of specific conditions, including ID (Cawthorpe, 2017). Contrary to general population trends, female sex predicted all conditions within the autism population, challenging conventional assumptions. Notably, mental health conditions were prevalent in 33% of all adults with reported autism, varying across age groups and sex. The prevalence of comorbidities such as deafness/hearing loss, blindness/sight loss, ID, mental health conditions, and physical disabilities was substantial, with autism significantly predicting these conditions (Rydzewska et al., 2018).

In summary, the synthesis of multiple studies of comorbidities in autistic adults reveals a complex and varied landscape of associated health conditions. Seizures are prevalent, emphasizing the neurological aspect of autism, alongside gastrointestinal disorders, psychiatric comorbidities, infections, skin disorders, and hearing impairments. Developmental disorders affect a sizable portion of autistic adults, with lower rates of non-psychiatric comorbidities compared to the general population. Genetic or familial risk factors are implicated in later life outcomes, potentially contributing to progressive health issues and cognitive decline. Autism with ID shows varying familial associations compared to autism without ID, suggesting a nuanced relationship between family history and autism risk. Mental health conditions also appear more prevalent among autistic older adults, including schizophrenia, attention deficit disorders, personality disorders, and suicidality. Moreover, health conditions typically

associated with advanced age in the general population were more common among autistic older adults. Studies also suggest a higher prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors, diabetes, dyslipidemia, heart disease, and, to a lesser extent, Parkinson's disease among autistic adults. Overall, these studies underscore the multifaceted nature of health and condition comorbidities among autistic adults, highlighting the need for tailored interventions and healthcare approaches that consider the diverse health challenges faced by individuals within this population. Understanding the intricate web of comorbidities in autistic adults is crucial for comprehensive healthcare planning. These findings shed light on the diverse health challenges faced by this population and provide a foundation for further research exploring the intricate relationship between comorbidities and the risk of dementia in autistic adults (see section 4.1 on *Co-occurring Conditions, Risk, & Dementia*, p. 21).



🖉 4.0 Autism and Dementia

Dementia is a term that generally characterizes behavioral declines associated with some form of brain trauma or brain neuropathology in later life. It is primarily evidenced by a decline in cognitive and functional abilities, losses in memory and reasoning, and changes in carrying out our daily living activities. Its roots are in various neurodegenerative disorders, including Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer Disease International (2024) notes that in high income countries, only 20-50% of dementia cases are recognized and documented in primary care, and that this 'treatment gap' is much greater in low- and middle-income countries. The Alzheimer's Association in the U.S. notes that about 10.7% of adults, age 65+ and older, have been diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease (Alzheimer's Association, 2023), a major contributor to dementia. About ID, there is a recognized elevated risk for Alzheimer's disease among adults with Down syndrome (National Institute on Aging, 2023).

General ID studies show both normative prevalence of dementia among adults with various ID (absent Down syndrome) (Janicki & Dalton, 2000; McGlinchey et al., 2019; Zigman et al., 2004) and elevated prevalence (Strydom et al., 2009; Shooshtari et al., 2017; Takenoshita et al., 2023). The rates of dementia among autistic adults are generally affected upward with the coincidence of Down syndrome or other ID. It has been reported that some individuals with autism may also be at an increased risk of developing dementia. For example, in a recent case-control study in the U.S., the 5-year prevalence of dementia among autistic adults who were *under the age of 65 years* was 4.04%, which was 2.6 times higher than the reported prevalence for the general population and among those autistic adults and co-occurring ID, the prevalence of dementia was higher at 5.22% (Vivanti et al., 2021). Males with autism have been found to be at a greater risk for dementia than females with autism (Barnard-Brak et al., 2019). Rhodes et al. (2020) reported that *age of onset* of cognitive symptoms appears to occur significantly earlier in the adults with likely autism [X_{age}=71] (than in a control group of adults unlikely to have autism [X_{age}=76]). Vivanti et al. (2021) found that for those adult age less than 65, the mean age at dementia diagnosis was 49.5 years for those with autism only, 47.5 years for those with autism and ID, 51.7 years for those with only an ID and 53.8 years for others (not having an ID or autism).

Rhodes et al. (2020) suggested that it is possible that lifelong subclinical autism may manifest only when neurological function is compromised by the development of even the mildest of cognitive pathologic insults in older adulthood. Further, that pathological overlap in neuroanatomical structures and systems in autism and dementia may create earlier behavioral burdens in the presence of degenerative disease, as evidenced by age of onset of cognitive impairment and presence of behavioral symptoms. Rhodes et al. (2020)

and Vivanti et al. (2021) did not specify the type of dementia in their findings. In reports related to other neurodiverse conditions, the difference between age of 'onset' and diagnosis in Down syndrome, for example, ranged between 3 and 5 years (Janicki & Dalton, 2000; Strydom et al., 2013).

Autism alone or with ID in some adults may eventually manifest dementia as the result of a neurodegenerative disorder. Cummings et al. (2024) noted that neurodegenerative disorders (NDDs) include Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson disease (PD), dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB), frontotemporal dementia (FTD), progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP), corticobasal syndrome, multiple system atrophy, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, chronic traumatic encephalopathy, and traumatic encephalopathy syndrome (TES), and Huntington disease (HD). Most of these conditions are age related and become symptomatic in late life or late middle age. Arvio & Bjelogrlic-Laakso (2021) screened some 230 adults with ID and other co-occurring conditions, including autism. They observed that autistic adults with ID had 'high dementia sign' scores on the Present Psychiatric State Learning Disability Scale (Cooper et al., 1997), but without the earlier age correspondence seen in adults with DS. They posited that there may be varied clinical and etiological factors which contribute to finding these 'high dementia sign' scores. One, is that diagnostic outcomes with autistic adults may be driven by multiple genetic and environmental factors. They questioned whether some adults may have had some yet undetected syndrome associated with early dementia. Second, the presence of self-destructive and aggressive behaviors in some autistic adults with ID may impair successful differential diagnoses as behavioral symptoms observed may stem from unrecognized psychosocial/environmental factors or a psychotic disorder. They also questioned whether autistic adults with ID who have been on multiple antipsychotic and other neuropsychiatric medications since childhood or early adolescence may have altered behavior that reflects a state of diminished cognitive capacity.

Autism co-occurs with other disorders, such as anxiety (Nimmo-Smith et al., 2020), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD; Rasnani et al., 2023), depression (Hollocks et al., 2019), and obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) – each of which alone present cognitive, emotional, and behavioral challenges. Many of these conditions are associated with cognitive difficulties and neurocognitive disorders among aging neurotypical individuals, thus dementia symptoms may be masked in adults with autism . A small portion of adults with autism are also diagnosed with DS (Bradbury, 2021); knowing this might lead to assumptions about elevated risk for AD in this subgroup. Studies have also presented mixed results with some questioning whether autistic adults (absent the presence of DS) do present an elevated risk for dementia. Work by brain scientists indicates that there may be some structural differences in the brains of autistic adults that are at variance from those of neurotypical age peers and which may result in dementia. For example, Walsh et al. (2022) found that there was a significant group by time interaction for long-term visual memory, such that middle-age and older adults with autism declined faster than matched neurotypical adults. Others (Alves et al., 2023; Pagni et al., 2022) have also noted brain changes that signal symptoms associated with dementia. However, while dementia may be a factor, studies are absent that indicate classic risk for late onset Alzheimer's disease (LOAD). Torenvliet et al. (2023) reported that autistic individuals diagnosed in adulthood, without ID, do not seem at risk for accelerated cognitive decline.

The literature on autism and dementia has been limited. Some studies have pointed to earlier onset of dementia among autistic adults; others are equivocal. For example, Vivanti et al. (2021) found that early-onset dementia (diagnosis at <65 years of age) occurred 2.6 times more frequently in autistic adults with and without co-occurring ID than in the general population of Medicaid beneficiaries. Another study (Croen et al., 2015) reported a higher prevalence of dementia in autistic adults (2.3% vs. 0.5% in the general population control group). One review noted that compared to the general population, autistic adults might develop earlier cognitive decline and dementia with cognitive functions such as memory and executive functions most affected (Toloza Ramirez et al., 2020). Another report (Miot et al., 2019) reported that autistic adults have high rates of severe psychiatric disorders and medical conditions (such as diabetes, hypertension, and seizures), which in neurotypical adults are linked to increased risk of dementia and can also impact their quality of life,

their health, and prognosis. In contrast, Torenvliet et al. (2023) reported that specifically, autistic individuals diagnosed in adulthood, without ID, do not seem at risk for accelerated cognitive decline. Several studies have noted signal behaviors associated with suspicions of the presence of dementia which include degeneration of frontotemporal functioning, severity of expressed behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia (BPSD) and increased stereotypical behaviors and increased compulsivity.

Other studies have noted that autistic adults are perhaps protected from age-related cognitive impairment (Oberman et al., 2014) given their cortex begins as relatively "hyperplastic." Another theory proposed that lifelong subclinical autistic symptoms might emerge once neurologic function is compromised in older age (Rhodus et al., 2020). Although some studies indicate possible associations between dementia and symptoms of autism, there is a need for further research investigating the interplay between these entities. These difficulties stem from the overlapping behavioral and cognitive symptoms of these conditions and may include communication deficits, limited verbal expression, and atypical presentation of dementia-related symptoms. We are aware that often autistic adults have been treated since childhood or early adolescence with multiple antipsychotics and or other classes of psychotropic drugs. Such psychoactive drug treatment has a role in treating persistent challenging behaviors, but its effects on developing brains are largely unknown. Another factor is when the symptoms of dementia are observed at an unusually early age (Hof et al., 1991), this could be due to repeated trauma to the head (such as head-banging) resulting in a type of 'dementia pugilistica' (Arvio & Bjelogrlic-Laakso, 2021).

One of the biggest challenges in being able to determine the rate at which people with autism will develop mild neurocognitive disorder (MCI) or dementia is that autistic adults are a heterogeneous population, with varying levels of IQ or coincident neurodevelopmental conditions, and later-age cognitive decline is caused by a host of different underlying factors. This is unlike that for adults with trisomy 21 DS who appear to have a unitary cause (i.e., Alzheimer's disease) and an identifiable rate (Antonarakis et al., 2020; Wilcox & Griffin, 2013).

In summary, the relationship between dementia and autism is complex, with limited research exploring this connection, particularly in older adults. Dementia, characterized by cognitive and functional decline, is known to be elevated among individuals with ID, notably those with DS. In autistic adults, the prevalence of dementia is generally influenced by co-occurring ID or DS. Recent studies indicate that autistic adults may have an increased risk of developing dementia, with a 2.6 times higher prevalence of early-onset dementia compared to the general population. Notably, males with autism are found to be at a greater risk for dementia than females. The literature suggests mixed findings on the specific risk for dementia in autistic adults, and studies have pointed to earlier onset of dementia in subsets of this population. Some studies propose that autistic adults might be protected from agerelated cognitive impairment, while others note potential associations between dementia and autism symptoms. Signal behaviors associated with suspicions of dementia in autistic adults include degeneration of frontotemporal functioning, severity of expressed behavioral and psychological symptoms, increased stereotypical behaviors, and heightened compulsivity. Challenges in understanding this interplay arise from overlapping behavioral and cognitive symptoms, communication deficits, limited verbal expression, and atypical presentation of dementia-related symptoms. Further research is needed to unravel the intricate relationship between autism and dementia in older adults, considering the unique challenges posed by overlapping symptoms.

4.1 Co-occurring conditions, risk, & dementia

To what degree is there proof that autism is linked to select types of dementia? Vivanti et al (2021) reported that it is currently unclear whether individuals with autism, compared to the general population, are at a higher risk of being diagnosed with early-onset forms of dementia. To study this question, Vivanti et al. (2021) examined the U.S. nationwide prevalence and incidence of dementia in a sample of autistic adults aged

30-64 years who were enrolled in Medicaid (a government insurer of behavioral health services in the U.S.). Medicaid claims data, which include information on the diagnoses that beneficiaries receive, suggested that the autistic adults under age 65 were approximately 2.6 times more likely to be diagnosed with early-onset dementia compared to the general population. However, contrary to what some autism or Alzheimer's websites⁷ note the study did not establish a relationship specifically with Alzheimer's disease. It is possible that the aggregate information on dementia provided by Vivanti et al. may be more reflective of non-Alzheimer's dementia (as shown by studies linking autism with behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia – Hodges, 2023; Midorikawa & Kawamura, 2012; Rhodus et al., 2020).

Vivanti et al. (2021) noted that the risk factors associated with the increased prevalence of dementia in the general population, including older age, depression, the presence of additional psychiatric conditions, and cardiovascular disease risk factors, were similarly associated with an increased risk of dementia in individuals with autism (both with and without co-occurring ID), as well as in those with ID only.

The findings are of interest as there has been speculation that there may be a bio-neurological relationship between autism and some form of dementia. Zauderer (2023) has noted that both conditions involve changes in the brain. In autism, there are often structural differences in the brain that affect how it processes information, whereas in dementia, there is damage to the brain that impairs function. A similarity is that both conditions can affect memory and communication. In autism, some individuals may have difficulty with social cues and nonverbal communication, making it hard to form relationships and interact with others. In dementia, some individuals may experience memory loss and difficulty communicating, leading to a loss of connection with others in their immediate environment. Zauderer reported that some studies (e.g., Nadeem et al., 2021) have suggested that there may be a genetic link between autism and dementia. Specifically, researchers have found that some of the genes that are associated with autism are also associated with an increased risk of developing some form of dementia later in life. This connection between autism and dementia remains unproven but has been noted as a connection.

While genetics may play a role in the development of both autism and some dementias, there is also evidence to suggest that lifestyle factors can impact an individual's risk for these conditions (Zauderer, 2023). One area where lifestyle factors may be particularly important is diet. Research has shown that certain nutrients, such as omega-3 fatty acids and antioxidants, may have a protective effect on the brain. Some studies have suggested that people who consume diets high in these nutrients may be at lower risk for dementia (Hartnett et al., 2023) and neuroatypical conditions, like autism (Mazza et al., 2007). Others cite particular diets as having a productive effect on cognitive health, such as the MIND diet's importance for cognitive resilience (e.g., Wagner et al., 2023). However, the science is still uncertain about the long-range preventive or ameliorative effects of nutrition in the expression of dementia (Yassine et al., 2022).

There may be a connection between ADHD, autism, and dementia. Although a meta-analysis estimated the current and lifetime prevalence of ADHD in autistic individuals as 38.5 % (95 % CI 34.0–43.2) and 40.2 % (95 % CI 34.9–45.7), respectively (Rong et al., 2021), no studies have examined the prevalence of the mix of these two conditions and dementia. Historically, studies of the association of only ADHD and dementia have been inclusive (Becker et al., 2023; Carr et al., 2024; Dobrosavljevic et al., 2021). Becker et al. (2023) investigated the associations between ADHD and neurodegenerative diseases/dementia. They concluded that the studies reviewed identified some evidence for a link between ADHD and subsequent development of neurodegenerative conditions (such as dementia), the magnitude of the direct effect of ADHD on neurodegeneration is yet to be determined. Carr et al. (2024) undertook a systematic review of whether or how ADHD may be a risk factor for neurocognitive disorders and found that ADHD may be a risk factor for certain neurocognitive disorders, although the evidence base is limited, and the absolute risk is small. Dobrosavljevic et al. (2021)

⁷ See: app2vox (https://app2vox.com/resources/is-there-a-link-between-autism-and-alzheimers/); https://www.olgabogdashina.com/post/autism-and-dementia-1-prevalence; Medical News Today. (2024).

undertook a large population study from Swedish population-based registers to investigate the association between ADHD and mild cognitive impairment (MCI)/dementia. They found that ADHD is a potential risk factor for MCI and dementia, although the risk significantly attenuated after controlling for psychiatric disorders.

Studies attempted to look at whether there was sufficient evidence of a relationship between ADHD and dementia (Levine et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2022). Levine et al. (2023) examined data from an Israeli national cohort drawn from some 109,218 members of a nonprofit Israeli health maintenance organization born between 1933 and 1952 and found that upon follow-up in old age, adult ADHD was found to be associated with an increased risk of dementia. Zhang et al. (2022) examined data from the Karolinska Institute in Sweden and identified a link between ADHD and dementia in the biological parents and kin of adults with ADHD. Their work revealed that parents of individuals with ADHD had an 55% increased risk of AD compared to the parents of persons without ADHD (HR 1.55, 95% CI 1.26–1.89). The strongest association was for early-onset AD and the associations weakened with decreasing genetic relatedness, indicating shared familial risk between ADHD and AD. Zhang et al. further reported that the exact cause of this association remains unknown but proposed three potential theories. One, that ADHD may increase the risk of other factors such as diabetes and head injuries, which in turn could elevate the risk of dementia. Two, that symptoms of ADHD in adults may resemble early signs of dementia. Three, that there may be shared genetic factors. Because of the high prevalence of ADHD in autistic adults and the growing knowledge of dementia risk of ADHD for some older age neurodegenerative condition, we may assume that autistic adults who also have been diagnosed with ADHD may be at elevated higher risk of some form of dementia. However, this supposition warrants further investigation to determine the extent of this connection.

The Lancet Commission (Livingston et al., 2020) identified several key risk factors for dementia in general, noting that growing body of evidence supports twelve potentially modifiable risk factors for dementia (these include: less education, hypertension, hearing impairment, smoking, obesity, depression, physical inactivity, diabetes, low social contact, excessive alcohol consumption, traumatic brain injury, and air pollution). Together these twelve modifiable risk factors account for around 40% of worldwide dementias, which consequently could theoretically be prevented or delayed. The Commission report prescribes public and health policy and prevention initiatives to mitigate these risk factors and address lowering the incidence of dementia worldwide. These risk factors are being reiterated and increased. Hendriks et al. (2023) documented that having 2 *APOE* £4 alleles, lower socioeconomic status, high CRP [C-reactive protein] levels, orthostatic hypotension, stroke, diabetes, heart disease, depression, hearing impairment, vitamin D deficiency, alcohol use disorder, social isolation, and lower physical frailty (handgrip strength) as risk factors.

From an individual risk reduction perspective in the general population, these may include mitigating hypertension by maintaining midlife systolic blood pressure control at 130 mm Hg or lower to delay or prevent dementia. Stopping smoking, even in later life, is known to ameliorate risk. The Commission recommends keeping cognitively, physically, and socially active in midlife and later life (although, it admits, that little evidence exists for any single specific activity protecting against dementia). Hearing loss can be mitigated using hearing aids, which can reduce the excess risk from hearing loss. Sustained exercise in midlife, and possibly later life, protects from dementia, perhaps through decreasing obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk and lowering risk for cardiovascular dementia. Depression might be a risk for dementia, but also in later-life, dementia might lead to depression. Stress from being 'different' and consequent 'weathering' may also be a risk factor, oftentimes less susceptible to mitigation as it is externally generated (*see page 26*).

Even with risk factors gaining more attention, Weir (2023) reported that there is a paucity of research on the chronic physical health problems among autistic people as they age, with only a handful of studies assessing chronic health burden among those older than 35 years. There is history to the notion that autistic adults may be more likely to have specific health problems, including epilepsy/seizure disorders, sleep problems, and gastrointestinal conditions, along with immune system issues (Bishop-Fitzpatrick et al., 2019; Lord et

al., 2022; Miot et al., 2019; Tye et al., 2019,). Weir further noted that there may be more physical health problems than previously believed. In addition, many syndromes that include co-incident autism (e.g., Down syndrome, Fragile X, Rett syndrome etc.) also generate secondary conditions such as obesity, sleep disorders, seizures (regardless of the autism) which are risk factors.

Increasingly, studies correlate autism with cardiovascular as well as metabolic issues. A systematic review and meta-analysis found that autism was associated with greater risks of developing diabetes overall, increased risks of dyslipidemia, and heart disease; yet, showed no significantly associated increased risk of hypertension and stroke (Dhanasekara et al., 2023). Another study demonstrated that there is evidence of increased prevalence of Type 2 diabetes, hyperglycemia, hypertension, and dyslipidemia for those with autism, but the relationship is poorly understood (Chieh et al., 2021). Autistic adults are up to 3.4 times more likely to be diagnosed with obesity or diabetes and there is an increased risk of hypertension, particularly for males (Flygare Wallén et al., 2018).

As these risk factors also apply to autistic adults, exercise is another important lifestyle factor to consider. Regular physical activity has been linked to improved cognitive function and reduced risk of dementia (Mandolesi et al., 2018). Additionally, exercise has been shown to improve mood and reduce anxiety in individuals with autism (Hallett, 2019). Other lifestyle factors that may impact the risk of autism and dementia include sleep habits, stress levels, and social support. For example, poor sleep habits have been linked to increased risk of both conditions, while strong social support networks can help reduce stress and improve overall well-being (Stewart et al., 2020). Although behavior change is difficult and some associations might not be purely causal, individuals have the ability and potential to reduce their risk of dementia. While more research is needed to fully understand the impact of lifestyle factors on the development of dementia in autistic adults, making healthy choices can have a positive effect on brain health.

With respect to autism, modifiable risk factors with practical applications can include maintaining health and not being overweight, avoiding injury, exercising, and controlling for cardiovascular health. When examining the potential contribution of co-occurring physical health conditions, little data are extant that link prevalent health risk factors to autism (see section above on co-occurring health factors) and this calls for a program of research examining these factors. Certainly, environmental issues within the control of the individual, such as use of tobacco products or abuse of beverage alcohol or non-prescription drugs and minimizing exposure to stress ('weathering'), maintaining recommended weight, and controlling for hypertension can be seen as minimizing risk for dementia in later life. None of the factors noted as co-occurring conditions or genetic predispositions may be seen as specifically contributing to the development of Alzheimer's disease, which prevalence for older adults remains below norm generally in autistic adults. Although Vivanti et al. (2021) reported that there was an earlier expression of dementia in autistic adults under 65, data are absent that show that there is a prevalence of dementia above the norm for 65-year-olds and older in the general population. Nothing is known about prevalence of other dementias among autistic adults after age 65. It is uncertain whether this is due to earlier mortality, under-recognition, or no clear line to systemic dementia derivation among autistic adults (or more importantly, the lack of research on this topic).

In summary, the association between autism and select types of dementia remains a complex and largely unexplored area. While it has been observed that autistic adults under the age of 65 were approximately 2.6 times more likely to be diagnosed with early-onset dementia compared to the general population, these data did not establish a link with Alzheimer's disease. Instead, the findings may be more reflective of various dementias. Speculation on a potential bio-neurological relationship between autism and dementia arises from the observation that both conditions involve changes in the brain, with structural differences in autism and brain damage in dementia affecting memory and communication. Some studies suggest a genetic link between autism and dementia, while others propose lifestyle factors, such as diet and exercise, as potential influencers. The Lancet Commission identified

modifiable risk factors for dementia, applicable to both autism and the general population, including maintaining cardiovascular health, stopping smoking, staying physically and socially active, and managing mental well-being. However, specific data on the prevalence of Alzheimer's disease in older autistic adults are lacking, and current assumptions suggest that autistic adults may not show above-normal rates of Alzheimer's dementia in later life. Overall, the interplay between autism and dementia, especially in older adults, remains an area requiring further investigation to understand the potential connections and risks.

4.2 Other factors

4.2.1 Mortality.

Bernard-Brak et al. (2019) analyzed a database of 1,754 adults in the U.S. who had autism listed as one of the causes of deaths from the National Vital Statistics System with data from 1999 to 2015. They found a mean age at death for autistic adults at 68 years. They noted that autistic females had a higher mean age at death than autistic males, consistent with the trend in the sex differences in the general population. They also reported that results of their study indicated that autistic adults were, in fact, less likely than the general population to have Alzheimer's disease or a form of dementia as a cause of death. However, when it was present, autistic males were significantly more likely to have acquired Alzheimer's disease or a form of dementia as compared to autistic females. Krantz et al. (2023) undertook a review the Medicare-enrolment data in the U.S. and found that the median age of death was 72 years (IQR=69-78) for autistic adults, compared to 75 years (IQR=70-83) for non-autistic older adults. Among autistic older adults, those with ID had 1.57 times greater rate of mortality (95% CI=1.41-1.76) than those without, and males had 1.27 times greater rate of mortality (95% CI=1.12-1.43) than females. They suggest that when autistic people live to the age of 65, they may live to a more similar age as non-autistic peers. Lunsky et al. (2022) examined sex differences and premature mortality data in the province of Ontario in Canada and found that autistic males and females were more likely to die prematurely than non-autistic males (adjusted risk ratio, RR 3.13, 95%CI 2.58-3.79) and non-autistic females (adjusted RR 3.12, 95%CI 2.35-4.13) without developmental disabilities, but were less likely to die prematurely than adults with other developmental disabilities (males: adjusted RR 0.66, 95%CI 0.55-0.79; females: adjusted RR 0.55, 95%CI 0.43-0.71). Hwang et al. (2019) examined mortality rates for autistic individuals (age 5-64) in Australia and reported a rate of 2.06 times that of the general population. They noted that concurrent ID, epilepsy, mental health conditions, and chronic physical health conditions were associated with a higher risk of death for autistic adults, whereas demographic variables such as sex and socioeconomic status were not.

Hirvikoski et al. (2016) undertook a review of Sweden's National Patient Registry and the Causes of Death Register, which details how each Swedish resident died, and found autistic adults are more than twice as likely as their age peers in the general population to die prematurely. The mean age of death in the general population was 70.2 years (s.d. = 24.2, median = 80), whereas the corresponding figure for the entire autism group was 53.9 years (s.d. = 24.8, median = 55), for low-functioning autistic adults was 39.5 years (s.d. = 21.6, median = 40) and for high-functioning autistic adults was 58.4 years (s.d. = 24.0, median = 63) respectively. Hirvikoski et al. (2016) also found that mortality rates were higher among autistic adults who also have ID than among those who have autism alone. They also uncovered sex differences in the causes of death, with autistic females more likely dying of endocrine disorders (such as diabetes) or birth defects such as congenital heart malformations, whereas autistic males more likely dying from nervous and circulatory system disorders, such as epilepsy or heart disease. The most common cause of death among people with *mild* autism was circulatory diseases.

Catala-Lopez et al. (2022) found, following an international review, that autistic persons had higher mortality rates than the general population and when causes of death were examined, autism was associated with higher mortality due to unnatural causes (e.g., injury, poisoning, and other). There was also an increased

risk of mortality from natural causes of death (ego, neurologic, respiratory system, and cancer). Their data indicated that for the most part longevity is abridged by earlier mortality, some attributed to lifestyle and social situations, rather than any inherent genetic factors.

In summary, the mortality patterns among autistic adults reveal nuanced insights, drawing from numerous studies. Reviews noted that the mean age at death for most autistic adults was not too far from that of the general population, with exceptions for those with significant comorbidities. There are notable differences between low and high-functioning individuals. Mortality rates were higher among those with both autism and ID. There are also differences related to sex, with females with autism having a higher mean age at death than males, aligning with general population trends. Surprisingly, individuals with autism were less likely than the general population to have Alzheimer's disease or dementia as a cause of death. However, males with autism tended to have a higher likelihood of dementia, compared to females, showing up on death certificates. Sex differences also emerged in causes of death, with women more prone to endocrine disorders and birth defects, while men faced higher risks from nervous and circulatory system disorders. Epilepsy was a prevalent cause of death in severe autism, contrasting with circulatory diseases in mild autism. Overall, studies attributed higher mortality rates in autism to the shortened lifespan to lifestyle and social factors rather than intrinsic genetic elements. The collective findings highlight the need for further research studies to produce a comprehensive understanding of mortality factors within the autism population.

Environmental stress. As more research adds to the evidence on risk factors (Hendriks et al., 2023), it is evident that there is a greater influence of social determinants, individual behaviors, the physical and cultural environment, and biological systems. The intersectionality of these health determinants is gaining more recognition as focus is increased on understanding and addressing minority health and health disparities. In the U.S., the National Institute of Minority Health, and Health Disparities (NIMHD, 2023) is one governmental agency that is examining this, and its research framework adaptations acknowledge these lifespan factors. NIMHD includes adults with disabilities in the list of populations that experience health disparities.

Aviderez and Barksdale (2022) adapting a research framework for mental health disparities, drew attention to allostatic load, inflammatory response, telomere attrition within the biological domain of influence. Within the sociocultural environment they acknowledge the effects of stigma, bias, microaggressions, and more. McEwen (2004) proposed the mechanism of allostatic load to explain brain pathophysiology. Geronimus et al. (2006) described the relationship between the allostatic load and 'weathering'. Allostatic load refers to the physiological response of the body to cumulative burden of chronic stress and life events. Under such a burden, the body responds with primary inflammatory mediators, such as catecholamines, glucocorticoids, and cytokines (Juster et al., 2010; McEwen & Seeman, 1999).

Using the lens of race, Geronimus et al. (2006) further explained that socially structured factors contribute to repeated stress process activation which can accumulate and increase disease vulnerability across the life course. She explained this phenomenon in which individuals' social and psychological experiences produce physiological dysregulation and accelerated aging, and terms this intersectionality of these biopsychosocial mechanisms as 'weathering.' This 'weathering hypothesis' views the elevated rates of illness and disability seen among Black Americans as a physiological response to the structural barriers, daily slights, and other threats. Using biological and sociocultural environmental factors, the same phenomenon can be used to examine issues as experienced by autistic adults. Studies have acknowledged that the pathophysiology of autism involves several modifications at the genetic and at the immune level, such as with the increase of inflammatory cytokines and abnormal immune response on several levels (i.e., allostatic load biomarkers) (Lima et al., 2020).

The intersectionality of the biological system with the sociocultural environment is a lens that can be considered for people with autism. Mason, Ronald et al. (2021) suggest that the accelerated aging that is experienced by some autistic adults may be a result of allostatic load stemming from multiple stressors such as bullying, victimization, and stigma. This in conjunction with McEwen and Karatsoreos' (2015; 2020) proposal and research on immune system issues as well as a more recent article (McEwen & Karatsoreos, 2022) on circadian disruption of sleep with allostatic load consequences easily connects known physical conditions and biological stressors that may contribute as health risk factors specific to autism.

In summary, as research sheds light on risk factors, the influence of social determinants, individual behaviors, environmental factors, and biological systems on health outcomes becomes evident. The intersectionality of these determinants, particularly in understanding and addressing health disparities, gains prominence. Governmental agencies are actively examining health disparities among populations, including adults with disabilities. Adapting research frameworks for mental health disparities, scholars highlight biological factors like allostatic load and inflammatory response, alongside sociocultural factors like stigma and bias. Allostatic load, a physiological response to chronic stress, is proposed as a mechanism contributing to physiological dysregulation and accelerated aging in autistic adults, akin to the 'weathering hypothesis' in explaining health disparities among some ethnic or racial minority groups. The intersectionality of biological and sociocultural factors offers a lens to understand the health challenges faced by autistic adults, including accelerated aging attributed to multiple stressors and immune system dysregulation. Circadian disruption of sleep, coupled with allostatic load consequences, further complicates the health risks specific to autism. Overall, a comprehensive understanding of the chronic physical health challenges in aging autistic adults requires consideration of both biological and sociocultural factors.

4.2.2 Intellectual disability and dementia risk.

The differences in co-occurring health conditions in autistic adults with and without co-occurring ID are less studied but may provide some clues as to who is at greatest risk for developing dementia and other neurological disorders. Studies have shown a higher prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors (i.e., overweight and obesity, diabetes, hyperlipidemia) particularly in those people with autism and a co-occurring ID (Cashin et al., 2016). Bishop-Fitzpatrick and Rubenstein (2019) found higher prevalence of most health conditions including cardiovascular disease, motor problems, hypothyroidism, and neurological disorders with diabetes, dyslipidemia and heart disease cited as higher risk. They used 2012-2015 Medicaid data for 143 adults residing in the U.S. with a recorded diagnosis of autism who were between 40 and 88 years of age and compared physical and mental health conditions for those with and without ID. Although there was an increased odds of neurological disorders including dementia (aOR 2.00, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.0, 4.1), none of the observed differences in physical and mental health conditions was statistically significant. They reported that an association with dementia may be explained or influenced by those comorbidities rather than being a direct result of autism.

Vivanti et al. (2022) drew upon multi-year Medicaid claims data in the U.S. population and looked for the incidence of neurodegenerative conditions, such as autism, among adults aged 30-to-64. Their results showed that the 5-year prevalence of dementia was 4.04% among adults with autism only, and 5.22% for those with autism and co-occurring ID (not including DS). Esbensen et al. (2010) examined functional differences of autistic adults and coincident ID with those of age-peer adults with ID associated with DS. They reported that autistic adults and ID were less residentially independent and had less social contact with friends, had more limited functional abilities and literacy, exhibited more behavior problems, and had more unmet service needs, compared to adults with DS. This finding speaks to the complexity of contributions to the functionality of autistic adults and ID and potential effects of lifetime cognitive impairment.

Although the association for risk of dementia in autistic adults absent ID is less clear-cut than in the case of concomitant ID, research suggests that genetic and neurobiological factors shared between autism and certain forms of dementia, such as frontotemporal dementia, may contribute to some risk for dementia. Starkstein et al. (2015) reported findings from two studies that suggest a relationship between autism and Parkinson's disease; however, they could only speculate on the underlying explanation for this observed relationship but postulated several potentials such as exposure to neuroleptic medication, and pathogenetic mechanisms, amongst possibilities. Dementia has been increasingly more recognized to be a common feature in people with Parkinson's disease, especially in old age (Emre et al., 2007). It has been reported that Parkinson's disease, Parkinson's disease dementia and dementia with Lewy bodies share clinical, pathological, genetic, and biochemical signatures (Walker et al., 2019).

In summary, the relationship between ID and dementia in individuals with autism is a complex and less-explored area. Studies suggest a higher prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in people with autism, particularly those with co-occurring ID, including overweight, obesity, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia. Studies using U.S. Medicaid data for autistic adults, found increased odds of neurological disorders, including dementia, in those adults with ID. However, none of the observed differences in physical and mental health conditions were statistically significant. The association with dementia may be influenced by comorbidities rather than being a direct result of autism. While the link between autism and dementia is less clear-cut without concomitant ID, research indicates shared genetic and neurobiological factors, particularly with forms like frontotemporal dementia. It has been suggested that there exists a potential relationship between autism and Parkinson's disease, highlighting the need for further investigation into underlying explanations, including medication exposure and pathogenetic mechanisms. The recognition of dementia as a common feature in Parkinson's disease adds complexity to understanding the interplay between autism, ID, and different forms of dementia.

4.2.3 Down syndrome and dementia risk.

The association of DS and autism has been noted in the clinical and research literature (e.g., Hamner et al., 2020; Richards et al., 2015; Spinazzi, Santoro et al., 2023). Channell et al. (2015) have cautioned that prevalence estimates of autism in DS are highly varied, and that this variation is partly due to the difficulty of screening for and diagnosing comorbid autism in individuals with a syndrome that carries its own set of social communicative and behavioral difficulties that are not well documented. A meta-analysis undertaken by Richards et al. (2015) suggested that about 16–18% of individuals with DS have been diagnosed with autism, and Spinazzi, Santoro et al. (2023) reported that estimates from individual studies using differing ascertainment criteria ranging from 5 to 39%. Spinazzi, Santoro et al. also reported that of the child-age individuals with DS and autism in a cohort they studied, 91% had Trisomy 21 variant DS and 5.6% had Mosaic variant DS, and that individuals with DS and autism had twice the odds of being male. They also reported that a history of epilepsy and/or infantile spasms was more associated with DS at significantly higher odds of being diagnosed with autism, and that individuals with DS and autism had significantly higher odds of a diagnosis of gastroesophageal reflux and constipation, consistent with findings in idiopathic autism.

Further, as noted by Sultan, Juneja, and Bhaskar (2020), school age individuals with DS and autism have been described to show an increased frequency of developmental regression along with the greater potential for neurological afflictions such as seizures, dysfunctional swallowing, severe hypotonia, and weaker motor skill, congenital cardiac defects, gastrointestinal tract aberrance, ophthalmological disorders, pneumonia, and sleep disturbances. Dimachkie Nunnally et al. (2021) reported that individuals with DS and autism tend to have lower cognitive abilities when compared to those with DS-only and that there are differences in expressive and receptive language abilities with individuals with DS and autism have lower expressive and receptive language abilities with only DS. Baumer and Capone (2023) suggested that younger adults with DS or autism, and especially those with both DS and co-occurring autism commonly display behavioral

and psychiatric symptoms that can impact quality of life and places increased burden on caregivers, and this has the potential of also impacting caregiving in older age.

As virtually all adults with DS show neuropathological changes of Alzheimer disease by age 40 years (Lott & Head, 2021), the question arises to what degree does DS pose a risk for dementia in autistic adults who also have DS? Studies have noted the relationship between Down syndrome and high risk for dementia. Hithersay et al. (2019) found that dementia was associated with mortality in 70% of older adults with DS. APOE ε 4 carriers and/or people with multiple comorbid health conditions were at increased risk of dementia and death. The answer to the question is elusive, as there is a dearth of studies specifically examining this question. Channell et al. (2015) commented on the difficulty of screening for and diagnosing comorbid autism in individuals with Down syndrome due to commonality of social communicative and behavioral difficulties However, it was uncertain what proportion of those adults with ID may have also had DS and the study excluded adults coded as having DS.

In summary, studies note that approximately 16–18% of individuals with DS are diagnosed with autism. Individuals with DS and autism exhibit a higher likelihood of certain health issues, such as epilepsy, infantile spasms, gastroesophageal reflux, and constipation. Notably, as adults with DS are known to show neuropathological changes related to Alzheimer's disease by age 40, the question arises regarding the risk of dementia in adults with DS and autism. There are virtually no dedicated older age or dementia studies regarding this mixed population. One study offered some insight into the risk as it was found that autistic adults with a co-occurring ID are 2.5 times more likely to be diagnosed with early-onset dementia compared to the general population. However, since DS was not included explicitly in the analysis, it is possible that some adults with ID also had DS but were not coded as such. Overall, while the coexistence of DS and autism is noted, we suggest that if there is an elevated risk for Alzheimer's in adults with both conditions it is primarily attributed to co-occurring DS rather than autism.

4.2.4 Mental health conditions and dementia risk.

The Lancet Commission (2022) highlighted that all neurodevelopmental disorders, including autism, have co-occurring conditions; these include physiological conditions (as previously noted), mental health disorders (such as anxiety, depression, ADHD), repetitive and challenging behaviors (such as self-injury, aggression) and sleep issues. Symptoms of mental health disorders may be expressed in atypical ways. This coupled with a lack of appropriate assessment tools and diagnostic criteria along with communication barriers and proxy informants lends itself easily to the risk of diagnostic overshadowing (Kindahl et al., 2023).

It appears that the rate of psychological medication prescription is significantly higher in medical situations with autistic patients than with patients absent autism. The most common medications prescribed for autistic adults were antipsychotics and antidepressants (Birch et al., 2017). Both older age and psychiatric comorbidity were associated with higher prevalence of psychopharmacotherapy and psychotropic polypharmacy. Adverse long-term effects are an issue as psychotropic medications are known to increase the risk of obesity, cardiovascular disease such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes (Robert & Duff, 2021).

Recognition of the presence of autism in adulthood can represent a diagnostic challenge, mainly since comorbidity with psychiatric and/or neurological conditions could veil neurodevelopmental disorders' manifestations (Bertelli et al., 2010). Crawford and colleagues (2014) surveyed the caregivers of 140 subjects in the U.S. with late-life cognitive impairment from the University of Kentucky Alzheimer's Disease Center Longitudinal Cohort and found that autism symptoms were associated with late-life degenerative dementia. Autism symptoms were more common in those with early vs. late onset dementia (Crawford et al., 2014). There is also some evidence of greater risk for various dementias among adults with mental disorders, which may be

co-occurring conditions for some autistic adults (although this association does not imply causal factors). Richmond-Rakerd et al. (2022) found, from analyzing New Zealand Integrated Data Infrastructure's systems data, that adults in general with a mental disorder were at increased risk of developing subsequent dementia (relative risk [RR], 4.24; 95% CI, 4.07-4.42; hazard ratio, 6.49; 95% CI, 6.25-6.73) and among individuals with eventual dementia, those with a mental disorder developed dementia a mean of 5.60 years (95% CI, 5.31-5.90) earlier than those without a mental disorder. It is unknown to what degree this mirrors the situation of autistic adults with mental disorders.

There is also evidence supporting the link between autism and dementia and cognitive decline based on self-reported data. For example, Klein et al. (2022) reported that in a sample of middle and older age autistic adults in the U.S. without ID (N = 210), who were recruited through Simons Powering Autism Research (SPARK), high rates of cognitive decline were reported, with 30% of the sample screened positive for cognitive decline using the dementia screener, AD8 Dementia Screening Interview (Chen et al., 2018; Galvin et al., 2005). Roestorf et al. (2022) also reported that some two-thirds of autistic adults reported experiencing at least one co-occurring mental health condition, and over a third met the criteria for three or more co-occurring mental health conditions. They noted that mental and physical health difficulties were related to autistic traits and difficulties in everyday life and were consistent predictors of poor quality of life. Likewise, Steward et al. (2021) noted that autistic adults reported significantly elevated rates of psychiatric diagnoses compared to the neurotypical group. This included significantly higher self-reported symptoms of current depression and anxiety, but few differences in individual physical health conditions and no differences in total co-occurring physical diagnoses between groups.

With older age, Lever and Geurts (2016) found that when compared to other psychiatric patients, levels of symptoms and psychological distress were high over the lifespan for autistic adults in a Netherlands sample. They reported that some 79% met criteria for a psychiatric disorder at least once in their lives, with depression and anxiety the most common. However, looking at older adults, they found this group less often met criteria for a psychiatric diagnosis and they concluded that despite marked psychological distress, psychiatric problems were also less prevalent in older aged individuals with autism. Conceptually, it is recognized that many autistic adults may not have severe mental illness⁸ (or 'psychiatric conditions') but may experience social disturbance conditions or clinically relevant behaviors that are linked to depression, anxiety, and social phobias. Kats et al. (2013) investigated the prevalence of clinically relevant behaviors and medical problems in a U.S. sample of adults aged 30 to 59 with autism and ID, in comparison to those just with ID. They found that estimates of self-injurious, disruptive, and destructive behavior were almost double in autistic adults and ID relative to those with ID only. Otherwise, McGuire et al. (2022) found that in an Irish sample of older autistic adults some half had some level of ID. Among the autism group, they reported reduced functional independence, increased psychiatric comorbidity, more psychotropic prescribing, and more behavioral presentations than the older population generally or those with ID only.

Longitudinal research has shown that autistic adults without ID did not show any differences in cognitive declines with age compared to non-autistic adults (Torenvliet et al., 2023), however, this suggests that some of the increased risk for dementia may be specific to the subgroup of autistic individuals with ID. Oberman and Pascual-Leone (2014) remarked that some autistic adults may have a dysfunction in brain plasticity, which is essential to the establishment and maintenance of brain circuitry; however, too much plasticity may lead to instability of structural connections and compromise of functional systems necessary for cognition and behavior. They undertook a multiple linear regression using age and diagnosis as predictor variables in order to evaluate strength of the relationship between age, diagnosis or an interaction of the two factors and the

⁸ Serious mental illness (SMI) commonly refers to a diagnosis of psychotic disorders, bipolar disorder, and either major depression with psychotic symptoms or treatment-resistant depression. SMI can also include anxiety disorders, eating disorders, and personality disorders, if the degree of functional impairment is severe. SMIs are long-term illnesses involving substantial functional impairment over multiple symptom domains (Evans et al., 2016).

degree of modulation in cortical excitability by transcranial magnetic stimulation as an index of cortical plasticity and found that across the age-span autistic adults show a consistently increased modulation of cortical excitability as compared to typically developing individuals, such that the general slope of decline across the age span is matched across both groups. Their contention is that an individual's risk of age-related cognitive decline (and risk for manifesting symptoms of dementia) depends on the individual's starting point and slopes of change in plasticity efficiency over the lifespan. They suggest that autistic adults might be relatively protected from age-related cognitive decline and the risk of dementia.

In summary, the review of numerous studies underscores the intricate relationship between autism, cognitive health, and cognitive decline in adulthood. Recognizing autism in adults poses diagnostic challenges due to potential comorbidities with psychiatric or neurological conditions that may mask neurodevelopmental disorder manifestations. It has been shown that there is a significant association between autism symptoms and late-life degenerative dementia, with a higher prevalence in early-onset cases and that adults with mental disorders, including some with autism, can face an increased risk of subsequent dementia, occurring earlier than in those without mental disorders. It was also noted that there are elevated rates of cognitive decline in middle and older age autistic adults without ID, indicating a potential link between autism and cognitive deterioration. Longitudinal research has suggested that autistic adults without ID exhibit similar cognitive declines with age compared to non-autistic adults, raising the possibility that increased dementia risk may be specific to the subgroup with ID. Generally, findings suggest that older adults with elevated autistic traits may be at greater risk of poorer mental, but not physical, health in later life and that mental health difficulties in autism persisted into older age and did not improve over time. The exploration of brain plasticity appears to support the notion that individuals with autism might be relatively protected from age-related cognitive decline and dementia due to consistently increased cortical excitability. This synthesis of findings highlights the need for further research to unravel the complex relationships among autism, cognitive decline, and potential protective factors like brain plasticity.

4.2.5 Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia and dementia risk.

Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia (BPSDs) are another factor in identifying potential increasing cognitive impairment in autistic adults. BPSDs are non-cognitive symptoms commonly associated with Alzheimer's disease. Fernández et al. (2010) in a study of Spanish Alzheimer's patients, reported that the most prevalent symptoms were lack of concentration (56%), tremors (56%), depression (44%), lack of cooperation (36%), and delusions (32%). Patients with higher BPSD scores showed a significantly higher prevalence of psychotic symptoms (delusions, hallucinations, and delirium) and tremors, while emotional symptoms (tearfulness and apathy) predominated in patients with lower BPSD scores. Cheney et al. (2023) reported that people with autism experience fewer close relationships, higher levels of social isolation, and significantly more mental health problems, with estimates of up to 72% of individuals meeting criteria for at least one comorbid mental health diagnosis, often in the realm of mood and anxiety disorders. It is unknown to what degree BPSDs manifest in autistic adults with dementia.

One consideration is the co-occurrence of Down syndrome, which poses an elevated risk for Alzheimer's disease. Dekker et al. (2018) reported that changes in anxiety, sleep disturbances, apathy, and depressive symptoms possibly serve as 'alarm signals' of the onset of Alzheimer's disease in DS and conversion to dementia. Adults with DS and Alzheimer's disease tend to show increased verbal aggression, destructive behavior, or physical aggression against other people. If autistic adults also have Down syndrome this may be an additional signal that MCI or early Alzheimer's disease is present.

In summary, autistic individuals, experiencing higher levels of social isolation and mental health issues, often meet criteria for comorbid mood and anxiety disorders. However, the manifestation of BPSDs in autistic adults with dementia remains unclear. Co-occurrence of DS, which elevates

the risk for Alzheimer's, may further complicate the picture. Changes in anxiety, sleep disturbances, apathy, and depressive symptoms in Down syndrome individuals may signal the onset of Alzheimer's and conversion to dementia, marked by increased aggression or destructive behavior. For autistic adults with Down syndrome, heightened verbal or physical aggression may serve as additional signals of mild cognitive impairment or early Alzheimer's disease. Understanding and recognizing these behavioral and psychological symptoms is crucial for timely intervention and support in this vulnerable population. This is an area that warrants in-depth research.

4.2.6 Autism and frontotemporal dementia.

Frontotemporal dementia (FTD) is a highly heritable group of neurodegenerative disorders, with around 30% of affected adults having a strong family history (Greaves & Rohrer, 2019). FTD is probably the most common form of dementia experienced in people under the age of 60, with an estimated lifetime risk of 1 in 742 (Greaves & Rohrer, 2019). Behavioral variant FTD (bvFTD) is the most common diagnosis within this type of dementia and is characterized by changes in personality, while the language variant (known as primary progressive aphasia or PPA) is typically associated with progressive speech production or comprehension difficulties. Age at symptom onset is variable in each of the various forms of FTD, with intrafamilial variability (even within the same generation) of at least a decade in some families. Familial heritability is expressed as a greater risk of psychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia and autism. Midorikawa (2015) noted that in certain cases, older adults with undiagnosed autism, who developed maladaptive behaviors after negative life events, were considered as having a behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia (bvFTD). Midorikawa and Kawamura (2012) examined three patients who showed symptoms of bv-FTD and demonstrated signs of autism using the diagnostic criteria for bv-FTD, and their caregivers retrospectively provided data to calculate the Autism-Spectrum Quotient, Japanese version. They compared these data with those obtained from three adults, absent autism, with Alzheimer's disease. All three patients met the criteria for bv-FTD and had a higher Autism-Spectrum Quotient score than did comparable Alzheimer's disease subjects. It is possible that some senile persons with frontotemporal lobar degeneration-like maladaptive behavior may also have subclinical autism. With respect to signals of presymptomatic expression bv-FTD, Greaves and Rohrer (2019) have noted that neuropsychometric measures are abnormal in presymptomatic carriers around 5 years prior to expected symptom onset.

Interestingly, the question of onset of autism in later age was noted by Crawford et al. (2014). They reported that some studies have suggested that late-life onset of autism symptoms can develop in frontotemporal dementia but have not been linked to the development of other dementias or MCI. To characterize latelife autism symptoms in mild neurocognitive disorders and dementia, they surveyed the caregivers of 140 subjects with late-life cognitive impairment using the Gilliam Autism Rating Scale (GARS-2, 2006; Montgomery et al., 2008). Those adults with the highest autism index ratings reported significantly younger age at onset of decline than those who scored in the 'Unlikely' range (n=49): 68.2 ± 9.3 vs 74.9 ± 7.9 (p < 0.01). This remains true when the respondents were restricted to just those cases with dementia (n=13 and n=33): 67.7±9.4 vs. 74.0±8.8 (p < 0.05). These data demonstrate that autism symptoms are associated with late-life degenerative dementia and that such symptoms are more prevalent in those with early vs. late onset dementia. Crawford et al. suggested that further work examining the interplay between autism and late life dementia could help identify key areas of shared neuroanatomic involvement between autism and late life dementia. Hodges (2023) reported that the syndrome of behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia (bvFTD) where changes in social cognition are prominent, has features that overlap considerably with those seen in people with autism. He showed that adults with bvFTD had impaired performance of a range of theory of mind tasks thus consolidating the clinical overlap between bvFTD and autism, although those with the former differ in that they progress to full blown dementia and eventual death.

Rhodus et al. (2020) investigated the hypothesis that subjects with *late-onset dementia* associated with autism-like behaviors will exhibit increased pathologic features in both the frontal and parietal association cortices. They undertook comprehensive neuropathologic evaluations including assessment of all common late-life dementia pathologies using both semi-quantitative rating scales and digital quantitative measures of global and regional pathological features. Between group analyses demonstrated no significant differences in age, education, sex, clinical diagnosis, or apoE4 status. High-autism vs. no-autism cases scored significantly higher on the Clinical Dementia Rating Scale⁹ (p<0.05). Approximately 80% of cases had a primary pathologic diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease, with the remaining 20% of individuals demonstrating pathologic features consistent with Late (16%), cerebrovascular (2%), or Lewy body disease (2%). No cases had fronto-temporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) as a primary or comorbid pathology. Quantitative measures of neurofibrillary tangles and tau burden were higher in the frontal lobes of high-autism subjects compared to the matched no-autism controls (p<0.02). They noted that their data were the first to link autism-like behaviors to increased levels of tau and neurofibrillary pathology in the frontal lobes at autopsy in subjects with late-life dementia. However, their data demonstrated that FTLD pathology is not a major contributor to such behaviors in a community-based cohort of late-life dementia.

The behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia (bvFTD) is a frequent cause of *younger-onset* dementia (Ducharme et al., 2020). It has been noted that the diagnosis of bvFTD remains challenging because of the limited accuracy of neuroimaging in the early disease stages and the absence of molecular biomarkers, and therefore relies predominantly on clinical assessment. BvFTD shows significant symptomatic overlap with non-degenerative primary psychiatric disorders including autism and major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and obsessive-compulsive disorder. Symptoms of particular interest include features that are strongly associated with other types of dementia and or with other FTLD-spectrum syndromes, falls, and dysphagia. Additionally, clinical histories should include symptoms of autism. Ducharme et al. provide a full explanation of the challenges of differentiating bvFTD for other similar neuropathologies in general but do not offer insights in application with autism. Several workers (e.g., Ducharme et al., 2020; Greaves & Rohrer, 2019) have reported the potential value of biomarkers with bvFTD once there is international consensus; however, while that may be useful in the future with autistic adults with risk for bvFTD, the level of certainty is not yet there.

Greaves and Rohrer (2019) reported that the C9orf72 mutation seems to be the most common worldwide cause of genetic FTD. Hodges (2022) found in a study screening for the mutation in phenocopy cases that the mutation to be rarely present. In contrast, another study involving 1,400 family members of FTD patients (with and without the mutation) showed that children from C9orf72 families had a significantly higher rate of autism. He asked, "Does late life autism simply mimic bvFTD, could autism be a risk factor for FTD or are they separate disorders with a shared genetic background?"

In summary, the literature indicates a greater association (albeit not causality) of autism with FTD. This form of dementia encompasses a spectrum of neurodegenerative disorders with a significant hereditary component, affecting individuals predominantly under 60 years old. FTD onset varies, with some families showing intrafamilial variability spanning a decade. Familial heritability is linked to increased risk of psychiatric disorders like schizophrenia and autism. Studies suggest a potential overlap between bvFTD and autism, with some older adults with undiagnosed autism displaying maladaptive behaviors akin to bvFTD symptoms. Moreover, late-life onset of autism symptoms has been observed in dementia, particularly Alzheimer's disease. Neuropathological evaluations reveal increased tau and neurofibrillary pathology in the frontal lobes of individuals exhibiting autism-like behaviors in late-on-

⁹ Morris, J.C. (1997). Clinical Dementia Rating: A reliable and valid diagnostic and staging measure for dementia of the Alzheimer type. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 9(S1), 173 - 176. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610297004870

set dementia. Although bvFTD diagnosis remains challenging due to symptomatic overlap with psychiatric disorders, biomarkers may offer future diagnostic clarity. The C9orf72 mutation is implicated in genetic FTD, with children from affected families showing a higher prevalence of autism. These findings prompt further exploration of the relationship between late-life autism and bvFTD, shedding light on potential diagnostic and therapeutic implications.

4.2.7 Other factors associated with dementia.

Other neuropathologies. Midorikawa (2012) has noted that there may be a relationship between developmental disorders and dementia, such as with Lewy bodies (DLB) and those with Parkinson's disease (PD). As the adults in these cases showed a tendency for having attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) at a younger age, he contended that a neurotransmitter pathway or language network in the brain is vulnerable in some subjects. Midorikawa also indicated that no studies have shown a causality of developmental disorders, such as autism, and dementia. To date, there has not been any published research linking the latter two diseases to autism, although Starkstein et al. (2015) raises many potentials given the overlapping phenomenology, neurobiology, and genetic such as involvement of the basal ganglia and frontal lobe dysfunction (Hollander et al., 2009; Mai et al., 2023). Additionally, lifestyle factors, including limited physical activity, social isolation, and suboptimal diet, may further increase the susceptibility to dementia in some autistic individuals. Factors specified as potentially contributing to expression of dementia among adults with autism include early-onset neurodevelopmental challenges. The cognitive and adaptive skills of individuals with autism often fall below age-appropriate levels, rendering them more vulnerable to the cognitive declines associated with dementia (Bishop-Fitzpatrick et al., 2017).

Rhodus et al. (2022) examined the neuropathologic features of late-life dementia in research volunteers with and without antemortem behaviors characteristic of autism spectrum disorders. They undertook antemortem cross-sectional assessments of autistic spectrum behaviors proximal to death in persons (N = 56) with diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment or dementia (via the Gilliam Autism Rating Scale, 2nd edition (GARS-2)¹⁰, followed by postmortem quantitative and semiquantitative neuropathologic assessment. The GARS-2 was used as an antemortem screening tool to stratify participants into two groups: "Autism Possible/Very Likely" or "Autism Unlikely." Data were analyzed using nonparametric statistics comparing location and scale to evaluate between-group differences in pathologic features. Neurofibrillary tangles (NFT; p = 0.028) density and tau burden (p = 0.032) in the frontal region, the NFT density (p = 0.048) and neuritic plaque burden (p = 0.042), and the tau burden (p = 0.032) of the temporal region, were significantly different in scale between groups. Rhodus et al. noted that behaviors characteristic of autism were linked to increased pathologic tau burden in the frontal and temporal lobes in persons with late-life dementia.

Toloza Ramírez et al. (2020) suggested that cognitive impairment and behavioral disorders lead potentially to neurodegenerative diseases resulting in dementia in autistic adults – which affects the performance of activities of daily living (ADLs). Their systematic review of the articles noting the progression of cognitive impairment and dementia in adulthood lead them to believe that autistic adults develop early impairments mainly affecting cognitive functions such as memory and executive functions. Moderate to a profound ID also appeared to be associated with the development of dementia in autistic adults.

Genetics. Genetic susceptibility is a consideration, as genetics plays a pivotal role in both autism and dementia. Recent research has unveiled shared genetic variants between autism and late-onset Alzheimer's disease (LOAD), potentially linking the two conditions at a molecular level (Nadeen et al., 2021). These genetic overlaps underscore the importance of understanding the genetic predispositions that may render autistic adults more susceptible to dementia. Neurobiology, such as chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, allostatic

¹⁰ Volker et al. (2016). Factor structure, internal consistency, and screening sensitivity of the GARS-2 in a developmental disabilities sample. *Autism Research and Treatment*, 2016:8243079. doi: 10.1155/2016/8243079. Epub 2016 Feb 15.

load, and mitochondrial dysfunction, are processes implicated in both autism and various forms of dementia and might serve as common pathways contributing to cognitive decline (Mostafa & Al-Ayadhi, 2015; Swerdlow, 2018).

Life experiences. Further, life challenges in behavioral and functional adaptation, potentially linked to 'weathering' (Geronimus, 1992; Johnson & Gomez, 2023), are often encountered by autistic adults and can exacerbate their vulnerability to dementia. Some autistic adults may struggle with activities of daily living, social engagement, and adaptive functioning, making them more dependent on caregivers and susceptible to a decline in these abilities as they age (Trembath, 2019). Social-environmental factors may also be at play, as social isolation is a common issue faced by autistic adults due to communication difficulties and limited social skills. This isolation can lead to reduced access to healthcare services and preventive measures, potentially delaying the early detection and management of cognitive decline (Malik-Soni et al., 2022; Nicolaidis et al., 2019).

The synthesis of numerous studies reveals a complex relationship between autism and dementia, encompassing diverse factors such as behavioral manifestations, genetic susceptibility, shared neurobiological processes, and environmental influences. Midorikawa (2015) and Rhodus et al. (2020) suggest a potential link between autism and late-onset dementia, particularly frontotemporal dementia, supported by increased tau pathology in specific brain regions. Starkstein et al. (2015) explore shared phenomenology, neurobiology, and genetic factors, while genetic overlaps between autism and late-onset Alzheimer's disease are identified (Nadeem et al., 2021). Neurobiological processes, including chronic inflammation and mitochondrial dysfunction, are implicated in both conditions (Mostafa & Al-Ayadhi, 2015; Swerdlow, 2018). Furthermore, environmental factors such as lifestyle, limited physical activity, and social isolation may contribute to dementia susceptibility in autistic individuals. Notably, autistic adults, particularly those with ID, exhibit early impairments affecting cognitive functions, potentially leading to dementia (Toloza Ramírez et al., 2020). The intricate interplay of these factors emphasizes the need for comprehensive research to explain the mechanisms underlying the association between autism and dementia, with implications for early detection and tailored interventions.

In summary, data do not show an evident, above norm, risk for Alzheimer's disease associated with autism; but some studies do show some uptick of other forms of dementia (such as behavioral variant frontotemporal) among autistic adults. Our understanding of the risk factors for dementia among autistic adults is still evolving; but it is evident that a complex interplay of genetic, neurobiological, and environmental factors contributes to this vulnerability. Better understanding the precise mechanisms underlying these associations remains an ongoing challenge. Future research may elucidate the intricate relationships between genetic, neurobiological, and environmental factors that contribute to the elevated risk of dementia in individuals with ID and autism. Such insights are crucial for developing targeted prevention and intervention strategies, determining early identification via the use of biomarkers, as well as any new disease modifying treatments that may become apparent.

5.0 Pharmacological interventions/treatments

Rossignol and Frye (2014) examined the utility of the use of medications approved for Alzheimer's disease in autism spectrum disorder and noted that only two medications (risperidone and aripiprazole) are approved for use in the U.S. to *treat Alzheimer's symptoms* in autistic adults. These medications have been approved to treat irritability, which is not a core symptom of autism, but one that may be found in adults with

dementia of the Alzheimer's type. Several medications originally developed to treat existing Alzheimer's symptoms (but not the reduction of amyloid buildup in the brain) have been used for treating BPSD-like behaviors in autistic adults, but not because Alzheimer's disease has been diagnosed. To determine other use, Rossignol and Frye examined studies which examined the use of Alzheimer's medications with persons with autism, including donepezil (seven studies, two were double-blind, placebo-controlled [DBPC], five out of seven reported improvements), galantamine (four studies, two were DBPC, all reported improvements), rivastigmine (one study reporting improvements), tacrine (one study reporting improvements), and memantine (nine studies, one was DBPC, eight reported improvements).

Collectively, these studies showed improvements in expressive language and communication, receptive language, social interaction, irritability, hyperactivity, attention, eye contact, emotional lability, repetitive or self-stimulatory behaviors, motor planning, disruptive behaviors, obsessive-compulsive symptoms, lethargy, overall autistic behaviors, and increased REM sleep. Reported side effects included irritability, gastrointestinal problems, verbal or behavioral regression, headaches, irritability, rash, tremor, sedation, vomiting, and speech problems. Both galantamine and memantine were sufficiently robust and improved both core and associated symptoms of autism. It is unknown of the utility of these medications in treating BPSDs in adults diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease. Rossignol and Frye (2014) noted that given the lack of medications approved specifically to treat autism, further studies on novel medications, including Alzheimer's disease treatment medications, are needed. The controversial aspect relating to the anticholinergic effects of various classes of drugs remains little investigated, despite the knowledge that autistic people with ID are subject to numerous pharmacological treatments which exposes them to a greater risk of these effects (De Vreese et al., 2018; O'Dwyer et al., 2018).

Questions arise as to whether the emerging anti-amyloid drugs (e.g., Leqembi[™] [lecanemab] approved for routine use in the China, Japan, and the U.S.) might also have utility for autistic adults who have been *diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease* (Cumming et al., 2023). One drug, Aduhelm[™], had limited use in the U.S. prior to being withdrawn from the market (Biogen, 2024; Hassan & Christensen, 2024). When both drugs were available, prescribers were cautioned about prescribing them for patients with Down syndrome due to expectations of adverse effects associated with amyloid-related imaging abnormalities or ARIAs (Cummings et al., 2023) which may have limited access to a segment of autistic adults. This caution may be an issue when considering prescribing lecanemab or any other newly approved Alzheimer's disease modifying treatments for autistic adults *and co-occurring* Down syndrome (Hillerstrom et al., 2024). To be eligible for obtaining one of the anti-amyloid medications (in the U.S.), autistic adults must show clinical and biomarker evidence of mild cognitive impairment or mild dementia *caused by Alzheimer disease*, including positron emission tomography (PET) neuroimaging or cerebrospinal fluid analysis demonstrating amyloid burden, and magnetic resonance neuroimaging not suggesting a likely alternative cause for dementia (Watt, 2023).

However, whether Leqembi[™] or similar drugs have utility with autistic patients and meet the criteria of diagnosed MCI or early-stage dementia associated with Alzheimer's disease has been specifically addressed by John Kruse MD, PhD, at the School of Medicine and Dentistry at the University of Rochester. When aducanumab was still available, he cited: "So far, it's not even clear if aducanumab is beneficial in treating Alzheimer's. The research so far suggests that the drug is more effective at reducing the amount of beta-amyloid plaques in brains than it is in reducing symptoms of dementia. Although some research suggests that at least some individuals with autism have an excess of beta-amyloid plaque in their brains, the amount does not appear to be as excessive or as prevalent in autism as it does in Alzheimer's. So, yes, the new med might be helpful, but we're a long way from showing that it actually helps" (Quora, 2023).

Aduhelm[™], the first conditionally approved AD medication, was removed from use in the U.S. by Biogen in January 2024 (Robbins, 2024). However, Leqembi[™], the second, remains and has been approved for general use with its costs covered in the U.S. for all enrollees in Medicare, and in Japan for adults enrolled in

its National Health Insurance program (Igarashi et al., 2023; Japan Times, 2023), but only for those adults with proven MCI or early clinical dementia stemming from Alzheimer's disease. Eisai, the pharmaceutical firm behind Legembi™, has submitted applications for approval of use of lecanemab in numerous countries and regions, including to the European Medicines Agency in the European Union (BioArtic, 2023). In Canada it is under review by Health Canada (Watt et al., 2023). In Israel, the application has been designated for priority review. In China the application was submitted to the National Medical Products Administration (NMPA) and recently approved for use (Biogen, 2024), and in Great Britain, lecanemab has been designated for the Innovative Licensing and Access Pathway (ILAP), which aims to reduce the time to market for innovative medicines (Biogen, 2023). A third medication, donanemab (Sims et al., 2023), was poised to be approved in early 2024 in the U.S., but its approval was delayed pending further review by an expert panel (Foster, 2024). Donanemab is also being reviewed for approval in other countries (McKie, 2023). In England, the Medicines & Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) will decide if lecanemab and donanemab are safe and effective, then the NICE will decide whether the cost for the medications will be covered (Jarvis, 2024).

These medications are designed for treating early-stage Alzheimer's disease, which may be appropriate for a small number of autistic adults who have been diagnosed with this form of dementia. Practitioners should be aware that when these disease modifying treatments (DMTs) become more prevalent in use, there will be a few steps that have to be undertaken before they can be prescribed (The Lancet Neurology, 2024). Among them are diagnostic elements which will include a clinical diagnostic assessment, biomarker confirmation of the presence of this disease, documented impairment of ADLs and IADLs due to Alzheimer's, financial support (as these medications are costly, unless covered by national health schemes), and an evaluation of risk, given potential side effects (such as ARIAs). Once prescribed, consideration must be given to the local availability of medical clinics or facilities that have the capability for employing medication infusion (currently this is the only available means of medication provision), patient tolerance for multiple sessions (usually fortnightly) of medication infusion, and tolerance of periodic magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and other means of invasive surveillance (included blood tests, spinal taps, etc.). To benefit from these drug treatments, clinicians need to agree upon whether general use instruments defining the presence of MCI and early-stage dementia apply equally to autistic adults or should work be undertaken to develop adaptations that would apply specifically to autistic adults. Access to clinicians and MRI and PET scanners to validate the presence of brain neuropathy may also be problematic in some jurisdictions. A report released in England cited the dearth of dementia diagnostic capacity in general, and that would pose a significant impairment for autistic adults (Gregory, 2024).

The American experience with the general population has revealed significant obstacles in the initiation phases of medication accessibility and medical facility capabilities to administer the drugs (Schindler, 2024). These include limited facilities having the capacity of the preliminary diagnostic processes, medication administration, and significant follow-up; having significant clinicians who can diagnose Alzheimer's in autistic adults; resources to obtain required biomarkers; and geographic accessibility barriers. A problem that may be experienced by autistic adults is accessing dementia diagnostics to access the DMTs, as most prescribers rely on memory clinics or Alzheimer's disease research centers – which are in short supply geographically (The Lancet Neurology, 2024). One proposal proffered by Rand Health Care (Alzforum, 2024) is to shift such assessments to primary care practitioners (PCPs); however, it is doubtful that many PCPs will have the capacities or resources to accurately diagnose dementia in autistic adults. A further challenge for autistic adults is complying with the preliminary measures (biomarker via blood or CSF draw and PET scans) as well as sitting through a fortnightly infusion process. New work, showing a greater uptake of the DMTs via weekly injection (but not yet approved as an administrative vehicle), may mitigate some of the challenges of the current medication administration process and frequency (Eisai, 2023). Most importantly will be the receptivity and readiness of PCPs and other prescribers to take on autistic adults as patients when there is suspicion of neurocognitive impairment associated with Alzheimer's disease (Gerhardt et al., 2011).

In summary, some Alzheimer's medications have utility in autistic adults (e.g., risperidone and aripiprazole), for addressing Alzheimer's symptoms, and can be used to address behavioral issues (e.g., irritability). Other on-label medications (donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine, tacrine, and memantine) have been noted to have produced improvements in various autism-related behaviors. Galantamine and memantine have been shown to be useful in core and associated symptoms of autism. Given the absence of approved autism-specific medications, there is a necessity for further research on novel medications, including those designed for treating Alzheimer's disease. As to the potential suitability of emerging anti-amyloid drugs for autistic adults diagnosed with Alzheimer's, prescribers need to be cautious about using anti-amyloid drugs when the adults also have DS due to concerns about potential adverse effects. For those absent DS or ID, autistic adults need to demonstrate clinical and biomarker evidence of mild cognitive impairment or early-stage dementia due to Alzheimer's. However, the effectiveness of these drugs with autistic patients has not been proven in clinical trials.

6.0 Assessment/diagnosis for dementia

When undertaking assessments or diagnostic workups for dementia in older autistic adults, particularly if an ID is present, clinicians may experience challenges due to the complex interplay of cognitive, communicative, and behavioral factors inherent to assessing autistic adults. To begin with is a determination of a diagnosis of autism. In adults, this is often more difficult than diagnosing autism in children. In adults, as some autistic symptoms can overlap with symptoms of mental health disorders, such as anxiety disorder or ADHD, some diagnostic complexities may be present (NIH, 2023). Once the presence of autism is confirmed, then the challenge is to identify the presence of MCI or dementia. The presence of select mental health symptoms may confound the process of identifying dementia symptoms. This section examines some nuanced factors in undertaking assessments and diagnostic workups.

Communication. One of the primary challenges in assessing autistic adults with ID lies in communication. Some may have limited verbal abilities or use unconventional means of expression, complicating the elicitation of relevant information during cognitive assessments. The report from the Neuroatypical Conditions Expert Consultative Panel (Janicki et al., 2022a; 2022b) emphasized the importance of considering receptive and expressive language abilities when conducting assessments, suggesting the use of non-verbal strategies such as visual representations and demonstrations of tasks. Alternative and augmentative forms of communication, including visual aids and augmentative communication systems, may also be necessary due to limited verbal expression or unconventional communication methods like echolalia. Establishing rapport and maximizing engagement are essential to ensure valid assessments. Moreover, gathering ancillary information from family members or caregivers familiar with the individual's daily routines and behaviors is crucial for obtaining a comprehensive understanding of their functioning. Social communication accommodations must be tailored to each individual, emphasizing the importance of being concrete with instructions and conversations during assessments to facilitate accurate evaluations.

Assessing when ID or other conditions are present. Standard dementia assessment tools may not be suitable for autistic adults with ID due to a lack of normative data for this population and the complicating factors of sensory sensitivities and anxiety commonly observed in autism (Janicki et al., 2022a; 2022b). Clinicians must rely on comprehensive evaluations that incorporate information from multiple sources, including family members and caregivers, to establish an accurate diagnosis. Tailored assessment approaches and tools specifically designed for this population are essential to effectively address these challenges. Moreover, the behav-

ioral symptoms of dementia can be misinterpreted or obscured by preexisting behaviors associated with autism and ID, a phenomenon known as "diagnostic overshadowing" (Hallyburton, 2022; Janicki et al., 2022a; 2022b). Agitation, withdrawal, and repetitive behaviors may be mistakenly attributed to the individual's baseline characteristics rather than being recognized as signs of dementia.

Another consideration is that a small portion of autistic adults are also diagnosed with Down syndrome; knowing this might lead to assumptions about elevated risk for Alzheimer's disease in this subgroup (Bradbury et al., 2012; Dimachkie Nunnally et al., 2021). Sensory sensitivities and anxiety, which are often prevalent in individuals with autism, can further complicate the assessment process. Bright lights, unfamiliar surroundings, or loud noises in clinical settings can overwhelm autistic adults, affecting their ability to engage in the assessment process. Sensory-friendly assessment environments can help reduce stressors and anxiety, ensuring more accurate evaluations. Defining and creating sensory-friendly assessment environments can aid in alleviating these challenges (Hazen et al., 2014). Another factor in assessment when ID is present is the use of informants. Obtaining ancillary information from family members or others who are familiar with the daily routines and lifestyle of the adult is helpful. Informants (whether family or staff caregivers) who know the person well, can help with determining whether the routine functioning of the individual that was observed in a clinical interview, is generally reflective of the adult's repertoire of behaviors (Taylor et al., 2024). Information from multiple contexts can help evaluate decline in abilities and understand the timeline of the changes in the individual's cognition.

Assessing when ID is not a factor. Undertaking assessments for dementia in high functioning autistic adults (without ID) may require clinicians to modify standardized assessment tools to accommodate autism-related behavioral characteristics (van Niekerk et al., 2011). Autism often co-occurs with other conditions like anxiety, ADHD, depression, and obsessive-compulsive disorder, complicating the assessment process due to cognitive, emotional, and behavioral challenges. As these conditions are associated with cognitive difficulties in aging neurotypical individuals, dementia symptoms may be obscured in autistic adults. It is essential to gather information from various contexts to evaluate decline in abilities accurately and understand the individual's cognitive expectations and timeline of changes.

Given the heterogeneity of autism, a one-size-fits-all screening approach is not suitable, and consideration should be given to cognitive comorbidities like ID or psychiatric conditions. Awareness of the individual's history, social functioning, and indicators of memory loss or diminished self-care is crucial during examinations. Building rapport, adapting instrumentation, and providing predictability during testing can enhance the assessment experience for autistic adults. Assessments should be conducted in familiar settings whenever possible, and premorbid assessment is essential for comparing current functioning to prior abilities. Attention should be given to factors like environmental changes, anxiety, gastrointestinal issues, and medication effects that may impact assessment outcomes. A comprehensive and multidisciplinary approach, incorporating input from family members, caregivers, and individuals themselves, is necessary to obtain a holistic view of cognitive and functional abilities. Longitudinal assessments and frequent monitoring are valuable for identifying subtle changes over time indicative of dementia onset or progression.

Assessing when a psychiatric disorder is a factor. Clinicians face challenges in assessing and diagnosing cognitive impairment in autistic adults, particularly when other cognitive, emotional, or psychiatric conditions co-occur (Bertelli et al., 2010). Cognitive impairment in autism is diverse, spanning from sensory perception issues to deficits in cognitive processing, learning, and memory. Al-Mazidi (2023) highlighted the lack of specific diagnostic criteria for cognitive impairment in autism, with potential causes including neurological, immune, and gastrointestinal dysfunction. Early intervention is crucial for addressing cognitive dysfunction in autism, yet its heterogeneity, combined with comorbid ID and other conditions, complicates the development of standardized diagnostic and therapeutic criteria.

The presence of co-occurring cognitive or psychiatric conditions further complicates the diagnosis of dementia in autistic adults (Lai & Baron-Cohen, 2015). Conditions such as anxiety, ADHD, depression, and obsessive-compulsive disorder pose additional challenges for diagnosing dementia, potentially masking its symptoms (Janicki et al., 2022a; 2022b). Novel approaches, like self-report measures such as the AD8 dementia screener (Klein et al., 2023), may offer valuable insights into cognitive decline in autistic adults. Moreover, studies like that by Groot et al. (2021) suggest that alternative cognitive assessment tools, such as the MoCA-NL (Powell, Klinger & Klinger, 2017), may be more sensitive in detecting cognitive impairments in older autistic adults compared to traditional tools like the MMSE (Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975). It has been reported when using the MoCA, age was significantly related to performance in autistic adults such that older autistic adults exhibited significantly lower performance compared to older adults with neurotypical development (Powell et al., 2017). These findings underscore the need for tailored assessment methods and ongoing research to enhance dementia diagnosis and management in autistic adults.

Assessment applications. Undertaking assessments considers a variety of purposes. One may be screening autistic adults for indications of MCI or dementia for services planning. Most individuals with autism with baseline typical intelligence can participate in standard screenings, but adults with concomitant ID (including Down syndrome) or other co-occurring features may require multiple visits and tailored assessments. Another may be related to annual or periodic medical or health assessments. Cordell et al. (2013) provided a framework for situations which may be part of annual medical interview, which would include (1) completing a pre-visit screen about the adult before the visit; (2) using tools for the initial cognitive assessments that are brief, validated, and easily administered by non-physician clinical staff; and (3) when further evaluation is indicated, scheduling a more detailed evaluation for a follow-up visit or via a referral to a specialist familiar with the pre-existing condition. Another is to validate the presence of dementia for disease modifying treatment purposes or for eligibility determinations. In each the nature of the assessment may differ as to the information collected and degree of precision.

The Neuroatypical Conditions Expert Consultative Panel (Janicki et al., 2022a; 2022b) provided a general perspective on the challenges inherent in examining adults with neuroatypical conditions, including autism. They noted that from an assessment applications perspective the challenges include: (1) most clinicians experience difficulties in discriminating current behavior and function from that which was pre-existing in some of the conditions, particularly those that include pre-existing cognitive deficits; (2) many of the conditions included problems with comprehension, oral communication, motor task performance impediments, recognition of assessment related visuals, and comfort in testing situations; (3) for conditions with pre-existing cognitive issues, the use of standardized dementia assessment measures is not indicated unless the measures are significantly adapted or specially designed; (4) for conditions with motor or sensory impairments, special adaptations related to compensating for the impairments is necessary to obtain valid scoring; and (5) practitioners should be aware of the nature of aging effects in these conditions, know the expectations for cognitive decline and risk of dementia (and of what type), and be familiar with testing adaptations that can facilitate the examination process to generate meaningful data. Overlaying these challenges is differentiating examining approaches when adults are high functioning or possess concurrent ID.

In summary, assessing dementia in older autistic adults, particularly those with ID, presents a significant clinical challenge due to the intricate interplay of cognitive, communicative, and behavioral factors inherent to these neurodevelopmental disorders. Diagnosing autism in adults is inherently complex, and the overlap of autistic symptoms with those of other mental health disorders further complicates the assessment process. Standard dementia assessment tools may not be suitable for individuals with autism and ID, requiring clinicians to rely on comprehensive evaluations that consider sensory sensitivities, anxiety, and unconventional communication methods. Communication difficulties, limited verbal abilities, and pre-existing behaviors associated with autism can obscure dementia symptoms, necessitating tailored assessment approaches. The challenges include discriminating current behavior

from pre-existing conditions, considering sensory sensitivities, and adapting assessments for valid results. Overcoming these complexities requires a multidisciplinary approach, incorporating input from various sources, such as family members and caregivers, to gain a comprehensive understanding of the individual's cognitive and functional abilities. Longitudinal assessments and frequent monitoring are crucial for identifying subtle changes that may indicate the onset or progression of dementia in autistic adults. That said, the following exploration of service concepts and frameworks represent literature from the Western world, and we note that other models may be prevalent in other countries, particularly in Asia, the Middle East, and Africa.

7.0 Non-pharmacological interventions, dementia supports, and later life outcomes

Important is the consideration to be given to the effect that different welfare models, which countries are grounded on, may have on the delivery, financing, and outcomes for individual citizens, including autistic adults and their families (cf. Alesina & Glaeser, 2006; Esping-Andersen, 1990; Heath, 2020). Although not the main focus of this report, it provides a powerful context for how social welfare services are organized. Primarily, we will see three different welfare models in the Western world: The Anglo-American welfare model (US and UK) which focuses on providing citizens with a minimum safeguard against poverty rather than redistributing benefits, and the market plays a significant role. The Continental welfare model (France and Germany) which ties rights to class, occupation, or status and families are key providers of welfare, with the state stepping in when families are unable to support themselves. The Scandinavian welfare model (Sweden, Denmark, Norway, and the Netherlands) which is characterized by universality, with the state aiming to ensure equality. The system is based on individual rights, with families playing a smaller role as welfare providers. Heath (2020) notes that the three normative purposes most cited provide a justification for the scope of welfare state activity are equality, community, or efficiency. These give rise to a corresponding set of models, which he refers to as the redistributive, the communitarian, and the public-economic models of the welfare state. These may underlie the following discourse on services and would reflect national economic and political foundations for the delivery of services to disadvantaged populations.

Fumagalli and Crippa (2020) noted that it is a public health priority to better understand the factors that might contribute to the intersection of autism and neurodegenerative dementia. They reported the importance of understanding the strengths and the needs of autistic adults who present with comorbid dementia, to develop long-term care resources and arrange appropriate intervention programs. They argue for the systematic study of potentially common etiopathological mechanisms that could increase knowledge about the pathological basis of autism and neurodegenerative dementia and that may lead to the development of targeted interventions. What follows is an exploration into various issues that may fall under the rubric of nonpharmacological interventions and post-diagnostic supports, covering those issues that relate to support for autistic adults and dementia, as well as useful to aiding persons and family members involved in direct support.

7.1 Respite, caregiving, and training

Support programs for aging autistic older adults are generally not well-formulated or available, but services for supporting older adults with ID can offer some direction for how these can be adapted for autistic older adults (Canadian Academy of Health Sciences, 2020). In general, autonomous living services would mirror – those that governments organize for their older population – but with adaptations for specialized personalized supports. On a broader scale, these might include developing autism-friendly seniors' living models

and engaging in proactive long-term planning assistance for self-sustaining finances, housing, and healthcare decisions. On a narrower scale, these would be directed toward supporting existing primary caregivers. However, questions arise as to how these might support care for autistic older adults with dementia.

There is a dearth of studies that focus on the caregivers (or carers) of autistic adults with dementia. Those that address caregiving focus on caregiving factors when families are providing care at home for adults or older autistic adults. Writers have noted that some autistic adults approach their senior years living with minimal support, while others may need substantial assistance, requiring support and assistance at home or when living in supervised housing, particularly if there is a coincident condition present (Kartoz et al., 2022). Aside from basic activities for daily living (ADLs, e.g., bathing, cooking, dressing), they may need help with transportation, accessing healthcare, and managing financial and legal responsibilities. When living with family, these essentials are aided by family caregivers; if in supported or assisted living, an agency might provide for these needs. There are also autistic adults who are living autonomously or are unhoused, and are not receiving any supports (Stone et al., 2023). The literature is for the most part silent on dementia-related supports for this group, except for noting the social care challenges experienced by communities when confronted with unhoused adults. What can be learned from the research on caregiving for autistic adults can be translated to providing care when dementia becomes an issue.

7.1.1 Respite and home-based supports.

It has been suggested that about 80% of autistic adults live at home and receive support from a family caregiver and that many unpaid caregivers require assistance when continuing to care for autistic adults either living within or in the community (Autism Speaks, 2023). Duker et al. (2022) in a study of caregivers of autistic adults (but absent dementia) found seven key themes as challenges: (1) finding a primary care provider; (2) patient-provider communication; (3) anxiety due to unpredictability, an overstimulating sensory environment, and waiting time; (4) participation of consumers in the healthcare process; (5) stigma and assumptions about autism; (6) caregiver experiences; and (7) the impact of culture and ethnicity on care. Bagatell et al., (2023) via a similar effort isolated three themes reported by caregivers: (1) managing daily living needs, (2) obtaining services and supports, and (3) providing invisible supports.

With respect to caregiver health concerns, Warreman et al. (2023) found that caregivers of autistic adults reported more stress (OR 3.61, 95% CI 2.60–4.99), greater anxiety (OR 1.85, 95% CI 1.37–2.49), and depressive disorders (OR 1.83, 95% CI 1.17–2.86) than among "non-autism-caregivers." Warreman et al. concluded that such "autism-caregivers" had worse psychological health than non-autism-caregivers and speculated that "autism-caregivers" might be associated with an altered immune balance. They noted that there was inherent higher caregiver strain in autism-caregivers compared to other (non-autism) caregivers and called for increased supports to be made available to "autism-caregiving." Studies have also examined means of relieving stress and building capabilities for continued caregiving. For example, Romero-Martinez et al., (2017) studied a group of 17 parents (mean age of 52 years, 59% females) of autistic adults who had cared for their offspring (13 males and 4 females) for approximately 14 years and found that proper support and respite services can help caregivers cope with and reduce stress. They recommended that professionals interfacing with autistic adults and their caregivers should seek means to reduce barriers and augment pathways for effective service utilization.

Marsack and Hopp (2019) noted that the provision of care may be complicated for many aging parents of autistic adults due to their own social isolation and exclusion, as well as challenges associated with accessing support services. They also reported that parents often experience problems with their informal social support networks due to misunderstandings of autism by families, friends, and co-workers who did not know what to expect from an autistic adult. Further, aging parents of autistic adults often experience declining health, as well as shrinking informal social support systems, while caregiver burden remains constant or increases. With respect specifically to the health of family caregivers, Marsack and Hopp also found that when

the interaction between the health of the caregiver and the frequency of available social support was higher, caregiver difficulties experienced were significantly fewer. In another study, Marsack and Samuel (2017) reported the need to support aging parents of autistic adults through enhancing their informal social support networks.

Offering respite care services (one significant support) to provide temporary relief for caregivers has been noted as essential, as caring for individuals with complex needs can be physically and emotionally taxing. Respite, a time of relief from supervision and personal care, is often an essential service for caregivers of adults with significant behavioral or personal care needs, particularly if an autistic adult also has an ID. Graetz (2010) reported that respite may be hampered by a lack of available formal support for caregivers and limited opportunities for autistic family members in socialization, employment, and residential living, especially for those caring for adults most severely affected functionally. She also reported that in addition to respite, caregivers of autistic adults often have a need for information regarding financial planning, life-long planning, and learning about ways to advocate for their family members. Caregivers, she noted, often preferred informal support (e.g., a friend to talk to) to the formal support provided by professionals. Connecting such caregivers with support networks and resources, including informal ones, is helpful in addressing these needs. With respect to peer-to-peer approaches, Foley and Trollor (2015) cited the important function of support groups, a model used successfully in the dementia care system (Grässel et al., 2010).

Despite the need for respite care services and other supports for those caring for autistic adults with behavioral or health complexities, there are challenges and barriers present to obtaining needed supports and services (Gerhardt & Lainer, 2011; Mason, Ingham, et al., 2021). Challenges, such as the availability and afford-ability of services, have been well-documented in the literature and are found to pose difficulties for family caregivers (Marsack-Topolewski & Weisz, 2020). Coping strategies of caregivers in lifelong caregiving situations of autistic adults were examined by Marsack-Topolewski and Wilson (2021), who found that most parents used at least one coping strategy, with some sharing multiple strategies. These strategies were encompassed by several themes, including faith/spirituality, physical activity/fitness, self-focused coping, work, acceptance, reliance on social support, and barriers to coping.

In summary, research addressing the caregiving needs of autistic adults with dementia is lacking, with most studies focusing on caregiving factors for autistic adults living at home or in supervised settings. The challenges faced by family caregivers, agencies, and the unhoused autistic population have not been extensively explored, particularly concerning dementia-related supports. Limited studies highlight the psychological strain experienced by caregivers of autistic adults, calling for increased support and respite services. Additionally, the provision of care is complicated for aging parents due to social isolation, declining health, and limited informal support networks. Caregivers of autistic adults with dementia face significant challenges, including healthcare access, stigma, psychological strain, their own declining health, and limited informal support networks. Studies emphasize the importance of respite care, social support networks, and coping strategies for caregivers. However, barriers to accessing these supports, such as availability and affordability, remain significant obstacles (Han et al., 2021). Further research is needed to better understand and address the unique caregiving needs of this population. Overall, there is a need for increased support and resources to alleviate caregiver burden and improve the well-being of both caregivers and autistic adults if dementia is present.

7.1.2 Environmental design.

A factor in facilitating caregiving into older age is the physical design of family homes or other types of dwellings. It has been noted that while the capacity and resilience of caregivers is a primary factor, how well-suited is the family home's built environment is equally important, particularly for older autistic adults (Graetz, 2010). Nagib and Williams (2017) reported that physical, social, and psychological challenges affect

the quality of life in the home and home modifications can aid in alleviating these challenges. Their work encompassed examining three housing types – detached houses, attached houses, and apartments – and how they accommodate autism-related needs. Although their study involved autistic children, many of their recommendations also apply to dementia-proofing housing for autistic adults with dementia. They noted that family home environmental assessments are one of the areas contributing to supportive caregiving and that there were several key areas where a home assessment has relevance and value. These include (a) checking for environmental factors (such as noise, bright light, cluttering, room temperature, and smell) which may cause distraction, restlessness, or the inability to sit and focus; (b) safety-related modifications (such as use of locks or alarms on doors and windows); and (c) organizing spaces and decluttering to mitigate distractions. They also considered the environmental and physical space challenges inherent when living in an apartment or attached home unit.

With respect to home assessment instruments, Ruiz-Rodrigo et al. (2023) reviewed seven home environment-related assessment tools that can be used in the identification of environment-related difficulties and home-based caregiving with autistic persons, and Struckmeyer et al. (2021) reviewed 33 distinct assessment instruments, including those evaluating the accessibility of home modifications, examining usability, addressing activities of daily living or functional activities, and addressing comfort and/or satisfaction. On a practical level, the 'Home Safety Checklist for Alzheimer's Disease' (National Institute on Aging, 2017) in the U.S., 'Making your environment safe' (Alzheimer Society of Canada, 2024), and 'Keeping safe at home' (Alzheimer's Society, 2024), and 'Making home safe and comfortable for someone with dementia' (Dementia UK, 2023) in the United Kingdom, and a practical environmental analysis instrument in use in Italy and noted by Alzheimer Trento ODV (Chiogna & Dalprà, 2009; De Vreese et al., 2012) are resources using a household model of design that have been cited as useful to identifying potential environmental hazards.

7.1.3 Caregiving.

Compound caregiving. Another area, unstudied, is the fact that many parents continue caring for their autistic adult, who is dependent upon them, for as long as physically possible (Palerino, 2023). However, as parents age, many also may have to provide care for another relative, such as a spouse, or parent. Marshak-Topolewski and Weisz (2020) studied such compound caregiving (i.e., providing care for multiple persons) on six dimensions of quality of life (enjoys life, life is meaningful, ability to concentrate, accepts bodily appearance, satisfied with self, and frequency of negative feelings) and found that such compound caregivers are often less able to concentrate and had fewer negative feelings than non-compound caregivers.

Partner caregiving. Another area germane to this report, yet unstudied, is spousal or partner caregiving among couples when one is autistic and is experiencing cognitive decline. A report of NIH Pre-Summit Workgroup on Caregiving and Intellectual/Developmental Disabilities (Heller et al., 2018) noted that most adults with developmental disabilities, which would include those with autism, and who are less functionally independent live with parents—many of whom provide lifelong caregiving. These caregivers are usually experienced with accessing long-term services and supports, including family supports and various models of residential supports (e.g., group homes, supported living); however, they may not always find that public services are adapted for dementia care (Research Institute, 2024).

This lifelong caregiving will contrast to the *assumed* caregiving in spousal/partner caregiving situations. In these situations, a different dynamic may predominate. Millar-Powell and Warburton (2020) examined adult 'coupling' relationships where one partner has autism and the other does not and found that relationship satisfaction was lower among the neurotypical partners than among those with autism They reported that 'caregiver burden' was comparatively high and negatively related to relationship satisfaction and that several key themes identified included caregiver burden, loneliness, and self-care within relationships. Much work in the general population has focused on the impact on marital relationships following the diagnosis of one partner with dementia in the general population (e.g., Colby et al., 2022; Williams, 2015).

Research is recently emerging with respect to couples with a neuroatypical condition, but necessarily involving dementia-related caregiving. Jacobs et al. (2023) undertook a review of existing work related to couples and noted that most extant work existed with respect to ID, and in particular Down syndrome, and identified diverse ways that care and support in relationships among partners, staff, and other family members was approached. They reported that support could act as a facilitator as well as a barrier to people and their relationships. While the lives of couples in general affected by aging-related conditions appeared to remain largely private, couples with ID had a high involvement of staff and family members in their lives. Jacobs et al. delved into the notions related to reciprocity in relationships and noted that reciprocity among people with intellectual disability is not always contingent upon equal exchange. They reported also, as a couple's abilities change, they might need others to take the initiative in creating possibilities for inclusion and participation. Also, with respect to dementia, they posited that in relation to couples with ID where one partner has dementia, this might translate into a risk that the partner without dementia is not recognized and supported in their caring role.

In what may be a sentinel study, Watchman et al. (2024) considered the experiences of couples with ID when one partner was living with dementia. Conducting in depth interviews with several couples with ID when one partner had dementia, they found that the starting point for most couples with ID will be different to that of couples in the population generally. The emotional impact of a dementia diagnosis, planning for the future and fear of separation was noted by couples with intellectual disability. Partners took on caring roles thus challenging views of being solely care-receivers. Their families spoke of the couples' commitment and longevity in relationships, whilst social care staff highlighted how their own information needs changed, recognizing the importance of ID and dementia-specific knowledge. Watchman (2024) reported that several dementia-related dynamics emerged from the discussions with the couples, included a need for assistance with caregiving, finding alternative housing for the adult affected by dementia (when care needs exceeded the partner's capacities), explaining the dementia diagnosis and its implications, providing counseling, assumed decision-making, and coping with BPSDs by the able partner. In such situations, families and staff who provide support needed to be sensitive to the previous experience and life story of each couple, have specific knowledge of how dementia can affect people with ID, and be sensitive to their perceptions of what they are experiencing. While no specific literature exists on caregiving for autism and dementia or autism/ID and dementia in these couple/partner caregiving situations, it is reasonable to assume that similar supports would be needed to be extended to care supports as with neurotypical couples or couples with ID, while also providing focused counsel on the special nature of decline and dementia related supports related to autism.

In summary, research on spousal or partner caregiving for autistic individuals experiencing cognitive decline is lacking. Most adults with developmental disabilities, including autism, rely on lifelong caregiving primarily from parents. However, when it comes to spousal/partner caregiving, a different dynamic emerges, with potential challenges such as caregiver burden and loneliness. While research in the general population has explored the impact of dementia on marital relationships, studies on couples with neuroatypical conditions, particularly autism and dementia, are scarce. Existing literature on couples with ID, especially Down syndrome, highlights the importance of support in relationships but lacks specific focus on dementia-related caregiving. Recent studies examining couples with ID facing dementia reveal emotional impacts, challenges in planning for the future, and shifts in caregiving dynamics. These findings emphasize the need for tailored support and dementia-specific knowledge for couples with neuroatypical conditions facing cognitive decline. While no specific literature addresses autism and dementia caregiving in couple/partner situations, insights from existing research can inform support strategies tailored to the unique needs of these individuals and their caregivers.

7.1.4 Imparting knowledge.

Educating family members, life partners, and other carers about the specific needs of individuals with autism and dementia is vital. Education should cover effective communication strategies, behavioral management techniques, an understanding of the progression of dementia and interventions that support well-being while living with dementia such as physical activity, mental and social engagement, nutritional encouragement, sleep and stress management and health maintenance interventions such as vaccines and chronic disease management. With the presence of dementia, decisions on the extent of involvement will determine the nature of the support services put in place. In addition to specific training topics tailored to provide support to family members and caregivers, training designed to support caregiver health and wellness, as well as self-care is essential. This could be undertaken by an adaptation of the WHO Caregiver Skills Training Program for Developmental Disorders or Delays as applied for caregivers of autistic adults (Salomone et al., 2019).

Educational processes for family caregivers of autistic adults were examined by (Stone-Heaberlin et al., 2024) who reported perceptions of satisfaction and knowledge gained were lower for participants of virtually held classes regardless of class topic or instructor. The reported lower levels of acceptability for virtually based classes were consistent with instructor anecdotal feedback which noted that participants in virtual classes appeared less engaged, made fewer comments, and asked fewer questions. While virtually held classes may be logistically easier for some families, the authors posited that in-person classes may hold more value overall. Pacione (2022) reported that training on caregiver-mediated interventions, when presented via telehealth, is acceptable and feasible, and associated with similar positive outcomes as live face-to-face training. Telehealth innovations, which progressed during the COVID-19 pandemic, demonstrated advantages over inperson delivery of services in terms of safety, cost effectiveness, and increased accessibility. The author noted that caregiver skills training interventions for autism that were adapted or designed for telehealth delivery, were scalable, adaptable, caregiver-mediated, open-access, and delivered as part of a stepped care model. The author reported its utility in addressing the global treatment gap for families of children with autism and other neurodevelopmental disabilities.

In summary, educating family members and caregivers about the specific needs of individuals with autism and dementia is crucial, encompassing communication strategies, behavioral management, understanding dementia progression, and interventions promoting well-being. Decision-making regarding caregiver involvement shapes support services. Training programs should address both caregiving skills and caregiver health. Research suggests that virtually held classes for caregivers of autistic adults yield lower satisfaction and knowledge gains compared to in-person classes. However, telehealth-based training on caregiver-mediated interventions is feasible and effective, providing scalability, adaptability, and accessibility, particularly beneficial during the COVID-19 pandemic. These telehealth interventions address the global treatment gap for families of autistic adults and other neurodevelopmental disabilities.

Commentary on respite, caregiving, and training. With respect to caregiving for older autistic adults, diverse support needs emerge during later-life years, ranging from minimal assistance to extensive caregiving, whether at home or in supervised housing. Caregivers grapple with a myriad of challenges, as studies have revealed hurdles in finding primary care providers, navigating patient-provider communication, managing anxiety, combating stigma, and contending with the cultural and ethnic dimensions of dementia related care. The mental health toll on these caregivers is substantial, with elevated levels of stress, anxiety, and depressive disorders compared to their non-autism counterparts. Recognizing the significance of respite care, which provides vital temporary relief for caregivers facing the physical and emotional strains of tending to those with complex needs, is important. Also, is the shift towards connecting caregivers with aging-related support networks and resources, prioritizing informal support networks over formal assistance from professionals. Aging parents of autistic adults confront a host of challenges, including social isolation, difficulties accessing support

services, declining health, and diminishing informal social support systems. The unique situation of compound caregivers, juggling care responsibilities for multiple relatives, introduces additional complexities, impacting concentration and overall quality of life. Professionals must grapple with service access challenges, acknowledging issues of availability and affordability that hinder family caregivers. Further, consideration of various welfare models' impacts on how nations frame service delivery, financing, and outcomes, may reflect distinct approaches to how services and support for autistic adults and aid families are provided. Lastly, the enduring commitment of many parents to care for their adult offspring with autism underscores the neglected domain of compound caregiving, a facet that remains understudied and significantly affects caregivers' quality of life.

7.2 Housing and dementia care planning

While we have focused on relief from dementia caregiving in living-at-home situations, there are other options. Generic options include memory care facilities and assisted living settings. Memory care facilities share many of the same features as assisted living, including apartment-style accommodations, common areas, and communal meals. However, memory care facilities provide a more specialized form of assisted living and generally are more secure for adults with dementia who wander (Russell, 2023). Options associated with the disability care community might include residing in supported living, such as dementia-capable apartments or group homes, which would offer staff support and supervision and specialized dementia care for adults. There is a rich body of research literature on these dementia care settings and their dynamics for adults with ID (e.g., Janicki, 2007, 2011; McCarron et al., 2013), as well as older adults (Kobayashi et al., 2008), but this literature does not extend specifically to dementia care housing for autistic adults. Information on group homes for autistic adults that may accommodate older autistic adults stems from the provider sector (e.g., Easter Seals, 2024; Golden Steps ABA, 2023; Research Institute, 2024; Zauderer, 2023).

One report from the United Kingdom addressed dementia-related residential care within the broader issue of 'residential services' and autism (Crompton et al., 2020). The authors noted the dearth of research relating to older autistic adults and residential care and reported on their efforts to conduct a multi-meeting effort to chart current best practice and identify key questions in residential care for older autistic adults (modeled on 'elder care'). Their effort cited a consensus on ten key topics for consideration in autism-related residential care, including (a) managing transitions into residential care; (b) training on autism for residential care staff; (c) recognizing and respecting autistic differences, and understanding autistic well-being; (d) supporting physical health; (e) attending to the sensory environment and sensory processing; (f) adhering to dementia care design principles, (g) creating a sense of community and belonging; (h) offering autonomy and choice; (i) ensuring the inclusion of advocacy; and (j) continually evaluating care quality. Acknowledging the lack of evidence-based knowledge in provision of out-of-home dementia care for older autistic adults. The findings of Crompton et al., recommended the undertaking of a longitudinal study of autistic old age and of transition into residential care is needed to provide key information about current practice and to identify points in time and place where the lives of older autistic people would benefit from appropriate adaptations.

As group homes have become a prevalent vehicle for *ad hoc* community care of singular adults affected by dementia, many are being adapted to make them 'dementia capable' (lacono et al., 2013; Janicki et al., 2005; Kerr, 1997; De Vreese et al., 2012). In general, such small group residences, usually resembling private homes or apartments, provide lodging and supervised care for a small group of persons with special needs (Janicki, 2011). Within the past twenty years or so, group homes have also become viable alternatives for long-term care of older adults with ID affected by neuropathologies, such as dementia (Chaput, 2002; Janicki et al., 2002; McCarron et al., 2002, 2005), as well as from the population at-large (Funaki et al., 2005). They are staffed by employees who are skilled in working with people with dementia, and the program setting is adapted to accommodate the needs of people with dementia. These homes also provide for safety and care when adults transition to advanced dementia and need end-of-life care (Kobayashi et al., 2008). While the pathway patterns for admission of persons suspected of or affected by dementia may vary (Torr et al., 2010),

the accommodation for and receipt of dementia-related care is a common outcome. This may apply to any number of autistic adults who may wish to be housed in a small group home due to aging-related needs or progressive cognitive impairment and who may need supervised living.

Research is absent on reports of individual autistic adults and adjustments to small group home living. However, it is expected that environmental aspects will play heavily with respect to adaptation to such dementia care settings. Entailed would be influencing features such as characteristics of the living space, such as the number of residents per living area, the layout of the circulation system (for ambulation), the characteristics of the public spaces, the programmatic use of the common spaces and dining areas, and environmental adaptations to address sound and lighting (van Hoof et al., 2010). As the environment plays a significant role in how residents with autism will act and function, sensory accommodations are important (Tola et al., 2021). When housing autistic adults with dementia, accommodations should be made for control for sensory overload, socialization demands, and any other features within the home that may lead to perceptual discomfort or routines.

Another important feature in ensuring accommodations for autism in housing settings is environmental assessments. Several writers have reported that physical settings for individuals living with dementia should be examined for associations between designed features within the built environment and outcomes of interest (Black et al., 2022; Calkins et al., 2022; Mangeli et al., 2023a, 2023b; Tola et al., 2021). This would particularly apply for settings for autistic adults and living with dementia. In using environment assessments, writers have parsed such assessments into those that examine the social environment (i.e., therapeutic aspects, staff performance, person-centeredness, etc.) and those that examine the physical environment (i.e., built aspects, barrier-free designs, sensory adaptations, etc.) Housing programs need to reconsider the living environments based on the specific needs of people who function in an atypical way (Black et al., 2022; Tola et al., 2021).

Black et al. (2022) reported that design and construction, lighting, sound, aesthetics, temperature, and air quality are all factors when considering the built environment for autistic adults. They also noted that while in its preliminary stages, evidence demonstrating the impact that qualities of light, color, sound, and spatial planning have on the human sensorium is emerging. Mangili et al. (2023b) also cited scale (i.e., size) as a factor if housing transition is involved, and the minimization of losses in cognition (including visual memory, image recognition, the cognitive decline) and stabilization of global cognitive functioning, if the settings are designed for a small group. With specifics in mind, Tola et al. defined spatial criteria for the design of an autism-friendly built environment that would include a minimization of sensory stimuli (especially acoustic ones) within the environment. These setting characteristics would provide for a low arousal environment which would minimize stimuli and details is one of the main requirements linked to the altered sensory processing in autistic adults, particularly focused on low visual, acoustic, and smell stimuli. They also defined the setting as providing for adequate transition between spaces in which autistic adults are exposed to different sensory experiences (to avoid sensory overload and to support the tasks of processing and integrating sensory information). There should be quiet spaces that allow for retreat and prevent sensory overload and be designed following a well-defined set of spatial requirements to be comfortable and calming. Tola et al. also proposed that the built environment be "intelligible," that is, it must have a simple spatial layout, facilitate orientation, and promote predictability (as a clear and simple spatial layout helps with navigating the space independently and with ease).

Another consideration is that the setting has visual relationships among all components of the space and thus can provide the residents with an overall view of the surroundings to help them navigate the space with ease. Lastly, Tola et al. reported that the settings should have predictability and routine so that the spatial structure can contribute enhanced predictability and mitigate unexpected situations which may be problematic for autistic adults living with dementia. This would be enhanced by visual aids (i.e., the use of specific

pictures, pictograms, colors, or small sentences) to indicate functions of different spaces to help the residents interact appropriately with their environment. For example, wayfinding via the use of signs to help the residents navigate the space independently and with ease. With all these factors in mind, there are several tools available for assessing housing settings for compliance with these environmental requirements (cf. Black et al., 2022; Tola et al. 2021)

Related to caregiving at home, but more importantly in out-of-home care settings is dementia care planning. Care settings for dementia can range from agency-overseen small dementia care group homes, assisted living, memory residential centers, and senior housing. Regardless of care setting, having a dementia care plan is something that will aid in planning and providing individualized services and supports. Providing a well-thought-out plan for organizing services and supports for an autistic adult living with dementia, whether at home, with mates, or in a dementia capable setting is important. Such plans need to account for the person's choices and needs, as well as their existing capabilities. Also considered must be duration and expectations of dementia in terms of the type of dementia, the person's co-incident conditions, and emotional and physical health, diet, and physical care needs. Such plans can reflect formal planning within care organizations or *informal planning* among caregivers related to how to best provide support for someone in their home. Many Alzheimer's or dementia support organizations (Alzheimer's Association, 2024; Alzheimer's Society, 2024) and governmental ministries (Singapore MoH, 2013) have provided useful guides for informal planning. Vinay and Biller-Andorno (2023) noted that national dementia care plans should cover informal planning, with particular attention to advanced dementia. National planning initiatives concerning caregivers' needs, including those of autistic adults, must include promoting shared decision-making, active family involvement in creating care plans and futures planning, and strategies and means for providing support to family caregivers of persons with dementia.

Such planning has been explored by various sectors, including one developed for use with adults with developmental disabilities, the 'Addressing Brain Health in Adults with Intellectual Disabilities and Developmental Disabilities Companion of the KAER Tool Kit for Primary Care Teams' (GSA, 2024). Given that dementia care planning should consider the diagnosis of the autistic adult's type of dementia, current function, and abilities as well as anticipated trajectory (duration and nature of decline) a roadmap can be helpful when determining post-diagnostic supports and services. There are various formal planning kits or roadmaps available based upon clinical best-practices, as well as those which are used for assessing compliance with respect to regulatory requirements (NTG, 2023a; 2023b) for persons with ID, but none that specifically structure a dementia care plan for autistic adults. One, designed for adults with ID and related conditions, potentially can be adapted internationally for use in dementia care planning situations involving autistic adults (GSA, 2024).

In summary, research has recognized the need for alternative living arrangements for older autistic adults, such as dementia-capable apartments or group homes. While existing literature primarily addresses dementia care for individuals with ID, there's a lack of research on similar housing options for autistic adults with dementia. Although guides for adults with developmental disabilities can offer insights, resources specifically tailored to autistic adults are lacking. Adapting group homes for dementia care may benefit autistic adults, but environmental factors must address sensory needs and discomfort. Dementia care planning, essential for all settings, must be individualized, considering diagnosis, function, and anticipated decline. Efforts to bridge this gap underscore the need for tailored support and staff training, sensory environment considerations, and ongoing care quality evaluation. Longitudinal studies are suggested to enhance understanding and identify optimal interventions. Additionally, dementia care planning is crucial, with existing toolkits potentially being able to serve as valuable resources for adapting plans to the unique needs of autistic adults with dementia.

7.3 Behavioral distress management

Addressing distressing behaviors requires a non-pharmacological approach, emphasizing positive behavioral support. Modifying the environment to reduce stressors, providing structured routines, and examination of the internal environment (pain, infection, thirst/hunger, GI disruption, etc.) can be effective. Most of the evidence suggests that a significant subgroup of autistic individuals demonstrates GI abnormalities and that GI issues can contribute to the clinical manifestations of autism-associated symptoms, including abnormal behavior, immune dysregulation, and metabolic dysfunction (Hsiao, 2014). Cited also is that significant chronic illnesses, stemming from infections during the COVID-19 pandemic, can have deleterious effects on tolerance of symptoms and may lead to post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in some instances. Such reactive symptoms may lead to behavioral distress and may be misdiagnosed (LeBlanc, 2024).

Foley and Trollor (2015) noted that service provision for autistic individuals is dominated by pediatric services, while adult services are reported to be inadequate. Barriers to service access and appropriate care for autistic adults include inadequate training and awareness in health professionals, diagnostic overshadowing, lack of specific autism mental health services, and a lack of coordination and communication between agencies. This may be more acute as an issue when dementia is involved, and caregivers are challenged by BPSDs. Foley and Trollor (2015) undertook a survey of primary care physicians who reported that they would like more training in caring for autistic adults. They reported that a high degree (23%) of physicians reported never having any autism-specific training, highlighting the unmet need for training in developmental disabilities in undergraduate and postgraduate medical courses.

Post-diagnostic supports for mental health concerns were examined by Mills et al. (2023) to determine whether there were differences in the provision of non-pharmacological interventions based on the level of ID and the presence or absence of autism. In many countries, adults with a notable ID (with or without autism), receive mental health services from specialist ID professionals, but for those with autism and co-incident mild ID such services are often sourced from generic mental health services providers rather than specialist ID services. Mills et al. (2023) found that in the UK specialty providers tend to focus on assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of those with severe to moderate ID (with or absent autism), with the primary modalities being alternatives to pharmacological interventions, such as behavior management strategies and positive behavior support plans. Conversely, psychological treatments were generally the focus on adults with mild ID (and autism). Mills et al. were concerned that a focus on behavior support plans primarily overlooked specific features of autism that warranted a different focus. They concluded that as autistic adults with ID are at significantly higher risk of significant mental health comorbidities (such as schizophrenia and other non-mood psychotic disorders, mood/affective disorders, and anxiety disorders), the focus of non-pharmacological intervention using primarily positive behavior support plans was problematic. They noted, "considering the heterogeneous nature of autism and the additional complexity that ID and mental health comorbidities bring, it is somewhat simplistic to attempt to meet the needs of this population using positive behavior support plans alone."

Several models have evolved that try to understand the needs of autistic people (e.g., strengths and needs frameworks) using thinking pattern profiles that might have more value. Tollerfield et al. (2021) noted that appreciating autistic neurodiversity is important when supporting autistic people who experience distress. Specifically, use of a profiling model can reveal less visible autistic differences, including strengths and abilities. From a clinical perspective of autism, as a multi-dimensional and inter-connected construct, there may be implications for planning support and building positive self-understanding. Thus, individually tailored adjustments and support strategies may be identified more easily after delineating variables found across four core aspects: sensory coherence, flexible thinking, perspective-taking, and regulation.

In summary, addressing distressing behaviors in autistic individuals necessitates a non-pharmacological approach, focusing on positive behavioral support strategies such as modifying environments, establishing structured routines, providing family and staff training, and addressing internal factors like pain or gastrointestinal disruptions. Research suggests a significant association between GI abnormalities and autism-associated symptoms, indicating the need for comprehensive care addressing physical and behavioral aspects. However, challenges persist in service provision for autistic adults, with pediatric services dominating and barriers including inadequate training and diagnostic overshadowing. Post-diagnostic mental health supports vary based on ID levels and the presence of autism, with concerns raised regarding the reliance on behavior support plans alone. Understanding autistic neurodiversity through profiling models is proposed to facilitate tailored support strategies, emphasizing individual strengths and needs across sensory coherence, flexible thinking, perspective-taking, and regulation. Efforts to improve care for autistic individuals require holistic approaches that encompass both physical and behavioral dimensions while acknowledging the complexity and diversity within the autistic population.

7.4 Health management

7.4.1 Health care access equity.

Autistic people experience significant health disparities and reduced life expectancy. Barriers to accessing healthcare are associated with adverse health outcomes. Autism training and healthcare professionals' knowledge about autism is variable, and heterogeneity among autistic people leads to additional educational and clinical complexities (Doherty, McCowan, & Shaw, 2023). Thus, autism remains nebulous for many practitioners, who are unclear about communication differences, access needs or life experiences common to autistic people. Malik-Soni et al. (2022) recognize that most autistic individuals do not have adequate access to the care required to address their diverse health needs. They note myriad reasons for this, including barriers to healthcare access in early developmental years (shortage/cost of services, physician awareness, and stigma) and barriers encountered with diagnosis (limited screening/diagnosis and unclear referral pathways). They also note problems inherent from the transition of health care responsibilities from pediatric health to adult medicine, often resulting in insufficient healthcare transition services and suboptimal physician awareness of healthcare needs. Similar barriers exist during adulthood (such as, shortage of services/limited insurance, communication difficulties with physicians, and limited awareness of healthcare needs of aging adults). A number of these factors may present as inhibitors for the communication of self-perceived decline or entry into MCI or early-stage dementia among autistic adults. Sonido et al. (2020) noted that for autistic adults, the challenges are twofold: they may face autism-specific effects of aging as well as other non-specific age-related effects experienced by the general population.

Inequity factors. Mason (2022) in examining the challenges accessing or maintaining adequate health care among older adults reported several factors, including *geographic density* (citing a 'urbanicity' [Vlahov & Galea, 2002] bias as a factor in healthcare inequity), with those adults living in rural areas less able to access appropriate healthcare. Living in rural areas can impede access to adequate healthcare, including long waits, service shortage, and travel time). Conversely, urban areas may have more health care resources, but also more competition for appointments and routine health care. Another factor, he noted, was *awareness of autism* among caregivers or autistic individuals (where lower socioeconomic families may be more unmindful and less likely to spot neurodevelopmental conditions), and the *dearth of research* into the healthcare needs of autistic adults. Malik-Soni et al. (2022) noted that many healthcare professionals report a lack of training about autism and lack confidence to manage the care of autistic patients.

A recent report on 'Autism in Canada' highlighted the inequities faced by underserved groups of autistic adults, including those from diverse ethno-cultural, linguistic, and gender communities (Canadian Academy of Health Sciences, 2022). As occurs in many countries, while each province and territory offers diagnostic

and support services for autism, there is significant variability in availability, leading to delays and disparities in service receipt. The report emphasized that certain autistic individuals, particularly those in rural and remote areas, equity-seeking groups, and adults, are particularly disadvantaged. In Canada, the responsibility for planning and delivering health and social services lies with the provinces and territories, often spanning multiple ministries. However, existing provincial legislation or plans for autism tend to focus primarily on childhood, leaving autistic adults underserved. Moreover, the presence of physical and mental health conditions can exacerbate challenges in daily activities. Regarding inequity, the report highlighted that many autistic adults lack access to essential healthcare services such as family doctors, dental care, and mental health services. Additionally, publicly-funded, locally-available, and culturally-responsive diagnostic and support services for autis-tic adults are virtually nonexistent in Canada. This dearth of support is compounded by a lack of professionals, therapists, and service providers with expertise in adult autism across the health, education, and social services sectors.

As reported by Hand et al. (2020), older autistic adults have a greater prevalence of nearly all physical health conditions, including epilepsy, Parkinson's disease, and gastrointestinal conditions, as well as mental health conditions, such as schizophrenia and psychotic disorders, attention deficit disorders, personality disorders, and suicidality or self-inflicted injury. As they age, they also have many common geriatric health conditions (e.g., osteoporosis, cognitive disorders, heart disease, cancer, cerebrovascular disease, osteoarthritis). The rate of occurrence of these conditions calls for greater involvement by the health care community, both in terms of early diagnosis, prophylaxis, and appropriate treatment. Yet, as noted by numerous authors, significant barriers exist to bring this to reality.

One study (Vogan et al., 2017) examined issues related to healthcare access for autistic adults and found that the family doctor was the most accessed source, and that the most common barrier was knowing where to find help and navigating the health system. Their study also found that some half of the study participants reported negative experiences with health professionals. Dern and Sappok (2016) spoke to barriers inherent in accessing health care, such as 'making appointments', 'waiting area', 'communication', and 'examination.' Shaw et al. (2023) working with autistic adults gleaned personal perceptions of barriers and interactions with health professionals, and found the adults reported a variety of barriers. The emerging themes included early barriers; communication mismatches; doubt (in oneself and from doctors); helplessness and fear; and healthcare avoidance and adverse health outcomes.

Psychological and physical processes. Shaw et al. (2023) reported that such *early barriers* included experiencing specific challenges interpreting internal bodily sensations to be able to decide if medical attention was needed; differences in pain thresholds/interpretation; with needing an appointment, challenges with contacting healthcare services to make one (such as challenges with making phone calls), when getting an appointment anxiety over lack of predictability (not knowing what to expect and sensory overstimulation) and needing to use public transportation to get to their doctor. These findings were echoed by Dern and Sappok (2016) and Mazurek et al. (2023) who also reported study participants describing barriers to obtaining services, including scheduling logistics, costs and inadequate insurance coverage, and transportation barriers.

Kartoz et al. (2022) also raised the challenges presented by not being able to explain what may be presenting health problems while at the medical appointment. Shaw et al. (2023) characterized this barrier as *community mismatches* – such 'mismatches' included anxiety and mistreatment in relation to communication with receptionists, struggling with idioms (such as being told to 'sit tight' for a referral letter), and experiencing misunderstandings when communicating with physicians and other healthcare staff. Weir et al. (2022) also reported that autistic adults are far less likely than non-autistic adults to report being able to describe their symptoms, understand what their healthcare professional means, or bring up a healthcare concern if not prompted by a healthcare professional. They are also over twice as likely as non-autistic adults to report not asking all the questions they would like when meeting with a healthcare professional.

Characteristically, some autistic adults may evidence 'doubt.' Mason et al. (2023) noted this dynamic among some autistic adults who experience repeated adverse events, including rejection, victimization, and stigmatization and who described others being critical and negatively judging them, such as for how they socially interact or for expressing passion for particular interests. They reported that the impact of these adverse events can be substantial, including increasing vulnerability for poorer mental health, and contributing to development of negative self-beliefs (such as "I am different" or "I do not fit in") and shame-based difficulties. Shaw et al. (2023) found that many adults experienced self-doubt and pre-empted guilt (such as feeling that they are a nuisance) or from doctors (feeling guilty for wasting their time). These worries were reinforced by feelings of a lack of understanding about the possible implications of different symptoms. They also reported experiencing more negative relationships with their doctors, which fed into their perceptions of healthcare barriers experienced; feeling that their physicians disliked them for misinterpreting their very precise words, feeling as it their physician didn't help to relieve their anxiety because they could not convince the doctor to accept their priorities; feeling that this led to negative relationships and to their perceived questioning of their credibility as people and fostered a sense of frustration at their health concerns not being believed. One aspect is when their PCP sees their autism diagnosis, stops listening, and attributes their physical health concerns to their autism or anxiety (an example of repeated 'diagnostic overshadowing'). Some of this may be attributed to, as Weir et al. (2022) noted, many autistic adults reporting not being able to describe how their symptoms, pain, or sensory sensitivities feel in their body to healthcare professionals. Autistic adults are also often more likely than non-autistic adults to report sensory overload related to the healthcare environment, and that frequent sensory overload makes it difficult to focus on conversations with healthcare professionals.

'Helplessness and fear' was another factor. Shaw et al. (2023) found that many autistic adults reported being frustrated after reaching out for help to find none available, which compounded their experiences of doubt and left them feeling despondent. They felt that the medical system could not, or would not, be able to support their needs and that after never being diagnosed or getting any helpful treatment, they had feelings of 'it was a waste of time.' They also reported that their experiences with hospital waiting lists and tokenistic mental health services made them feel as if going to see a PCP seemed futile. Mazurek et al. (2023) also noted that autistic adults they interviewed emphasized that adverse aspects of interactions with PCPs affected their health care experiences. Featherstone et al. (2022) noted gender identification as a barrier to access and that female and nonbinary autistic adults perceived being more misinterpreted by staff and not being taken seriously compared to autistic males. This is supported by the work of Koffer Miller et al. (2022) who found that autistic adults identifying as women or 'other' gender experienced more barriers and unmet healthcare needs.

Lastly, the theme of *healthcare avoidance* was notable, where prior negative experiences dissuaded respondents from future contact with healthcare providers. Shaw et al. reported that some said that some felt so disrespected by healthcare professionals and thus would rather bear discomfort than setting themselves up for ridicule. Many just gave up with the result of a complete inability to access healthcare. The reality is that there is sizable inequality in healthcare access and provision for autistic adults. Weir et al. (2022) reported that autistic adults are more likely to have chronic health conditions alongside self-reported lower quality healthcare than others and that health inequalities between these groups are widespread and dramatic. Unfortunately, they indicated that this existed before and has persisted after the onset of the 2019 coronavirus pandemic.

Many autistic adults attempting to access healthcare may be competing for scarce resources such as appointments with non-autistic people who have an advantage. Shaw et al. (2023) posited that the nature of the doctor–patient relationship is the key in guiding the outcome of consultations. A positive relationship will lead to increased satisfaction and perceived improved outcomes. A negative doctor-patient relationship will result in feelings of not being taken seriously and experiences of diagnostic overshadowing. With recurring negative experiences, this can lead to learned helpless states, where autistic adults will develop feelings that

the healthcare system is not able to offer them health care support. Weir et al. (2022) suggested that differences in social communication may contribute to two-way communication difficulties between autistic and non-autistic individuals (such as health care workers). They noted that these challenges stem from healthcare settings, as physicians have previously noted that challenges with communication with patients as well as caregivers can serve as barriers to care. Morris et al. (2019) examined this issue from the perspective of the health care providers caring for autistic adults. Their work highlighted six themes affecting the doctor-patient relationship when treating autistic adults: (1) complexity beyond usual role, (2) limited knowledge and resources, (3) training/prior experience, (4) communication and collaboration, (5) need for information and training, and (6) need for care communication and systemic changes. Morris et al. posited that their findings support research with individuals with autism and their families identifying difficulties accessing knowledgeable providers with autism-relevant skills in effective patient-provider communication and collaboration.

Adapting office space to mitigate inequities. Another remedial factor, suggested by Doherty et al. (2023), is adapting diagnostic clinics and medical spaces for safe use by adults with autism to accommodate their sensory sensitivities. If situational variables affect the diagnostic process for determining presence of dementia they could lead to misdiagnosis. Autistic adults can be sensory avoidant, sensory seeking, or both. Hypo- or hyper-reactivity to any sensory modality is possible and a person's sensory responsiveness can vary depending on circumstances. A 'sensory diet' provides scheduled sensory input which can aid physical and emotional regulation (Dohery et al., 2023). Office and examination space can have adaptations that reduce agita (such as minimizing bright lighting, particularly fluorescent). Visual stimuli which may go unnoticed by non-autistic people, such as the flickering of fluorescent lighting or computer screens, an overhead rotary fan, or highly patterned surfaces, may all cause sensory stress in autistic adults. Many experience auditory sensitivities and auditory processing differences, which may be magnified by dementia. Zwilling and Levy (2022) reported that the use of natural lighting is recommended but avoiding direct sunlight and the use of diffuse light sources to avoid glare - which are preferable to fluorescent lighting (because of the latter's tendency to flicker and emit a low humming sound). They also recommend using simple, non-reflective, and robust materials and textures in furniture and decor. With respect to colors, they recommend using soft, natural colors, with limited color contrasts.

Environmental noise can cause intense distress, particularly when sudden or unexpected. Sounds unnoticed by non-autistic people, such as the humming of electrical equipment, may be perceived by autistic people without 'fade' (where inconsequential sounds are no longer noticed over time). Autistic people may not filter out environmental sounds and therefore may struggle to hear a conversation in a medical office or examination room. As autistic adults are often overly sensitive to smell and may perceive olfactory stimuli that others do not and there are many common and usually inoffensive smells that may be perceived as highly noxious, sensitivity to the presence of smells in a medical setting is important. There are many common and usually inoffensive smells that may be perceived as highly noxious. These accommodations and their rationale are explored in Zwilling and Levy (2022). These factors may be heightened in autistic adults who have early-stage cognitive impairment or have been diagnosed with dementia.

Equity policies. The WHO (2023) has proposed that people with autism require accessible health services for general health-care needs like the rest of the population, including promotive and preventive services and treatment of acute and chronic illness. It also proposes that actions be undertaken to proactively identify and redress disparities in access to services by "implementing strategies for health promotion and prevention of life-long disabilities associated with autism spectrum disorders, by developing and implementing multisectoral approaches for the promotion of health and psychosocial well-being of persons with autism spectrum disorders, the prevention of associated disabilities and co-morbidities, and reduction of stigmatization, discrimination and human rights violations, and that are responsive to specific needs across the lifespan and integrated into the national mental health and health promotion policies" (*p. 4*; WHO, 2014). Malik-Soni et al. (2020) recommended that organizations develop evidence-informed policies, programs, and technologies that

address barriers to healthcare access for autistic individuals and consider broad, equitable implementation to maximize impact. They also noted that the field needs to undertake more in-depth queries about general barriers to accessing healthcare across the lifespan of autistic individuals and examine how to ensure the best use of healthcare resources to improve social, physical, and mental health outcomes. Stakeholders must strengthen healthcare service provision by coming together to better understand healthcare needs of underserved populations and strengthen medical training on health care for autistic individuals.

Walsh et al. (2021) reported that autistic adults face significant disparities in health and physicians often report difficulties in providing care to autistic patients. To improve the quality-of-care autistic individuals receive, it is important to identify the barriers that physicians experience in providing care so that these may be addressed. They developed a preliminary version of a physician-report tool to assess barriers to providing care to autistic patients and suggest that the use of such a tool can help physicians to identify issues specific to different medical specialties and healthcare settings. It will help identify the support that physicians require to recognize and implement the required accommodations and that future research needs to be directed at identifying more clearly the tangible and professional barriers to healthcare provision for autistic patients to aid in producing systemic change in healthcare to improve care experiences and health outcomes for autistic adults. Malik-Soni et al. (2020) also suggested that there is an urgent need for more research investigating long-term access to healthcare, the impact of co-occurring conditions, medication, and cognitive decline related to autistic adults.

In summary, the challenges autistic individuals face in accessing adequate healthcare are multifaceted and deeply impactful. Health disparities and reduced life expectancy are prevalent among this population, exacerbated by barriers to healthcare access and insufficient knowledge among healthcare professionals regarding autism; these serve as a major contributor to adverse health outcomes. The variability in autism training and knowledge among healthcare professionals further complicates matters, particularly given the heterogeneity among autistic individuals. Issues span from early developmental years to adulthood, encompassing challenges with diagnosis, historical problems associated with transitioning between pediatric and adult healthcare, and accessing appropriate care - particularly in older age and with the appearance of later-life cognitive neuropathologies. Older autistic adults face a myriad of physical and mental health conditions yet encounter significant obstacles in receiving timely and adequate healthcare. These barriers include a lack of awareness among caregivers, insufficient research into the healthcare needs of autistic adults, and a scarcity of trained healthcare professionals. Personal perceptions of barriers among autistic adults include communication mismatches, doubt, helplessness, fear, and healthcare avoidance, which further exacerbate adverse health outcomes. Addressing these challenges requires tailored approaches, such as adapting medical spaces for sensory sensitivities and developing evidence-informed policies to enhance healthcare access and outcomes for autistic individuals. Recommendations include developing evidence-informed policies and programs, strengthening enhanced medical training and interdisciplinary collaboration, and utilizing physician-report tools to identify and address barriers to care provision. The overarching goal is to improve healthcare experiences and outcomes for autistic individuals by addressing systemic barriers and enhancing support mechanisms.

7.4.1 Pain and Autism.

Chronic pain is one of the most disabling conditions particularly for older people and seems to be a risk factor for the development of dementia. Bornier et al. (2023) reported that chronic pain and dementia share common risk factors, such as advanced age, genetic impairment, depressive disorders, diabetes, obesity, social isolation, and low level of education; to which they added abnormalities of the noradrenergic system, overactivation of microglia and central neuroinflammation (the latter three factors also relate to weathering

and allostatic load). Kerckhove et al. (2023) reported that Alzheimer's disease is known to disturb pain perception and reduce the ability to report it, resulting in underestimation by practitioners and sub-optimal medical management. Analyzing data from the French national health system, they found that the prevalence of chronic pain among adults age 50+ living with dementia was greater than among age peers absent a diagnosis of dementia. They suggested that practitioners need to be alert to effective pain assessment and management in patients with dementia who may have difficulties expressing and perceiving pain.

Autistic adults are likely to experience pain in a large variety of contexts because of challenging behaviors, medical comorbidities, or life conditions (Rattaz et al., 2016). There is increasing evidence that autistic adults are at risk for or do experience pain, defined as an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage, and that personal experience and biological, psychological, and social factors shape the pain experience (Raja et al., 2020). Historically, the recognition and acknowledgement, assessment, and adequate management of pain in people with ID, including those with autism, have posed challenges (Defrin & McGuire, 2021; El-Tallowy et al., 2023). Recognition of pain can be problematic and reliance on self-reports of pain, as many autistic adults (with or absent ID) have several comorbid physical and secondary conditions which may be sources of pain. These can include musculoskeletal and gastrointestinal conditions (Bernal-Celestino et al., 2022, El-Tallowy et al., 2023, Liao et al., 2021, McGuire & Defrin, 2015). Barney et al. (2020) noted that pain is difficult to discern from other conditions or states such as distress, depression, or anxiety, even while observing a familiar person, due to overlap of manifestations and that diagnostic overshadowing can occur when signs and symptoms of pain are mistakenly attributed to an adult's behavior. Pain discernment among autistic adults with concurrent ID is also problematic. Doody and Bailey (2017) reported that while self-report is the gold standard in pain assessment, its assessment for people with ID can be challenging as some adults may be unable to self-report their pain due to difficulties in communication or level of cognitive ability. In such instances, assessment requires a combination of approaches amalgamating pain assessment, health assessment, and observation of behaviors. Zwakhalen et al. (2004) also reported the assessment difficulties when ID is severe and reading non-verbal expressions are critical to diagnosing pain.

In addition to social-communication difficulties and repetitive behaviors, autism also presents as atypical sensorimotor function and pain reactivity (Bogdanova et al., 2022). Bogdanova et al. reported that although chronic pain is a frequent comorbidity in autism, pain management is often inadequate due to difficulties in pain evaluation, resulting in worsening prognosis, and higher mortality rates. While early thinking was that the experience of pain in autism was less a factor as autistic adults were insensitive to painful stimuli, various findings in the past 15 years have challenged and complicated this belief (Hoffman et al., 2022). Both peripheral and central deviations in pain signal processing are documented in autism. Also, chronic musculo-skeletal pain is an increasingly frequent feature in younger people with autistic traits. Many exhibit a range of additional physical and psychological features and fulfill criteria for fibromyalgia, which has been significantly associated with autistic traits, along with a dysfunction of the autonomic nervous system. Hypermobility, irritable bowel syndrome, and migraine are frequent comorbid conditions (Ryan et al., 2023).

Some autistic adults may display hypersensitivity to stimuli usually considered painless. These responses may be accompanied by absence of reactivity to potentially hazardous and noxious stimuli. Bogdanova et al. (2022) noted the relation between self-stimulation and self-injuring behavior (SIBs) and response to pain in some autistic adults. One study (Symons et al., 2009) examined SIBs and pain signs in non-verbal autistic individuals and found increased behavioral signs of pain in adults with chronic self-injury. The authors suggested that the SIBs might be a coping strategy to manage chronic pain.

Pain assessment and management warrants attention across the lifespan for people with autism, however, due to socio-communicative deficits, pain assessment is particularly challenging among some autistic adults (Battaglia et al., 2016). Thus, psychophysical evaluation of pain detection and discrimination may be

confounded by other factors like attentional resources, levels of anxiety or task performance capacities which may be different in autism (Bogdanova et al., 2022). However, any pain determinations in autistic adults will be successively more difficult with the progression of dementia.

In summary, autistic adults are susceptible to experiencing pain due to numerous factors such as challenging behaviors, medical comorbidities, and life conditions. Recent studies indicate a growing recognition of pain among autistic adults, yet challenges persist in its acknowledgment, assessment, and management. Pain recognition can be complicated by reliance on self-reports, comorbid physical conditions, and overlapping manifestations with distress or anxiety. While historically thought to be insensitive to pain, recent findings suggest otherwise, with documented peripheral and central deviations in pain signal processing in autism. Chronic pain, often inadequately managed, is common in autism and associated with worsened prognosis and higher mortality rates. Autistic adults may exhibit hypersensitivity to stimuli and may use self-injurious behavior as a coping mechanism for chronic pain. Chronic pain also poses challenges for older adults, particularly those with dementia, as it may impair pain perception and expression, leading to underestimation and suboptimal management. Pain assessment and management in autistic adults require careful attention, especially given socio-communicative deficits and potential confounders in pain evaluation. However, with the progression of dementia, pain determination becomes increasingly challenging. As a result, pain assessment and management in autistic adults require careful attention, particularly as socio-communicative deficits and cognitive decline may exacerbate challenges in evaluating and treating pain effectively.

7.5 Sensory considerations

Autistic people experience hyper- or hyposensitivity to sensory stimuli (Crompton et al., 2022). Thye et al. (2018) noted that dysregulated sensory processing can be considered universal in autism and that abnormal sensory sensitivity has significant clinical and social implications. Oversensitivity to perceptual level sensory features can come at the expense of inability to filter out extraneous information and selectively attend to instruction in the therapeutic environment. Conversely, hyposensitivity to sensory stimuli in the environment can result in delayed visual and auditory processing, lack of appropriate response, and poor multisensory integration. Given the prevalence of sensory sensitivities in individuals with autism, creating a sensoryfriendly environment and incorporating sensory modulation techniques can improve well-being. The development of a "sensory diet" that supports the person's specific sensory needs is based upon the person's life story and historical evidence that also incorporates normal physical changes of aging. Often an occupational therapist has the armamentarium to undertake such assessments, recommend actions to be implemented, and help a partner in developing a plan. Measures are in place that are useful in dementia care settings and can be adapted for use with residents with autism (e.g., Adolescent /Adult Sensory Profile (A/ASP; Brown et al., 2002). Ravn et al. (2018) applied an adaptation to a dementia setting and assessed its viability from the care provider's perspective.

With respect to residential environments, Crompton et al. (2022) have recommended that the care environment should be personalized and adaptable to each individual, with a particular focus on reducing strong smells from communal spaces or kitchens, bright lights or other visual stimuli, noise from other residents, staff, activities, or equipment, and furniture that exacerbates proprioceptive difficulties. In the UK, the NICE (BPS/RCP, 2012) guidelines related to sensory aspects note that in all settings, account should be taken of the physical environment in which autistic adults are assessed, supported, and cared for, including any factors that may trigger challenging behavior. It is recommended that if necessary adjustments or adaptations in the setting should be made to the (a) amount of personal space given (at least an arm's length); (b) setting using visual supports (for example, use labels with words or symbols to provide visual cues about expected behavior), (c) color of walls and furnishings (avoid patterns and use low-arousal colors such as cream), (d) lighting (reduce fluorescent lighting, use blackout curtains or advise use of dark glasses or increase natural light), (e)

noise levels (reduce external sounds or advise use of earplugs or ear defenders). Where it is not possible to adjust or adapt the environment, workers report that consideration should be given to varying the duration or nature of any assessment or intervention (including taking regular breaks) to limit the negative impact of the environment.

In summary, autistic individuals often experience heightened or diminished sensitivity to sensory stimuli, necessitating the creation of sensory-friendly environments and implementation of sensory modulation techniques for improved well-being. This involves developing a tailored "sensory diet" based on the individual's life history and incorporating aging-related changes. Occupational therapists play a crucial role in assessing sensory needs and recommending interventions. Measures like the Adolescent/Adult Sensory Profile can be adapted for dementia care settings. Residential environments should be personalized and adaptable, minimizing triggers such as strong smells, bright lights, noise, and uncomfortable furniture. Guidelines emphasize adjustments in personal space, visual supports, color schemes, lighting, and noise levels to accommodate sensory needs. When environmental adjustments are not feasible, modifying the duration or nature of assessments or interventions can mitigate negative impacts.

7.6 End-of-life care planning

The information available on end-of-life issues is the bailiwick of autism advocacy organizations (e.g., Autism and Grief Project, 2024; National Autistic Society, 2024). However, some workers have digested this issue and provided an empirical basis. Preparing for end-of-life care, including advance directives and palliative care options, is crucial to ensure the individual's comfort and dignity in the later stages of dementia (Furguson & Laurie, 2018; McCarron et al., 2018). Work exists related to addressing care and support for *advanced dementia*, when care focus is more orientated around palliative care and co-occurring end-stage disease and medical health conditions (Mitchell, 2015). Much of guidance for advanced dementia in the general population will apply to adults with neuroatypical conditions, as the primary care activities relate to aiding adults who are non-ambulatory, needing personal care, and comfort. Mitchell (2015) reported that the characteristic features of advanced dementia include profound memory deficits, minimal verbal abilities, inability to ambulate independently, inability to perform any activities of daily living, and the presence of urinary and fecal incontinence. Structurally, Vinay and Biller-Andorno (2023) examined how national dementia care guidance initiatives function and benefit advanced dementia caregiving and that most cover end-of-life care issues, re-assessing care plans, rationalizing medication, and caregiver support and well-being.

In general, Ijaopo et al. (2023) remarked that while it can be difficult to predict the timing of death, caregivers and medical personnel should be capable of recognizing the clinical signs and symptoms of imminent death in terminally-ill individuals. This capacity would enable earlier determination of care needs and better planning of care tailored to the adult's needs and aid with bereavement adjustment. Specifically with respect to autism, Ferguson and Laurie (2018) reported that support and accommodations from diagnosis through to end of life are particularly inclusive of the diversity of needs in a broad and varied spectrum of individuals. They contend that there should be an acknowledgement that peace at the end of life comes not just from medical intervention and symptom control, but from an understanding of who we are and what is important to us in life. Ferguson and Laurie offered five suggestions on providing palliative care to an autistic person: (1) ensure that the person is involved in decisions about their care; (2) provide for consistency of support and strong partnerships between health and social care teams; (3) plan and communicate to health teams what reasonable accommodations or adjustments be made to ensure best possible quality of palliative and end of life care; (4) understand the thinking style of the person being supporting to help with planning and preparing for difficult conversations, and how information is best communicated; and (5) support reflection on important events in the person's life and experiences that have given their life meaning.

In summary, end-of-life planning is crucial for ensuring comfort and dignity, particularly in the later stages of dementia. While guidance for advanced dementia exists, it applies to older adults with neuroatypical conditions like autism. Advanced dementia is characterized by significant memory deficits, minimal verbal abilities, immobility, and incontinence. For autistic individuals, comprehensive support throughout life, including end of life, should address their diverse needs. Palliative care for autistic individuals should prioritize involvement in decision-making, tailor communication methods, ensure consistent support, plan for accommodations, understand their thinking style, and encourage reflection on meaningful life experiences.

7.7 Autism and post-diagnostic supports

Globally, the WHO (2023) resolution on autism presents the support perspective. WHO's comprehensive mental health action plan 2013–2030 and World Health Assembly Resolution WHA73.10 for "global actions on epilepsy and other neurological disorders" calls on countries to address the current significant gaps in early detection, care, treatment, and rehabilitation for mental and neurodevelopmental conditions, which include autism (WHO, 2020). It also calls for countries to address the social, economic, educational and inclusion needs of people living with mental and neurological disorders, and their families, and to improve surveillance and relevant research.

In May 2014, the Sixty-seventh World Health Assembly adopted a resolution titled '*Comprehensive and Coordinated Efforts for the Management of Autism Spectrum Disorders*', which was supported by more than 60 countries. The resolution urges WHO to collaborate with Member States and partner agencies to strengthen national capacities to address autism and other developmental disabilities. WHO and its partners recognized the need to strengthen countries' abilities to promote the optimal health and well-being of all people with autism. In this regard, the WHO's efforts focus on: (a) increasing the commitment of governments to taking action to improve the quality of life of people with autism; (b) providing guidance on policies and action plans that address autism within the broader framework of health, mental and brain health and disabilities; (c) contributing to strengthening the ability of the health workforce to provide appropriate and effective care and promote optimal standards of health and well-being for people with autism; and (d) promoting inclusive and enabling environments for people with autism and other developmental disabilities and providing support to their caregivers.

The NICE guidelines (BPS/RSP, 2012) on autism provide a structural framework for providing coordination that applies equally well to older autistic adults and dementia and provide current and state-of-the-art strategies for diagnosis and treatment of ASD-related behaviors, and their level of evidence (Wilson et al., 2014). They call for a specialist autism team that would have a key role in the delivery and coordination of a broad range of supports, including (a) specialist diagnostic and assessment services, (b) specialist care and interventions, (c) advice and training to other health and social care professionals on the diagnosis, assessment, care and interventions for autistic adults (as not all may be in the care of a specialist team), (d) support in accessing, and maintaining contact with housing and public welfare services, (e) support to families, partners and carers where appropriate, (f) care and interventions for autistic adults living in specialist residential accommodation, and (g) training, support and consultation for staff who care for autistic adults in residential and community settings.

When older autistic adults receive a diagnosis of dementia, it necessitates a nuanced and specialized approach to intervention and support in the broadest sense. Best practices in this context encompass a range of strategies aimed at enhancing the quality of life and maintaining functional abilities:

► Person-Centered Care: Tailoring interventions to the individual's unique needs, preferences, and abilities is paramount. Focusing on their personal history, interests, and communication style (including how pain is typically expressed) helps in developing a more effective care plan. Such a perspective

stresses the importance of relational working and listening to autistic people and how this can facilitate the provision of personalized housing and care plans to enable a quality of life in tandem with dealing with the challenges of dementia (Quinn et al., 2023).

► Applying a Multidisciplinary Approach: Assembling a care group of healthcare professionals with expertise in autism (and in ID, if present) and dementia can ensure comprehensive care. This team may include a range of medical and behavioral specialists (such as physicians, psychiatrists, psychologists), as well as other allied health professions (such as speech-language therapists, occupational therapists, nutritional professionals with autism expertise and social workers), or at minimum one professional with knowledge of dementia and autism, and a collective of workers involved in support and personal care (Fulceri et al., 2023).

► Continuous Monitoring: Regular assessments of cognitive and functional status are essential. These assessments should be tailored to the individual's abilities and may involve specialized tools developed for this population. On-going assessments of the person's physical health are essential and are tailored based upon known health care issues coupled with strategies colored by dementia. Anticipatory guidance can ameliorate possible urgent situations.

► Legal and Financial Planning: Assisting adults, their families, or others with legal standing in their lives, in establishing legal safeguards, such as guardianship and power of attorney, and addressing financial planning to ensure the individual's future well-being.

Broadly, Dennehy et al. (2023) reviewed salient themes in post-diagnostic supports for adults with ID affected by dementia and noted that most approaches fell into these major categories: aging in place, environmental supports, dementia-specific interventions and therapies, and the feasibility of these interventions. Dodd et al. (2018) examined more specific aspects of post-diagnostic supports as they apply to aiding adults with ID living with dementia (and their caregivers) and proposed a general model that encompassed seven focal areas: post-diagnostic counseling; psychological and medical surveillance; periodic reviews and adjustments to the dementia care plan; early identification of behavior and psychological symptoms; reviews of care practices and supports for advanced dementia and end of life; supports to caregivers/ support staff; and evaluation of quality of life. Bamford et al. (2021) identified five key themes covering post-diagnostic support in general for adults living with dementia: (1) timely identification and management of needs; (2) understanding and managing dementia; (3) emotional and psychological wellbeing; (4) practical support; and (5) integrating support. With respect to 'timely identification and management of needs,' they propose holding one or more meetings with the clinician or service diagnosing dementia, to communicate the diagnosis, discuss treatment options, and provide information and signposts.

The key to managing post-diagnostic support is proactively holding reviews involving a range of professionals at flexible intervals depending on the person's needs (Quinn et al., 2023). Also important is ensuring that physical health problems (whether multiple conditions or those related to dementia) are managed promptly and avoiding diagnostic overshadowing. As dementia progresses, it is important to the adult and his or her caregivers or family to initiate opportunities to consider the goals for the future, as well as future care preferences and emergency situations. Critical also is aid given to caregivers with accepting the implication of dementia progression and what it will bring for prolonged care (Jokinen et al., 2018). Recommendations for such dementia care also must consider the impact upon caregivers. Any helpers must consider holding formal assessments of caregiver needs which may lead to interventions such as respite, psychoeducation, or referrals to psychological or other support services.

To address *emotional and psychological wellbeing*, Bamford et al. (2021) suggested implementing interventions to enhance mood, support adjustment to dementia diagnosis, and manage anxiety; provide for opportunities to meet virtually or face-to-face with peers to share experiences, information, advice and social

activities; facilitate access to activities/groups/clubs to ensure that people with dementia have opportunities to socialize and maintain their identity through pursuing existing hobbies and interests; and recognize the impact of dementia on families and others, and provide interventions when needed.

Understanding and managing dementia can be challenging. Bamford et al. (2021) suggested employing interventions that would improve memory and thinking and which may include both pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions. They also suggest providing tailored, accessible information about dementia to people with dementia and caregivers; implementing interventions or activities to help people with dementia and caregivers to understand and manage cognitive and functional decline in dementia; and designing interventions and activities to help understand the antecedents and impacts of non-cognitive symptoms and exploring creative management strategies. With respect to conveying information about the behavioral aspects of dementia, Burley et al. (2021) reported that some of the language used (e.g., terminology around BPSDs) need contextualization to make it more understandable and de-stigmatized. For example, they suggest a term like "agitated/hard to handle" could be contextualized to be "frustrated with cognitive decline, discriminatory behavior, and inadequate support systems." Using terms that are more readily understood by caregivers and autistic persons can help with creating a more environment.

Bagatell (2019) suggested that the *practical support* caregiving roles of autistic adults included meeting and managing daily needs, obtaining services and supports, and providing support when needed. In this context, Bamford et al. (2021) commented on the importance of supporting people with dementia to also keep their independence with an acceptable level of risk. This includes psychological aspects of feeling independent as well as functional aspects such as mobility and activities of daily living; ensuring that people with dementia are involved in decisions as much as possible and that caregivers are supported when making difficult decisions; providing opportunities for people with dementia to have a break from routine and for caregivers to have time off from caring; and ensuring undertaking research on autism and dementia. Fundamentally, it has been proposed that more must be done to ensure that families and people with autism have access to the appropriate resources and interventions to ensure their dignity and safety (Autism Speaks, 2023).

One aspect of growing older and potentially experiencing aging-related service challenges has been explored by Keller et al. (2020). They reported the reality of a sizable number of adults who go undiagnosed (they reported that in their study cohort in Italy an initial diagnosis occurred when one adult was aged 50), and that this occurs especially among women with autism. Reported also, was that as caregivers become older, there is a marked decrease in family resources, which translates into a higher level of concern for the future of autistic adults. Conceptually, they noted that high functioning autistic adults can follow a wide range of pathways during their transition to adulthood, such as attending college, entering the labor force, and achieving a degree of independent living. Less cognitively able individuals, on the other hand, may be eligible for state benefits or may access supported employment programs. They proposed that clinicians need to familiarize themselves with the unique needs of autistic adults to be able to administer specific supports and interventions to these patients to ensure their best possible social integration in the community.

Much is yet to be learned about the life trajectories and outcomes for persons with autism. Although research investment has been plentiful with respect to early childhood, school age issues, and the transitions to adulthood, little has occurred with a focus on middle age and transitions to being older (Mason et al., 2022). One study (Chamak & Bonniau, 2016) did examine the life trajectories of a French cohort of autistic adults living in some form of residential accommodation (none were living independently) and determined that those adults with severe autism had poor life outcomes, while those with moderate autism had better outcomes. The trajectories of those who were intellectual average or above were more positive, but they also remained dependent on aging parents and had few available supports. What other research exists, usually occurs with adult populations with co-occurring conditions, primarily those with ID. Numerous authors have

commented on this deficit and indicated the need to broaden the focus ranging from biological to social integration to lifetime support issues. What is known, from work with the general population, is that among older adults, a healthy lifestyle may provide a cognitive reserve to maintain cognitive abilities independently of common neuropathologies of dementia (Dhana et al., 2024). This same finding can apply to the life trajectories and outcomes among autistic adults with the implementation of effective efforts at promoting brain health and wellness.

The report of the Neuroatypical Conditions Expert Consultative Panel (Janicki et al., 2022) reported that research focusing on autism and dementia is needed which (a) examines possible associations between dementia and symptoms of autism and the interplay between the entities, and (b) compares persons with autism with and without ID to better understand potential risk and protective factors. Also, the field would benefit from studies investigating the interplay and possible associations between dementia and symptoms of autism, including neurobiological research as to the etiologies of neuropathologies and their trajectories; studies examining the nature and degree of cognitive decline among aging autistic adults and degree of transition to dementia, studies examining the nature or types of dementias that may be present, or perhaps over-represented, in older autistic adults and their etiologies. Further, needed are studies identifying subgroups of individuals on the autism spectrum who might be at higher risk for dementia, as well as lifestyle factors related to reduced access to appropriate services in autism (e.g., barriers to accessing intellectual, educational, and social opportunities) and studies examining potential testing strategies to assess neuropathology in autism that do not require verbal instruction and capitalize on visual strengths (e.g., passive viewing tasks to examine visual memory).

In summary, we recognize the extant global initiatives and frameworks, such as the WHO resolutions and NICE guidelines, aimed at improving support for individuals with autism. There is a need for coordinated efforts to address gaps in early detection, care, treatment, and rehabilitation for mental and neurodevelopmental conditions, including autism. The WHO's focus includes increasing government commitment, providing guidance on policies, strengthening the health workforce, and promoting inclusive environments. The NICE guidelines offer a comprehensive structural framework for coordinating support for older autistic adults and dementia. Others have presented sets of key themes on post-diagnostic support for adults with dementia and call for timely identification, emotional wellbeing, understanding and managing dementia, practical support, and integrating support. What is evident is the gaps in research on the life trajectories and outcomes for individuals with autism, especially in middle age and aging. These emphasize the need for broader research and highlighting the importance of investigating associations between autism and dementia, neurobiological research, and potential testing strategies tailored to the unique characteristics of individuals with autism.



The interplay between ID, autism, and dementia is a complex web of genetic, neurobiological, and environmental factors. Addressing these multifaceted challenges requires an integrated approach that encompasses assessment, intervention, and support, all tailored to the individual's unique needs and circumstances. In addressing the intersection of autism, intellectual disability, and dementia requires a holistic and personcentered approach. Recognizing the unique needs and challenges of these individuals is essential for providing them with the best possible care and support as they navigate the complexities of aging with neurodevelop-

mental disorders. Continued research and collaboration among healthcare professionals, researchers, and advocacy groups are crucial for advancing our understanding and improving the quality of life for this vulnerable population.

Addressing gaps for better understanding the latter part of the lifespan for autistic adults calls for prospective, longitudinal studies employing both cross-sectional and longitudinal methods to unravel the nuances of typical and atypical aging in autism. Studies are needed to assess healthcare providers knowledge about autism in general and further how they would manage assessing for later age cognitive and functional decline. There is also a pressing need to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions for diverse sub-groups of older autistic adults. The insufficiency of data on the medical history, development, therapies, and educational backgrounds of autistic adults poses limitations on establishing reliable clinical and neurobiological correlations. The imperative for longitudinal studies on autism and aging, encompassing the collection of biological samples and brain tissue, is underscored to enhance understanding of the disorder's progression over the life course and improve correlations between clinical phenotypes and neurobiological mechanisms. The current challenges in research involving brain tissue stem from the heterogeneity among autism spectrum disorders, differing clinical presentations, and diverse developmental trajectories, adding layers of complexity to the pursuit of comprehensive insights.

Given the dearth of extended focus on the aging trajectories and outcomes for autistic adults, there are areas of research that warrant further inquiry, among them are the following:

- 1. Investigate social isolation and living arrangements for older autistic individuals, particularly those with intellectual disability, and explore the need for tailored housing options.
- 2. Enhance understanding of the epidemiology, symptoms, assessment approaches, and disease trajectory of dementia and age-associated conditions in autistic individuals, accounting for variations in intellectual functioning and comparing with the general population and age peers with other developmental disabilities.
- 3. Explore best practices for educating autistic individuals and their families about dementia, available supports, caregiver assistance, and post-diagnostic support.
- 4. Examine the cognitive aging trajectory in autistic adults, considering factors such as intellectual functioning level and coincident conditions.
- 5. Undertake studies to determine the most prevalent types of dementia among autistic individuals and investigate underlying neuropathology contributing to autistic behaviors and dementia risk.
- 6. Assess the knowledge base of healthcare providers regarding cognitive and functional decline in autistic adults, emphasizing the need for education and training.
- 7. Research efficacy of various health and wellness programs tailored for autistic individuals.
- 8. Diversify research methodologies, outcome measures, and sample sizes to ensure representation of older autistic adults in research.
- 9. Investigate the relationship between autism and dementia, focusing on mechanisms underlying this connection.
- 10. Explore the potential of pre- and probiotics in mitigating dementia risk among autistic individuals, considering the variability of bacterial strains.
- 11. Examine holistic approaches to diagnosis and treatment, considering the unique needs of autistic individuals.
- 12. Develop tailored assessment methods for dementia diagnosis in autistic adults.
- 13. Explore classic risk factors for late-onset Alzheimer's disease within the autism population.
- 14. Investigate mortality factors within the autism population to better understand health outcomes.
- 15. Evaluate the applicability of novel medications for Alzheimer's disease in autistic individuals.

By addressing these research recommendations, we envision an advance in our collective understanding of aging, autism, and dementia and improve outcomes for autistic individuals as they age.

9.0 Conclusions and statement

This report systematically addressed key inquiries to advance our understanding of the complex relationship between autism, ID, and dementia. The specific questions explored were: (*a*) key findings from previous efforts; (*b*) the connections between autism, ID, and dementia; (*c*) factors contributing to the increased risk of dementia in individuals with autism and ID; (*d*) challenges in diagnosing dementia in older autistic adults; (*e*) recommended non-pharmacological interventions and supports for diagnosed individuals; and (*f*) a research agenda derived from this report.

Regarding (*a*), the analysis found that previous attempts to define the intersection of dementia and autism lacked conclusive determinations. Concerning (*b*), the report highlighted links between certain life factors, bio-neurological processes, and dementia risk in autistic adults, but noted the absence of a definitive relationship between the genesis of a brain disease or neurodegenerative disorder and behavioral expressions of dementia. Exploring (*c*), the literature supported associations between adverse social determinants of health and clinical expressions of dementia but did not establish a definitive trajectory in autism overall. Recognizing the need for adaptations in diagnostic processes (*d*) acknowledged the impact of cognitive variations in autistic adults, particularly considering co-occurring ID and psychiatric conditions. For (*e*), the report emphasized that customary practices for neurotypical adults with dementia could be applied to autistic adults, with special considerations for sensory sensitivities, environmental factors, and socialization aspects. For (*f*), the proposed research agenda underscores the nascent stage of aging studies in autism and calls for increased investment, especially in diagnostics and biomarkers related to dementia and neurological processes, and contributory factors and the broader impact of neurocognitive decline in autism.

In addressing the ongoing challenge of understanding the precise mechanisms underlying these associations, future research endeavors may uncover intricate relationships between genetic, neurobiological, and environmental factors contributing to the heightened risk of a neurodegenerative disorder or dementia in individuals with ID and autism, particularly as their mean survival age increases. Insights derived from such investigations will be crucial for developing targeted prevention and intervention strategies. Consequently, we recommend increased international commitment from universities, research institutes, civil society organizations, and ministries and governmental agencies to allocate additional resources for research on aging, older age, and autism, and possible neuropathologies, and more importantly continue to convene study groups to explore and digest new findings.

Thus, the Summit Autism/Dementia Work Group offers the following:

1 Our understanding of the risk factors for dementia among autistic adults is still evolving, it is evident that a complex interplay of genetic, neurobiological, and environmental factors contributes to this vulnerability and that better understanding the precise mechanisms underlying these associations remains an ongoing challenge.

2 There is some evidence of variable influences on the evolution of dementia among some autistic adults but not significantly above the norm for the general population, and absent is any evidence for the contention that Alzheimer's disease may be a significant outcome or that autism is a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease.

3 Among individuals with autism, there is some evidence that secondary neurological conditions such as intellectual disability, Down syndrome, and seizure disorder, as well as secondary health conditions, such as cardiovascular disease, may be associated with heightened risk for dementia compared with individuals with autism without these secondary conditions.

4 An understanding of the intersection between autism and dementia will be aided by a more evolved understanding of the aging trajectory of individuals with autism.

5 A dearth of older-age focused research on autism has hampered a better understanding of life conditions, age band transitions, adaptations, health, aging effects, and aging-related neuropathologies.

6 A lack of clear practice guidelines for assessment and diagnosis of dementia or other later-age neuropathologies is impairing early detection and screening for cognitive changes among aging autistic adults.

7 National and international initiatives are required to prepare social welfare and health services for an aging population of autistic adults.

9.1 Statement

The prevailing viewpoint, derived from current research, is that there is no overarching basis or foundation supporting a notable increased risk for any specific form of dementia in individuals with autism. As individuals with autism age, akin to the general population, some may undergo assessments and receive dementia diagnoses; however, such cases do not seem inherently predisposed to any particular brain disease genetically or otherwise. It is worth noting that adults with co-occurring conditions, such as Down syndrome and some intellectual disabilities, exhibit elevated risk markers, potentially leading to higher rates of clinical dementia in older age. In acknowledging this, the 2nd International Summit on Intellectual Disability and Dementia underscores the impact of social determinants of health, adverse life experiences, and stressors in compromising cognitive health during later stages of life and potentially influencing cognitive decline and premature mortality. However, the research is still incipient and inconclusive regarding whether such factors determine early, faster, or worse dementia outcomes in autistic adults in comparison to the general population. The Summit supports evidence-based practices to enhance social competencies, commitment to healthy lifestyles, and provide living supports that enhance personal capabilities, whenever consent and choices are sought, minimizing exposure to unsafe environments and risk- heightening behaviors, and encouraging adherence to life practices that promote mental and physical health wellness.

-30-

10.0 References

Abdellatif, B., McVeigh, C., Bendriss, G., & Chaari, A. (2020). The promising role of probiotics in managing the altered gut in autism spectrum disorders. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(11):4159. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21114159

Abu-Akel, A., Allison, C., Baron-Cohen, S., & Heinkeet, D. (2019). The distribution of autistic traits across the autism spectrum: evidence for discontinuous dimensional subpopulations underlying the autism continuum. *Molecular Autism*, 10, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-019-0275-3

Acosta, M.T., & Pearl, P.L. (2004). Imaging data in autism: from structure to malfunction. *Seminars in Pediatric Neurology*, 11(3), 205-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spen.2004.07.004.

Alesina, A., & Glaeser, E.L. (2006). Why are welfare states in the US and Europe so different? What do we learn ? *Horizons Stratégiques*, 2(2), 51-61. https://www.cairn.info/revue-horizons-strategiques-2006-2-page-51.htm.

Al-Mazidi, S.H. (2023). The physiology of cognition in autism spectrum disorder: Current and future challenges. *Cureus*, 15(10), e46581. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.46581

Alharthi, A., Alhazmi, S., Alburae, N., & Bahieldin, A. (2022). The human gut microbiome as a potential factor in autism spectrum disorder. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(3), 1363. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23031363

Alves, C.L., Toutain, T.G.L.d.O., de Carvalho Aguiar, P., Pineda, A.M., Roster, K., Thielemann, C., Porto, J.A.M., & Rodrigues, F.A. (2023). Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder based on functional brain networks and machine learning. *Scientific Reports*, 13, 8072. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-34650-6

Alvidrez, J.L., & Barksdale, C.L. (2022). Perspectives from the National Institutes of Health on multidimensional mental health disparities research: A framework for advancing the field. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 179(6), 417-421. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.21100969.

Alzforum. (2024). Moving Alzheimer's diagnosis to primary care could ease bottlenecks. February 6, 2024. https://www.alzforum.org/news/community-news/moving-alzheimers-diagnosis-primary-care-could-ease-bottlenecks

Alzheimer's Association. (2023). Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. https://www.alz.org/alzheimers-dementia/facts-figures#:~:text=Seventy%2Dthree%20percent%20are%20age,older%20(10.7%25)%20has%20Alzheimer%27s.

Alzheimer's Association. (2024). Caregivers for Alzheimer's and dementia face special challenges. https://www.alz.org/help-support/caregiving

Alzheimer's Disease International (ADI). (2024). Dementia statistics. https://www.alzint.org/about/dementia-facts-figures/dementia-statistics/

Alzheimer Society of Canada. (2024). Making your environment safe. https://alzheimer.ca/en/help-sup-port/im-caring-person-living-dementia/ensuring-safety-security/making-your-environment-safe.

Alzheimer Society (UK). (2024). Keeping safe at home. https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/get-support/staying-independent/keeping-safe-home

Alzheimer's Society (UK). (2024). Understanding and supporting a person with dementia. https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/get-support/help-dementia-care/understanding-supporting-person-dementia

American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (AAIDD). (2023). Defining criteria for intellectual disability. Washington, DC: American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. https://www.aaidd.org/intellectual-disability/definition

American Autism Association (2023. Housing options for adults with autism. https://www.myautism.org/re-sources-for-adults/housing-options-for-adults-with-autism

American Psychiatric Association (APA). (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association. https://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/practice/dsm

Anderson, G.M. (2015). Autism biomarkers: challenges, pitfalls and possibilities. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*. 2015;45:1103–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-014-2225-4.

Antonarakis, S.E., Skotko, B.G., Rafii, M.S., Strydom, A., Pape, S.E., Bianchi, D.W., Sherman, S.L., Reeves, R.H. (2020). Down syndrome. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 6(1), 9. doi: 10.1038/s41572-019-0143-7.

Appleton J. (2018). The gut-brain axis: Influence of microbiota on mood and mental health. *Integrative Medicine* (Encinitas, Calif.), 17(4), 28-32. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6469458/?report=reader

Arvio, M., & Bjelogrlic-Laakso, N. (2021). Screening of dementia indicating signs in adults with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 34(6), 1463-1467. doi: 10.1111/jar.12888.

Asperger, H. (1991). Translated and annotated by Frith U: 'Autistic psychopathy' in childhood; in: *Autism and Asperger syndrome*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1991, pp 37–92.

Autism and Grief Project. (2024). About autism & grief. NLM Family Foundation. https://www.autismand-grief.org/clergy-healthcare-human-services/about-autism-grief/

Autism Canada, Autism Research Institute, and Pacific Autism Family Network. (2018). Autism in later life: A think tank on the effects of aging on the autism spectrum. Bothwell, Ontario, Canada. https://autismcan-ada.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/AC_2017-ThinkTank_Final.pdf

Autism Research Institute. (2023). *Autism symptoms and diagnosis in adults*. https://autism.org/autism-symptoms-and-diagnosis-in-adults/

Autism Speaks. (2023). Lifelong supports. https://www.autismspeaks.org/advocacy-priorities-lifelong-supports

AutismSA. (2023). Autism diagnosis for adults and children. https://autismsa.org.au/autism-diagnosis/autism-diagnosis-process/the-diagnostic-process/

Aylward, B.S., Gal-Szabo, D.E., & Taraman, S. (2021). Racial, ethnic, and sociodemographic disparities in diagnosis of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 42(8), 682-689. doi: 10.1097/DBP.000000000000996. PMID: 34510108; PMCID: PMC8500365.

Bagatell, N., Lamarche, E., & Klinger, L. (2023). Roles of caregivers of autistic adults: A qualitative study. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 2023, 77(2), 7702205030. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2023.050117

Baghdadli, A., Michelon, C., Pernon, E., Picot, M.-C., Miot, S., Sonié, S., Rattaz, C., & Mottron, L. (2018). Adaptive trajectories and early risk factors in the autism spectrum: A 15-year prospective study. *Autism Research*, 11, 1455–1467. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2022

Baghdadli, A., Russet, F., & Mottron, L. (2017). Measurement properties of screening and diagnostic tools for autism spectrum adults of mean normal intelligence: A systematic review. *European Psychiatry*, 44, 104-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.04.009

Baio, J., Wiggins, L., Christensen, D. L., Maenner, M. J., Daniels, J., Warren, Z., Kurzius-Spencer, M., Zahorodny, W., Robinson Rosenberg, C., White, T., Durkin, M. S., Imm, P., Nikolaou, L., Yeargin-Allsopp, M., Lee, L. C., Harrington, R., Lopez, M., Fitzgerald, R. T., Hewitt, A., . . . Dowling, N. F. (2018). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years—Autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2014. *MMWR. Surveillance Summaries*, 67(6), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr. ss6706a1

Bamford, C., Wheatley, A., Brunskill, G., Booi, L., Allan, L., Banerjee, S., Harrison Dening, K., Manthorpe, J., Robinson, L., & PriDem study team. (2021). Key components of post-diagnostic support for people with dementia and their carers: A qualitative study. *PloS One*, 16(12), e0260506. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0260506

Barney, C.C., Andersen, R.D., Defrin, R., Genik, L.M., McGuire, B.E., & Symons, F.J. (2020 Jun). Challenges in pain assessment and management among individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Pain Reports*, 16, 5(4), e821. https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.00000000000822.

Baron-Cohen, S., Lombardo, M. V., Auyeung, B., Ashwin, E., Chakrabarti, B., & Knickmeyer, R. (2011). Why are autism spectrum conditions more prevalent in males? *PLoS Biology*, 9(6), e1001081. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001081

Bastiaanssen, T.F.S., Cowan, C.S.M., Claesson, M.J., Dinan, T.G., & Cryan, J.F. (2019). Making sense of ... the microbiome in psychiatry. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*. 2019 Jan 1;22(1):37-52. https://doi.org/10.1093/ijnp/pyy067.

Bauman, M.L. (2010). Medical comorbidities in autism: Challenges to diagnosis and treatment. *Neurotherapeutics: Journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics*, 2010, 7(3), 320–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurt.2010.06.001

Baumer, N.T., & Capone, G. (2023). Psychopharmacological treatments in Down syndrome and autism spectrum disorder: State of the research and practical considerations. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part C: Seminars in Medical Genetics*, 93(4), e32069. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.c.32069. Epub 2023 Oct 23.

Barnard-Brak, L., Richman, D., & Yang Z. (2019). Age at death and comorbidity of dementia-related disorders among individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Advances in Autism*, 2019, 5(4). 26 September 2019. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/AIA-11-2018-0045/full/html

Becker S, Chowdhury M, Tavilsup P, Seitz D, Callahan BL. Risk of neurodegenerative disease or dementia in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review. Front Psychiatry. 2023 Aug 17;14:1158546. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1158546.

Beggiato, A., Peyre, H., Maruani, A., Scheid, I., Rastam, M., Amsellem, F., Gillberg, C.I., Leboyer, M., Bourgeron, T., Gillberg, C., & Delorme, R. (2017). Gender differences in autism spectrum disorders: Divergence among specific core symptoms. *Autism Research*, 10(4), 680-689. doi: 10.1002/aur.1715.

Bernal-Celestino, R.J., León-Martín, A., Martín-López, M.M., Ruiz-García J, Muñoz-Romera, S., & Lozano-Diaz, A.I. (2022). Evaluating and handling the pain of people with intellectual disability. *Pain Management Nursing*, 23(3), 311-317. https://doi.og/10.1016/j.pmn.2021.08.005

Bertelli, M.O., Buonaguro, E.F., Bradley, E. (2022). Co-occurrence and differential diagnosis. In: Bertelli, M.O., Deb, S., Munir, K., Hassiotis, A., Salvador-Carulla, L. (eds), *Textbook of Psychiatry for Intellectual Disability and Autism Spectrum Disorder*. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95720-3_32

BioArtic. (2023). European Medicines Agency accepts Marketing Authorization Application for lecanemab as treatment for early Alzheimer's disease. (Jan 2023). https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/european-medicines-agency-accepts-marketing-authorization-application-for-lecanemab-as-treatment-for-early-alz-heimers-disease-bioarctic-301732125.html

Biogen. (2024). Biogen to realign resources for Alzheimer's disease franchise. [Press release: January 31, 2024]. https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2024/01/31/2821003/0/en/ Biogen-to-Realign-Resources-for-Alzheimer-s-Disease-Franchise.html

Biogen. (2024). "LEQEMBI[®]" (Lecanemab) approved for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in China. January 9, 2024. https://investors.biogen.com/news-releases/news-release-details/leqembir-lecanemab-approved-

treatment-alzheimers-disease-china#:~:text=Viehbacher%2C%20%E2%80%9CBiogen%E2%80%9D)%20an-nounced,AD)%20and%20mild%20AD%20dementia.

Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. (2001). Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 69(3), 89-95. https://doi.org/10.1067/mcp.2001.113989.

Bishop, L., McLean, K. J., & Rubenstein, E. (2021). Epilepsy in adulthood: Prevalence, incidence, and associated antiepileptic drug use in autistic adults in a state Medicaid system. Autism: The international journal of research and practice, 25(3), 831–839. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320942982

Bishop-Fitzpatrick, L., & Rubenstein, E. (2019). The physical and mental health of middle aged and older adults on the autism spectrum and the impact of intellectual disability. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 63, 34-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2019.01.001. Epub 2019 Jan 29.

Bishop-Fitzpatrick, L., Minshew, N.J. & Eack, S.M. (2013) A systematic review of psychosocial interventions for adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(3): 687–694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1615-8.

Black, M. H., McGarry, S., Churchill, L., D'Arcy, E., Dalgleish, J., Nash, I., Jones, A., Tse, T. Y., Gibson, J., Bölte, S., & Girdler, S. (2022). Considerations of the built environment for autistic individuals: A review of the literature. *Autism*, 26(8), 1904-1915. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613221102753

Bogdanova, O.V., Bogdanov, V.B., Pizano, A., Bouvard, M., Cazalets, J.R., Mellen, N., & Amestoy, A. (2022). The current view on the paradox of pain in autism spectrum disorders. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, 910824. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.910824

Boilson, A.M., Churchard, A., Connolly, M., Casey, B. & Sweeney, M.R. (2023). Screening for autism spectrum conditions through inner city homeless services in the Republic of Ireland. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 53, 3987–3998. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05669-x

Bolton, P. F., Carcani-Rathwell, I., Hutton, J., Goode, S., Howlin, P., & Rutter, M. (2011). Epilepsy in autism: features and correlates. *British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, 198(4), 289–294. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.109.076877

Bornier, N., Mulliez, A., Chenaf, C., Elyn A., Teixeira, S., Authier, N., Bertin, C., & Kerckhove, N. (2023). Chronic pain is a risk factor for incident Alzheimer's disease: a nationwide propensity-matched cohort using administrative data. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 15, 1193108. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fnagi.2023.1193108.

Bou Zerdan, M., Hebbo, E., Hijazi, A., El Gemayel, M., Nasr, J., Nasr, D., Yaghi, M., Bouferraa, Y., Nagarajan, A. (2022). The gut microbiome and Alzheimer's disease: A growing relationship. *Current Alzheimer Research*, *19*(12). https://doi.org/10.2174/1567205020666221227090125.

Bradbury, K.R., Anderberg, E.I., Huang-Storms, L., Vasile, I., Greene, R.K., & Duvall, S.W. (2021). Co-occurring Down syndrome and autism spectrum disorder: Cognitive, adaptive, and behavioral characteristics. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *52*(3), 1235-1246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-05016-6.

Braden, B.B., Smith, C.J., Thompson, A., Glaspy, T.K., Wood, E., Vatsa, D., Abbott, A.E., McGee, S.C., & Baxter, L.C. (2017). Executive function and functional and structural brain differences in middle-age adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research*, *10*(12):1945-1959. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1842.

British Psychological Society & The Royal College of Psychiatrists. (2012). Autism: The NICE guideline on recognition, referral, diagnosis, and management of adults on the autism spectrum. (National Clinical Guideline

Number 142). https://www.autismeurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/ The-Nice-Guideline-on-Recognition-referral-diagnosis-and-management.pdf

Brondino, N., Fusar-Poli, L., Miceli, E., Di Stefano, M., Damiani, S., Rocchetti, M., & Politi, P. (2019). Prevalence of medical comorbidities in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 34, 1992–1994 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05071-x

Brown, C., Tollefson, N., Dunn, W., Cromwell, R., & Filion, D. (2001). The Adult Sensory Profile: measuring patterns of sensory processing. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 55(1), 75-82. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.55.1.75.

Brown, C.M., Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M., Krug, I., & Stokes, M.A. (2019, May 2). Diagnostic overshadowing in autistic women (Poster). Conference of the International Society for Autism Research, Montreal, P.Q. https://insar.confex.com/insar/2019/webprogram/Paper29860.html

Brugha, T.S., McManus, S., Bankart, J., Scott, F., Purdon, S., Smith, J., Bebbington, P., Jenkins, R., & Meltzer, H.(2011). Epidemiology of autism spectrum disorders in adults in the community in England. *Archives of General Psychiatry*. 68(5):459-65. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.38.

Buijsman, R., Begeer, S., & Scheeren, A.M. (2023). 'Autistic person' or 'person with autism'? Person-first language preference in Dutch adults with autism and parents. *Autism*, 27(3), 788-795. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613221117914.

Burley, C.V., Casey, A-N., Chenoweth, L., & Brodaty, H. (2021). Reconceptualising behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: views of people living with dementia and families/care partners. *Frontiers in Psychia-try*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.710703

Bury, S. M., Ellet, R., Spoor, J. R., & Hedley, D. (2023). "It defines who I am" or "It's something I have": What language do [autistic] Australian adults [on the autism spectrum] prefer? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 53(2), 677-687. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04425-3

Calkins, M.P., Kaup, M.L., & Abushousheh, A.M. (2022). Evaluation of environmental assessment tools for settings for individuals living with dementia. *Alzheimers Dement* (N Y). 2022 Sep 30;8(1):e12353. doi: 10.1002/trc2.12353

Canadian Academy of Health Sciences. (2022). Autism in Canada: Considerations for future public policy development - Weaving together evidence and lived experience. Ottawa (ON): The Oversight Panel on the Assessment of Autism, CAHS. https://cahs-acss.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/CAHS-Autism-in-Canada- Considerations-for-future-public-policy-development.pdf

Capone, G. T., Grados, M. A., Kaufmann, W. E., Bernad-Ripoll, S., & Jewell, A. (2005). Down syndrome and comorbid autism spectrum disorder: Characterization using the aberrant behavior checklist. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 134A(4), 373–380. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.30622

Carabotti, M., Scirocco, A., Maselli, M. A., & Severi, C. (2015). The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. *Annals of Gastroenterology*, 28(2), 203–209. https://pub-med.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25830558/

Carr, R.H., Eom, G.D., & Brown, E.E. (2024). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder as a potential risk factor for dementia and other neurocognitive disorders: A systematic review. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*. doi: 10.3233/JAD-230904. Epub ahead of print.

Casanova, E.L., Baeza-Velasco, C., Buchanan, C.B., & Casanova, M.F. (2020). The relationship between autism and Ehlers-Danlos syndromes/hypermobility spectrum disorders. *Journal of Personalized Medicine*, 1, 10(4), 260. https://doi: 10.3390/jpm10040260.

Cashin, A., Buckley, T., Trollor, J.N., & Lennox, N. (2018). A scoping review of what is known of the physical health of adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 22(1), 96-108. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629516665242. Epub 2016 Sep 13.

Catalá-López, F., Hutton, B., Page, M.J., Driver, J.A., Ridao, M., Alonso-Arroyo, A., Valencia, A., Macías Saint-Gerons, D., & Tabarés-Seisdedos, R. (2022). Mortality in persons with autism spectrum disorder or attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 176(4), e216401. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.6401

Cawthorpe, D. (2017). Comprehensive description of comorbidity for autism spectrum disorder in a general population. *The Permanente Journal*, 21, 16-88. https://www.thepermanentejournal.org/doi/pdf/10.7812/tpj.21.issue-1#page=88

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *Diagnostic Criteria for 299.00 autism spectrum disorder*. Centers for Disease Control. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/hcp-dsm.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2009). *Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders*— Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, United States, 2006 [Surveillance summaries]. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 58(No. SS-10), 1–20.

Chamak, B. & Bonniau, B. (2016). Trajectories, long-term outcomes and family experiences of 76 adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(3), 1084-95. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2656-6

Channell, M.M., Phillips, B.A., Loveall, S.J., Conners, F.A., Bussanich, P.M., & Klinger, L.G. (2015). Patterns of autism spectrum symptomatology in individuals with Down syndrome without comorbid autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 7, 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1866-1955-7-5

Chaput, J.L. (2002). Adults with Down syndrome and Alzheimer's disease: Comparisons of services received in group homes and in special care units. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 38(1/2), 197-211

Chen, H. H., Sun, F. J., Yeh, T. L., Liu, H. E., Huang, H. L., Kuo, B. I., & Huang, H. Y. (2018). The diagnostic accuracy of the Ascertain Dementia 8 questionnaire for detecting cognitive impairment in primary care in the community, clinics and hospitals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Family Practice*, 35(3), 239–246. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmx098

Cheney, L., Dudas, R.B., Traynor, J.M., Beatson, J.A., Rao, S., & Choi-Kain, L.W. (2023). Co-occurring autism spectrum and borderline personality disorder: An emerging clinical challenge seeking informed interventions. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 31(2), 83-91. doi: 10.1097/HRP.000000000000361.

Chieh, A.Y., Bryant, B.M., Kim, J.W., & Li, L. (2021). Systematic review investigating the relationship between autism spectrum disorder and metabolic dysfunction. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 86, 101821. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2021.101821. Epub 2021 Jun 21.

Chiogna, M., & Dalprà, M. (2009). Adeguare gli spazi domestici per ospitare in sicurezza il malato di Alzheimer: Problematiche e soluzioni a supporto della famiglia [Adapting domestic spaces to safely accommodate Alzheimer's patients: Issues and solutions to support the family.] Italian. Universita' Degli Studi Di Trento. https://alzheimertrento.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/adeguare-spazi-domestici-per-ospitare-insicurezza-malato-alzheimer_compressed-1.pdf

Churchard, A., Ryder, M., Greenhill, A., & Mandy, W. (2019). The prevalence of autistic traits in a homeless population. *Autism*, 23(3), 665–676. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361318768484

Clavel, T., Horz, H.P., Segata, N., & Vehreschild, M. (2022). Next steps after 15 stimulating years of human gut microbiome research. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 15(1), 164-175. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13970.

Colloby, S., Whiting, S., & Warren, A. (2022). Supporting the couple relationship following dementia diagnosis: A scoping review. *Health and Social Care in the Community,* 30(6), e3643-e3655. doi: 10.1111/hsc.14006. Epub 2022 Sep 20. PMID: 36124618; PMCID: PMC10087355.

Cooper, S.A. (1997). Epidemiology of psychiatric disorders in elderly compared with younger adults with learning disabilities. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 170, 375-80. doi: 10.1192/bjp.170.4.375.

Cordell, C.B., Borson, S., Boustani, M., Chodosh, J., Reuben, D., Verghese, J., Thies, W., Fried, L.B. & Medicare Detection of Cognitive Impairment Workgroup. (2013). Alzheimer's Association recommendations for operationalizing the detection of cognitive impairment during the Medicare Annual Wellness Visit in a primary care setting. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 9(2), 141-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2012.09.011

Crawford, D., Abner, E., Glaser, P., & Jicha, G. (2014). Autistic symptoms in a geriatric population with mild cognitive impairment and early dementia (I4-1.009). *Neurology*, 82 (10 Supplement) I4-1.009; https://n.neurology.org > content > 10_Supplement

Croen, L.A., Zerbo, O., Qian, Y., Massolo, M.L., Rich, S., Sidney, S., & Kripke, C. (2015). The health status of adults on the autism spectrum. *Autism*, 19(7), 814-823. doi: 10.1177/1362361315577517.

Crompton, C.J., Michael, C., Dawson, M., & Fletcher-Watson, S. (2020). Residential care for older autistic adults: Insights from three multiexpert summits. *Autism in Adulthood*, 2(2) 121-127. http://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2019.0080

Cummings, J., Apostolova, L., Rabinovici, G.D., Atri, A., Aisen, P., Greenberg, S., Hendrix, S., Selkoe, D., Weiner, M., Petersen, R.C., & Salloway, S. (2023). Lecanemab: appropriate use recommendations. *Journal of Prevention of Alzheimers Disease*, 10(3), 362-377. https://doi.org/10.14283/jpad.2023.30.

Cummings, J., Lanctot, K., Grossberg, G., & Ballard, C. (2024). Progress in pharmacologic management of neuropsychiatric syndromes in neurodegenerative disorders: A review. *JAMA Neurology*. Published online April 1, 2024. https://doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2024.0586

Curnow, E., Utley, I., Rutherford, M., Johnston, L., & Maciver, D. (2023). Diagnostic assessment of autism in adults - current considerations in neurodevelopmentally informed professional learning with reference to ADOS-2. *Frontiers of Psychiatry*, 14, 1258204. https://doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1258204.

Dargenio, V.N, Dargenio, C., Castellaneta, S., De Giacomo, A., Laguardia, M., Schettini, F., Francavilla, R., & Cristofori, F. (2023). Intestinal barrier dysfunction and microbiota-gut-brain axis: Possible implications in the pathogenesis and treatment of autism spectrum disorder. *Nutrients*, 15(7), 1620. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15071620.

Defrin, R. & McGuire, B.E. (2021, July 9). *Pain in Individuals with an Intellectual Disability: Scope of the Problem and Assessment Challenges -International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) - Fact Sheet.* https://www.iasp-pain.org/resources/fact-sheets/pain-in-individuals-with-an-intellectual-disability-scope-of-the-problem-and-assessment-challenges/

Dekker, A.D., Sacco, S., Carfi, A., Benejam, B., Vermeiren, Y., Beugelsdijk, G., Schippers, M. ... De Deyn, P.P. (2018). The Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia in Down Syndrome (BPSD-DS) Scale: Comprehensive assessment of psychopathology in down syndrome. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 63(2), 797-819. doi: 10.3233/JAD-170920

Dementia Collaborative. (2024). Skills2Care® certification for occupational therapists. https://www.dementia-collaborative.com/pages/skills2care-certification

Dementia UK. (2023). *Making home safe and comfortable for someone with dementia*. https://www.dementiauk.org/information-and-support/living-with-dementia/making-the-home-safe-and-comfortable-for-a-person-with-dementia/

Dennehy, H., Allen, A.P., McGlinchey, E., Buttery, N., García-Domínguez, L., Chansler, R., Corr, C., Dunne, P., Kennelly, S., Daly, L., McCallion P., & McCarron, M. (2023) A scoping review of post-diagnostic dementia supports for people with intellectual disability. *Aging & Mental Health*, 27(8), 1456-1465, DOI: 10.1080/13607863.2022.2130171

Dern, S. & Sappok, T. (2016), Barriers to healthcare for people on the autism spectrum. *Advances in Autism*, 2(1), 2-11. https://doi.org/10.1108/AIA-10-2015-0020

De Vreese, L.P., Mantesso, U., De Bastiani, E., Weger, E., Marangoni, A.C. & Gomiero, T. (2012), Impact of dementia-derived nonpharmacological intervention procedures on cognition and behavior in older adults with intellectual disabilities: A 3-year follow-up study. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 9, 92-102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-1130.2012.00344.x

De Vreese, L.P., Mantesso, U., De Bastiani, E., Marangoni, A., Weger, E., & Gomiero T. (2018). Anticholinergic burden in adult and elderly people with intellectual disabilities: Results from an Italian multicenter cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE*, 13:e0205897. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.

Dhana, K., Agarwal, P., James, B.D., Leurgans, S.E., Rajan, K.B., Aggarwal, N.T., Barnes, L.L., Bennett, D.A., & Schneider, J.A. (2024). Healthy lifestyle and cognition in older adults with common neuropathologies of dementia. *JAMA Neurology*, 81(3), 233-239. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2023.5491.

Dhanasekara, C.S., Ancona, D., Cortes, L., Hu, A., Rimu, A.H., Robohm-Leavitt, C., Payne, D., Wakefield, S.M., Mastergeorge, A.M., & Kahathuduwa, C.N. (2023). Association between autism spectrum disorders and cardiometabolic diseases: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 177(3), 248-257. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.5629

Dicks, L. M. T., Hurn, D., & Hermanus, D. (2021). Gut bacteria and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Microorganisms*, 9(12), 2583. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9122583

Dietz, P.M., Rose, C.E., McArthur, D., & Maenner, M. (2020). National and state estimates of adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(12), 4258–4266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04494-4

DiFrancesco, J. C., Labate, A., Romoli, M., Chipi, E., Salvadori, N., Galimberti, C. A., Perani, D., Ferrarese, C., & Costa, C. (2022). Clinical and instrumental characterization of patients with late-onset epilepsy. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 13, 851897. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2022.851897

Dimachkie Nunnally, A., Nguyen, V., Anglo, C., Sterling, A., Edgin, J., Sherman, S., Berry-Kravis, E., Del Hoyo Soriano, L., Abbeduto, L., & Thurman, A.J. (2021). Symptoms of autism spectrum disorder in individuals with Down syndrome. *Brain Science*, 11(10), 1278. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11101278.

Dobrosavljevic M, Zhang L, Garcia-Argibay M, Du Rietz E, Andershed H, Chang Z, Faraone S, Larsson H. (2021). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder as a risk factor for dementia and mild cognitive impairment: a population-based register study. *European Psychiatry*, 65(1), 1-19. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.2261.

Dodd, K., Watchman. K., Janicki, M.P., Coppus, A., Gaertner, C., Fortea, J., Santos, F.H., Keller, S.M., & Strydom, A. (2018). Consensus statement of the international summit on intellectual disability and Dementia related to post-diagnostic support. *Aging & Mental Health*, 22(11), 1406-1415. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2017.1373065.

Doody, O., & Bailey, M. (2017). Pain and pain assessment in people with intellectual disability: Issues and challenges in practice. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 45(3), 157-165. https://doi.org/10.1111/bld.12189

Ducharme, S., Dols, A., Laforce, R., Devenney, E., Kumfor, F., van den Stock, J. ... Pijnenburg, Y. (2020). Recommendations to distinguish behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia from psychiatric disorders. *Brain*, 143(6), 1632–1650, https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa018

Duker, S., Goodman, E., Pomponio Davidson, A., & Mosqueda, L. (2022). Caregiver perspectives on barriers and facilitators to primary care for autistic adults: A qualitative study. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 9, 1022026. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2022.1022026

Dykens, E., & Volkmar, F. (1997). Medical conditions associated with autism. In: D. Cohen and F. Volkmar (Eds), *Handbook of autism and pervasive developmental disorders* (pp. 338-410). 2nd ed. New York: John Wiley and Sons Inc.

Easai. (2023, October 25). Eisai presents new LEQEMBI[®] (lecanemab-irmb) investigational subcutaneous formulation interim study results and clinical improvement data in earlier stages of early Alzheimer's disease from additional analyses of Clarity AD at The Clinical Trials on Alzheimer's Disease (CTAD). Eisai. News release. https://investors.biogen.com/news-releases/news-release-details/eisai-presents-new-leqembir-lecanemabirmb-investigational

Easter Seals. (2024). *Autism after age 21*. https://www.easterseals.com/support-and-education/living-with-autism/autism-after-age-21.html

Edelson, S.M., Nicholas, D.B., Stoddart, K.P., Bauman, M.B., Mawlam, L., Lawson, W.B., Jose, C., Morris, R., & Wright, S.D. (2021). Strategies for research, practice, and policy for autism in later life: A report from a Think Tank on Aging and Autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 51(1), 382-390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04514-3

El-Tallawy, S.N., Ahmed, R.S. &, Nagiub, M.S. (2023 Aug). Pain management in the most vulnerable intellectual disability: A review. *Pain and Therapy*, 12(4), 939-961. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40122-023-00526-w.

Elias, R., & Lord, C. (2022). Diagnostic stability in individuals with autism spectrum disorder: insights from a longitudinal follow-up study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 63(9), 973–983. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13551

Elsabbagh, M., Divan, G., Koh, Y.J., Kim, Y.S., Kauchali, S., Marcín, C., Montiel-Nava, C., Patel, V., Paula, C.S., Wang, C., Yasamy, M.T., Fombonne, E. (2012). Global prevalence of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders. *Autism Research*, 5(3), 160-179. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.239.

Esbensen, A.J., Bishop, S., Seltzer, M.M., Greenberg, J.S., & Taylor, J.L. (2010). Comparisons between individuals with autism spectrum disorders and individuals with Down syndrome in adulthood. *American Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 115(4), 277-290. https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-115.4.277.

Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). *The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism*. Princeton, NJ USA: Princeton University Press. https://press.princeton.edu/books/paperback/9780691028576/the-three-worlds-of-welfare-capitalism

Evans, T.S., Berkman, N., Brown, C., Gaynes, B., Weber, R.P. (2016 May). Disparities within serious mental illness [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). (Technical Briefs, No. 25.) Background. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK368430/

Featherstone, C., Sharpe, R. A., Axford, N., Asthana, S., Ball, S., & Husk, K. (2022). Barriers to healthcare and their relationship to well-being and social support for autistic adults during COVID-19. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 23, e79. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423622000755

Ferguson, J. (2018). *Palliative and end of life care for autistic people*. Scottish Autism (National Autistic Society). https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/professional-practice/palliative-care

Ferguson, J. & Laurie, V. (2015). *Peaceful, pain free and dignified: palliative and end of life care for people on the autism spectrum A guide for social care practitioners*. BILD. https://www.bild.org.uk/product/peaceful-pain-free-and-dignified-palliative-and-end-of-life-care-for-people-on-the-autism-spectrum-a-guide-for-social-care-practitioners/

Fernández, M., Gobartt, A.L., Balañá, M., & COOPERA Study Group. Behavioural symptoms in patients with Alzheimer's disease and their association with cognitive impairment. *BMC Neurology*, 10, 87. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-10-87

Flygare Wallén, E., Ljunggren, G., Carlsson, A.C., Pettersson, D., & Wändell, P. (2018). High prevalence of diabetes mellitus, hypertension and obesity among persons with a recorded diagnosis of intellectual disability or autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 62(4), 269-280. doi: 10.1111/jir.12462. Epub 2017 Dec 26.

Foley, K.R. & Trollor, J. (2015). Management of mental ill health in people with autism spectrum disorder. *Australian Family Physician*, 44(11), 784-790. https://search.informit.org/doi/abs/10.3316/IN-FORMIT.584855832268113

Folstein, M.F., Folstein, S.E., & McHugh, P.R. (1975). "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 12(3), 189-198. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6.

Foster, R. (2024). FDA Delays Decision on New Alzheimer's Drug. *US News & World Report* [March 8, 2024]. https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2024-03-08/fda-delays-decision-on-new-alzheimers-drug

Frigaux A, Evrard R, Lighezzolo-Alnot J. (2019). L'ADI-R et l'ADOS face au diagnostic différentiel des troubles du spectre autistique : intérêts, limites et ouvertures [ADI-R and ADOS and the differential diagnosis of autism spectrum disorders: Interests, limits and openings]. *Encephale*, 45(5), 441-448. French. doi: 10.1016/j.en-cep.2019.07.002.

Frye, R. E., Vassall, S., Kaur, G., Lewis, C., Karim, M., & Rossignol, D. (2019). Emerging biomarkers in autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 7(23), 792. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2019.11.53

Fulceri, F., Gila, L., Caruso, A., Micai, M., Romano, G., & Scattoni, M.L. (2023). Building bricks of integrated care pathway for autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(7), 6222. doi: 10.3390/ijms24076222.

Fumagalli, G.G., & Crippa, A. (2022). The search for a link between autism spectrum disorder and neurodegenerative dementia. *Minerva Psychiatry*, 63(3), 189-196. https://doi.org/10.23736/S2724-6612.22.02370-3

Funaki, Y., Kaneko, F., & Okamura, H. (2005). Study of factors associated with changes in quality of life of demented elderly persons in group homes. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 12(1), 4-9. doi:10.1080/11038120510031725.

Galvin, J.E., Roe, C.M., Powlishta, K.K., Coats, M.A., Muich, S.J., Grant, E., Miller, J.P., Storandt, M., Morris, J.C. (2005). The AD8: a brief informant interview to detect dementia. *Neurology*, 65(4), 559-64. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000172958.95282.2a.

Gauthier, S., Ismail, Z., Goodarzi, Z., Ng, K.P., & Rosa-Neto, P. (2023). Viewpoint: Clinicians' perspectives on how disease modifying drugs for Alzheimer's disease impact specialty care. *Journal of Prevention of Alzheimer's Disease*, 10(3), 339-341. doi: 10.14283/jpad.2023.72.

Gerhardt, P.F., & Lainer, I. (2011). Addressing the needs of adolescents and adults with autism: A crisis on the horizon. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 41, 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10879-010-9160-2

Geronimus, A.T. (1992). The weathering hypothesis and the health of African American women and infants: evidence and speculations. *Ethnicity and Disease*, 2(3), 207-221. PMID: 1467758.

Gerontological Society of America. (2024). Addressing brain health in adults with intellectual disabilities and developmental disabilities: A companion to the GSA KAER Toolkit for primary care teams - Supporting conversations about brain health, timely detection of cognitive impairment, and accurate diagnosis of dementia. GSA: Washington, DC. https://gsaenrich.geron.org/brain-health.

Gilliam, J. (2006). GARS-2: Gilliam Autism Rating Scale-Second Edition. Austin, TX: PRO-ED.

Gillberg, C., Billstedt, E., Sundh, V., Gillberg, I.C. (2010). Mortality in autism: a prospective longitudinal community-based study. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(3), 352–357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-009-0883-4.

Graetz, J.E. (2010). Autism grows up: opportunities for adults with autism. *Disability & Society*, 25(1), 33-47, DOI: 10.1080/09687590903363324

Grässel, E., Trilling, A., Donath, C., & Luttenberger, K. (2010). Support groups for dementia caregivers--predictors for utilisation and expected quality from a family caregiver's point of view: a questionnaire survey part I. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10, 219. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-10-219

Greaves, C.V., & Rohrer, J.D. (2019). An update on genetic frontotemporal dementia. *Journal of Neurology*, 266, 2075–2086. https://doi.org/101007/s00415-019-09363-4

Gregory, A. (2024, 5 Apr). Hundreds of thousands face being denied revolutionary new dementia drugs in England. *The Guardian (London)*. https://www.theguardian.com/society/2024/apr/05/dementia-patients-england-nhs-may-be-denied-access-new-drugs

Groot, I.Z., Lever, A.G., Koolschijn, P.C., Geurts, H.M. (2021). Brief report: Using cognitive screeners in autistic adults. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*. 2021 Sep;51(9):3374-3379. doi: 10.1007/s10803-020-04782-z. Epub 2020 Nov 17.

Gupta, N., & Gupta, M. (2023). Diagnostic overshadowing in high-functioning autism: Mirtazapine, buspirone, and modified cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) as treatment options. *Cureus*, 15(5), e39446. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.39446

Hallett, R. (2019). Physical activity for autistic adults: Recommendations for a shift in approach. *Autism in Adulthood: Challenges and Management*, 1(3), 173–181. https://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2019.0016

Hallyburton, A. Diagnostic overshadowing: An evolutionary concept analysis on the misattribution of physical symptoms to pre-existing psychological illnesses. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 31(6), 1360-1372. doi: 10.1111/inm.13034.

Hamner, T., Hepburn, S., Zhang, F., Fidler, D., Robinson Rosenberg, C., Robins, D.L., & Lee, N.R. (2020). Cognitive profiles and autism symptoms in comorbid Down syndrome and autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 41(3), 172-179. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.000000000000745. PMID: 31599791.

Han, E., Tan, M. M. J., Crane, L., & Legido-Quigley, H. (2021). A qualitative study of autism services and supports in Singapore: Perspectives of service providers, autistic adults and caregivers. *Autism*, 25(8), 2279-2290. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211016112

Hand, B. N., Angell, A. M., Harris, L., & Carpenter, L. A. (2020). Prevalence of physical and mental health conditions in Medicare-enrolled, autistic older adults. *Autism*, 24(3), 755-764. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319890793

Happé, F., & Charlton, R.A. (2012). Aging in autism spectrum disorders: A mini review. *Gerontology*, 58(1), 70–78. https://doi.org/10.1159/000329720

Harmens, M., Sedgewick, F., & Hobson, H. (2022). Autistic women's diagnostic experiences: Interactions with identity and impacts on well-being. *Women's Health (London),* 18:17455057221137477. doi: 10.1177/17455057221137477.

Hartnett, K.B., Ferguson, B.J., Hecht, P.M., Schuster, L.E., Shenker, J.I., Mehr, D.R., Fritsche, K.L., Belury, M.A., Scharre, D.W., Horwitz, A.J., Kille, B.M., Sutton, B.E., Tatum, P.E., Greenlief, C.M., & Beversdorf, D.Q. (2023). Potential neuroprotective effects of dietary omega-3 fatty acids on stress in Alzheimer's disease. *Biomolecules*, 13(7), 1096. doi: 10.3390/biom13071096

Hassan, C., & Christensen, J. (2024, January 31). *Biogen discontinues Alzheimer's medication Aduhelm*. *CNN*. https://www.cnn.com/2024/01/31/health/aduhelm-alzheimers-biogen/index.html#:~:text=The%20Alzheimer%27s%20medication%20Aduhelm%20is,said%20in%20a%20state ment%20Wednesday.

Hayes, J., Ford, T., Rafeeque, H., & Russellet, G. (2018). Clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder in adults and children in the UK: a narrative review. *BMC Psychiatry*, 18, 222 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1800-1

Hazen, E.P., Stornelli, J.L., O'Rourke, J.A., Koesterer, K., & McDougle, C.J. (2014). Sensory symptoms in autism spectrum disorders. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 22(2), 112-24. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.HRP.0000445143.08773.58.

Heath, J. (2011). Three normative models of the welfare state. *Public Reason*, 3(2), 13-43. https://www.public-reason.ro/articol/49.

Hendriks, S., Ranson, J.M., Peetoom, K., Lourida, I., Tai, X.Y., de Vugt, M., Llewellyn, D.J., & Köhler, S. (2023). Risk factors for young-onset dementia in the UK Biobank. *JAMA Neurology*, e234929. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2023.4929.

Hillerstrom, H., Fisher, R., Janicki, M.P., Chicoine, B., Christian, B.T., Esbensen, A., Esralew, L., Fortea, J., Hartley, S., Hassenstab, J., Keller, S.M., Krinsky-McHale, S., Lai, F., Levin, J., McCarron, M., McDade, E., Rebillat,

A.S., Rosas, H.D., Silverman, W., Strydom, A., Zaman, S.H., & Zetterberg, H. (2024). Adapting prescribing criteria for amyloid-targeted antibodies for adults with Down syndrome. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.13778. Epub ahead of print.

Hithersay, R., Startin, C.M., Hamburg, S., Mok, K.Y., Hardy, J., Fisher, E.M.C., Tybulewicz, V.L.J., Nizetic, D., & Strydom, A. (2019). Association of dementia with mortality among adults with Down syndrome older than 35 Years. *JAMA Neurology*, 76(2), 152-160. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.3616.

Hirvikoski, T., Mittendorfer-Rutz, E., Boman, M., Larsson, H., Lichtenstein, P., & Bölte, S. (2015). Premature mortality in autism spectrum disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 208(3), 232-238. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.160192.

Hodges, J.F. (2023). Frontotemporal dementia and autism spectrum disorder: complex bedfellows. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 94, e2. https://jnnp.bmj.com/content/94/12/e2.39

Hof, P.R., Knabe, R., Bovier, P., & Bouras, C. (1991). Neuropathological observations in a case of autism presenting with self-injury behavior. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 82(4), 321-326. doi: 10.1007/BF00308819.

Hoffman, T., Bar-Shalita, T., Granovsky, Y., Gal, E., Kalingel-Levi, M., Dori, Y., Buxbaum, C., Yarovinsky, N., & Weissman-Fogel, I. (2022) Indifference or hypersensitivity? Solving the riddle of the pain profile in individuals with autism. *Pain*, 164(4), 791-803. doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000002767.

Holingue, C., Newill, C., Lee, L. C., Pasricha, P. J., & Daniele Fallin, M. (2018). Gastrointestinal symptoms in autism spectrum disorder: A review of the literature on ascertainment and prevalence. *Autism Research: Official journal of the International Society for Autism Research*, 11(1), 24–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1854

Hollocks, M.J., Lerh, J.W., Magiati, I., Meiser-Stedman, R., & Brugha, T.S. (2019). Anxiety and depression in adults with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 49(4), 559-572. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291718002283. Epub 2018 Sep 4.

Hong, J., DaWalt, L. S., Taylor, J. L., Haider, A., & Mailick, M. (2023). Autism through midlife: trajectories of symptoms, behavioral functioning, and health. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 15(1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11689-023-09505-w

Hou, K., Wu, ZX., Chen, X.Y., Wang, J.Q., Zhang, D., Xiao, C., Zhu, D., Koya, J.B., Wei, L., Li, J., & Chen, Z.S. Microbiota in health and diseases. (2022). Microbiota in health and diseases. *Signal Transduction* and *Targeted Therapy*, 7, 135. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-00974-4

Hsiao, E.Y. (2014). Gastrointestinal issues in autism spectrum disorder. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 22(2), 104-111. https://doi.org/10.1097/HRP.000000000000029.

Hull, L., Mandy, W., & Petrides, K. (2017). Behavioural and cognitive sex/gender differences in autism spectrum condition and typically developing males and females. *Autism*, 21(6), 706-727. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316669087

IACC. (2014). *IACC Statement regarding scientific, practice and policy implications of changes in the diagnostic criteria for autism spectrum disorder.* U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. https://iacc.hhs.gov/publications/general/2014/statement-changes-in-diagnostic-criteria.shtml

Hwang, Y.I.J., Srasuebkul, P., Foley, K.R., Arnold, S., & Trollor, J.N. (2019). Mortality and cause of death of Australians on the autism spectrum. *Autism Research*, 12(5), 806-815. doi: 10.1002/aur.2086.

lacono, T., Bigby, C., Carling-Jenkins, R., & Torr, J. (2013). Taking each day as it comes: Staff experiences of supporting people with Down syndrome and Alzheimer's disease in group homes. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 58(6). DOI:10.1111

Ijaopo, E.O., Zaw, K.M., Ijaopo, R.O., & Khawand-Azoulai, M. (2023). A review of clinical signs and symptoms of imminent end-of-life in individuals with advanced illness. *Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine*, 9. doi:10.1177/23337214231183243

Jacobs, P., Watchman, K., Wilkinson, H., & Hoyle, L. (2023). Couples with intellectual disability where one partner has dementia – a scoping review exploring relationships in the context of dementia and intellectual disability. *Ageing and Society*, 1-40. doi:10.1017/S0144686X22001416

Janicki, M.P., & Dalton, A.J. (2000). Prevalence of dementia and impact on intellectual disability services. *Mental Retardation*, 38(3), 276-288. https://doi.org/10.1352/0047-6765(2000)038<0276:PODAIO>2.0.CO;2. PMID: 10900935.

Janicki, M.P., McCallion, P., & Dalton, A.J. (2003) Dementia-related care decision-making in group homes for persons with intellectual disabilities, *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 38(1-2), 179-195, https://doi.org/10.1300/J083v38n01_04

Janicki, M.P., Dalton, A.J., McCallion, P., Baxley, D.D., & Zendell, A. (2005). Group home care for adults with intellectual disabilities and Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia*, 4(3), 361-385. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301205055028

Janicki MP. (2011). Quality outcomes in group home dementia care for adults with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities Research*, 55(8), 763-776. 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2011.01424.x.

Janicki, M.P., Henderson, C.M., Rubin, I.L. & Neurodevelopmental Conditions Study Group. (2008). Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Aging: Report on the Atlanta Study Group Charrette on Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Aging. *Disability and Health Journal*, 1(2), 116-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2008.02.004.https://doi.org/

Janicki, M.P., Hendrix. J., McCallion, P., and Neuroatypical Conditions Expert Consultative Panel. (2022a). Examining Adults with Neuroatypical Conditions for MCI/Dementia During Cognitive Impairment Assessments – Report of the Neuroatypical Conditions Expert Consultative Panel. The National Task Group on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia Practices and the LuMind IDSC Foundation. https://www.the-ntg.org/screening-assessment. [Revision V. June 27, 2022].

Janicki, M.P., Hendrix, J.A., McCallion, P. and the Neuroatypical Conditions Expert Consultative Panel. (2022b). Examining older adults with neuroatypical conditions for MCI/dementia: Barriers and recommendations of the Neuroatypical Conditions Expert Consultative Panel. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring*, 14, (1), e12335. https://doi.org/10.1002/dad2.12335

Japan Times. (2023, December 13). New Alzheimer's drug to be covered by health insurance in Japan. https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2023/12/13/japan/eisai-biogen-alzheimers-drug-price/

Jarvis, A. (2024, March 4). NHS England update on disease modifying drugs in Alzheimer's disease. Presentation as part of the webinar, "Alzheimer's disease: Imaging when using disease modifying drugs". Royal Society of Medicine (London). https://www.rsm.ac.uk/events/radiology/2023-24/ras02/

Jokinen, N., Gomiero, T., Watchman, K., Janicki, M.P., Hogan, M., Larsen, F., Beránková, A., Santos, F.H., Service, K., & Crowe, J. (2018) Perspectives on family caregiving of people aging with intellectual disability affected by dementia: Commentary from the International Summit on Intellectual Disability and Dementia. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 61(4), 411-431, DOI: 10.1080/01634372.2018.1454563

Jonas, K., Lian, W., Callahan, J., Ruggero, C.J., Clouston, S., Reichenberg, A., Carlson, G.A., Bromet, E.J., & Kotov, R. (2020). The course of general cognitive ability in individuals with psychotic disorders. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 79(7), 659–666. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.1142

Johnson, A., & Gomez. C. (2023, October 21). Stress is weathering our bodies from the inside out. *Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/interactive/2023/stress-chronic-illness-aging/

Juster, R-P., McEwen, B.S., & Lupien, S.J. (2010). Allostatic load biomarkers of chronic stress and impact on health and cognition. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35, 2-16. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.10.002

Kanner, L. (1943). Autistic disturbances of affective contact. *Nervous Child*, 2, 217–249. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1943-03624-001

Kats, D., Payne, L., Parlier, M., & Piven, J. (2013). Prevalence of selected clinical problems in older adults with autism and intellectual disability. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 5, 27 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1186/1866-1955-5-27

Kartoz, C., Wells, M., & Muñoz, S., (2022). Adults and seniors with autism spectrum disorder: Implications for person centered care. *OJIN: The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 27(3), Manuscript 1. https://www.doi.org/10.3912/OJIN.Vol27No03Man01

Kaufmann, W. E., Kidd, S. A., Andrews, H. F., Budimirovic, D. B., Esler, A., Haas-Givler, B., Stackhouse, T., Riley, C., Peacock, G., Sherman, S. L., Brown, W. T., & Berry-Kravis, E. (2017). Autism spectrum disorder in Fragile X syndrome: Cooccurring conditions and current treatment. *Pediatrics*, 139(Suppl 3), S194–S206. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1159F

Keating CT, Hickman L, Leung J, Monk R, Montgomery A, Heath H, & Sowden S. (2023). Autism-related language preferences of English-speaking individuals across the globe: A mixed methods investigation. *Autism Research*, 16(2), 406-428. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2864. Epub 2022 Dec 6

Keller, R., Chieregato, S., Bari, S., Castaldo, R., Rutto, F., Chiocchetti, A., & Dianzani, U. (2020). Autism in adulthood: Clinical and demographic Characteristics of a cohort of five hundred persons with autism analyzed by a novel multistep network model. *Brain sciences*, 10(7), 416. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci10070416

Kerckhove, N., Bornier, N., Mulliez, A., Elyn, A., Teixeira, S., Authier, N., Bertin, C., & Chenaf, C. (2023). Prevalence of chronic pain among people with dementia: A nationwide study using French administrative data. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 31(12), 1149-1163. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2023.06.015.

Kerr, D. (1997). Down's syndrome and dementia. Birmingham, UK: Venture Press.

Kidd, S.A., Lachiewicz, A., Barbouth, D., Blitz, R.K., Delahunty, C., & McBrien, D., Visootsak, J., & Berry-Kravis, E. (2014). Fragile X syndrome: a review of associated medical problems. *Pediatrics*, 134(5), 995-1005. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-4301.

Kildahl, A.N., Ludvigsen, L.B., Oddbjørn, H., & Helverscho, S, B. (2023). Exploring the relationship between challenging behaviour and mental health disorder in autistic individuals with intellectual disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 104, 102147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2023.102147

Kim, J.H., Hong, J., Choi, H., Kang, H.G., Yoon, S., Hwang, J.Y., Park, Y.R., & Cheon, K.A. (2023). Development of deep ensembles to screen for autism and symptom severity using retinal photographs. *JAMA Network Open*, 2023,6(12), e2347692. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.47692

Klein C.B., McQuaid, G.A., Charlton, R.A., Klinger, L.G., Wallace, G.L. (2023). Self-reported cognitive decline among middle and older age autistic adults. *Autism Research*, 16(3), 605-616. doi: 10.1002/aur.2877. Epub 2022 Dec 13.

Kobayashi, S., Yamamoto-Mitani, N., Nagata, S., & Murashima, S. (2008). End-of-life care for older adults with dementia living in group homes in Japan. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, 5(1), 31-40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-7924.2008.00097.x.

Kowalski, K., & Mulak, A. (2019). Brain-gut-microbiota axis in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurogastroen*terology and Motility, 25(1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.5056/jnm18087

Koffer Miller, K.H., Cooper, D.S., Song, W., & Shea, L.L. (2022). Self-reported service needs and barriers reported by autistic adults: differences by gender identity. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 92, 101916. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2022.101916.

Krantz, M., Dalmacy, D., Bishop, L., Hyer, J.M., Hand, B.N. (2023). Mortality rate and age of death among Medicare-enrolled autistic older adults. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 100, 102077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2022.102077.

Lancet Neurology. (2024). Dementia diagnosis in the anti-amyloid era. *Lancet Neurology*, 23(3), 219. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(24)00041-3.

LeBlanc, N. (2024). Challenges faced by adults with autism and other disabilities when navigating the healthcare system during a pandemic. *National Leadership Consortium Bulletin*, 9, 10-12. https://www.nat-leadership.org/bulletin/NLCDDBulletinEdition9Jan2024.pdf

Lee, B. H., Smith, T., & Paciorkowski, A. R. (2015). Autism spectrum disorder and epilepsy: Disorders with a shared biology. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 47, 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.03.017

Leedham, A., Thompson, A. R., Smith, R., & Freeth, M. (2020). 'I was exhausted trying to figure it out': The experiences of females receiving an autism diagnosis in middle to late adulthood. *Autism*, 24(1), 135-146. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319853442

Lehnhardt, F-G., Falter, C.M., Gawronski, A., Pfeiffer, K., Tepest, R., Franklin, J., & Vogeley, K. (2015). Sex-related cognitive profile in autism spectrum disorders diagnosed late in life: implications for the female autistic phenotype. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(1), 139–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2558-7.

Lever, A.G., Geurts, H.M. (2016). Psychiatric co-occurring symptoms and disorders in young, middle-aged, and older adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46, 1916–1930 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2722-8

Lewandowska-Pietruszka, Z., Figlerowicz, M., & Mazur-Melewska, K. (2023). Microbiota in autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(23), 16660. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms242316660

Lewis, L.F. (2018). Identifying autism spectrum disorder in undiagnosed adults. *The Nurse Practitioner*, 43(9), 14-18. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NPR.0000544285.02331.2c

Liao, P, Vajdic, C., Trollor, J., & Reppermund, S. (2021). Prevalence and incidence of physical health conditions in people with intellectual disability – a systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, 16(8), e0256294. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0256294

Lima, M.E.S., Barros, L.C.M, & Aragão, G.F. (2020). Could autism spectrum disorders be a risk factor for COVID-19? *Medical Hypotheses*, 144, 109899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.109899. Epub 2020 May 30.

Liu S, Larsson H, Kuja-Halkola R, Lichtenstein P, Butwicka A, Taylor MJ. (2023). Age-related physical health of older autistic adults in Sweden: a longitudinal, retrospective, population-based cohort study. *Lancet Healthy Longevity*, 4(7), e307-e315. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-7568(23)00067-3. Epub 2023 Jun 6.

Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, Brayne C, Burns A, Cohen-Mansfield J, Cooper C, Costafreda SG, Dias A, Fox N, Gitlin LN, Howard R, Kales HC, Kivimäki M, Larson EB, Ogunniyi A, Orgeta V, Ritchie K, Rockwood K, Sampson EL, Samus Q, Schneider LS, Selbæk G, Teri L, Mukadam N. (2020). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. *Lancet*, 396 (10248), 413-446. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6. Epub 2020 Jul 30. Erratum in: Lancet. 2023 Sep 30;402(10408):1132.

Lockwood Estrin, G., Aseervatham, V., De Barros, C. M., Chapple, T., Churchard, A., Harper, M., Jones, E. J., Mandy, W., Milner, V., O'Brien, S., Senju, A., Smith, C., & Smith, J. (2022). Homelessness in autistic women: Defining the research agenda. *Women's Health* (London), 18, 17455057221141291. https://doi.org/10.1177/17455057221141291

Loomes, R., Hull, L., & Mandy, W.P.L. (2017). What is the male-to-female ratio in autism spectrum disorder? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(6), 466-474. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2017.03.013. Epub 2017 Apr 5.

Lord C, Charman T, Havdahl A, Carbone P, Anagnostou E, Boyd B, Carr T, de Vries PJ, Dissanayake C, Divan G, Freitag CM, Gotelli MM, Kasari C, Knapp M, Mundy P, Plank A, Scahill L, Servili C, Shattuck P, Simonoff E, Singer AT, Slonims V, Wang PP, Ysrraelit MC, Jellett R, Pickles A, Cusack J, Howlin P, Szatmari P, Holbrook A, Toolan C, McCauley JB. (2021). The Lancet Commission on the future of care and clinical research in autism. *Lancet*. 2022 Jan 15;399(10321):271-334. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01541-5. Epub 2021 Dec 6. Erratum in: Lancet. 2022 Dec 3;400(10367):1926.

Lord, C., Rutter, M., DiLavore, P. C., Risi, S., Gotham, K., Bishop, S. L., & Western Psychological Services (Firm). (2012). *ADOS-2: Autism diagnostic observation schedule*. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.

Lott, I. T., & Head, E. (2019). Dementia in Down syndrome: unique insights for Alzheimer disease research. Nature reviews. *Neurology*, 15(3), 135–147. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-018-0132-6

Lunsky, Y., Lai, M.C., Balogh, R., Chung, H., Durbin, A., Jachyra, P., Tint, A., Weiss, J., & Lin, E. (2022). Premature mortality in a population-based cohort of autistic adults in Canada. *Autism Research*. 2022 Aug;15(8):1550-1559. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2741.

Lyall, K., Croen, L., Daniels, J., Fallin, M.D., Ladd-Acosta, C., Lee, B.K., Park, B.Y., Snyder, N.W., Schendel, D., Volk, H., Windham, G.C., & Newschaffer, C. (2017). The changing epidemiology of autism spectrum disorders. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 38, 81-102. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031816-044318. Epub 2016 Dec 21.

MacFabe D. (2013). Autism: Metabolism, mitochondria, and the microbiome. *Global Advances in Health and Medicine*, 2(6), 2-66. https://doi.org/10.7453/gahmj.2013.089

Maenner, M.J., Warren, Z., Williams, A.R., Amoakohene, E., Bakian, A.V., Bilder, D.A., Durkin, M.S., ... Shaw, K.A. (2023). Prevalence and characteristics of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years — Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2020. *MMWR Surveillance Summaries*, 72(No. SS-2):1–14. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss7202a1

Malik-Soni, N., Shaker, A., Luck, H., Mullin, A. E., Wiley, R. E., Lewis, M. E. S., Fuentes, J., & Frazier, T. W. (2022). Tackling healthcare access barriers for individuals with autism from diagnosis to adulthood. *Pediatric Research*, 91(5), 1028–1035. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41390-021-01465-y

Mandolesi, L., Polverino, A., Montuori, S., Foti, F., Ferraioli, G., Sorrentino, P., & Sorrentino, G. (2018). Effects of physical exercise on cognitive functioning and wellbeing: Biological and psychological benefits. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 509. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00509

Mangili, S., Ferraguzzi, G., & Capolongo, S. (2023a). Assessing the quality of the built environment in dementia: a framework to evaluate long-term care facilities. *Population Medicine*, *5*(Supplement), A33. https://doi.org/10.18332/popmed/163847

Mangili, S., Trabucchi, M., Brambilla, A., & Capolongo, S. (2023b). Built environment impact on people with dementia (PwD) health and well-being outcomes: a systematic review of the literature. *Acta Biomedica*, 94(Supplement 3), e2023155. https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v94iS3.14284

Marsack, C.N., & Hopp, F.P. (2019). Informal support, health, and burden among parents of adult children with autism. *Gerontologist*, 59(6), 1112–1121. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny082

Marsack, C.N., & Samuel, P.S. (2017). Mediating effects of social support on quality of life for parents of adults with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47(8), 2378-2389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3157-6.

Marsack-Topolewski, C. N., & Weisz, A. N. (2020). Parents' perceptions of access to services for their adult children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. *Families in Society*, *101*(2), 190-204. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044389419881273

Marsack-Topolewski, C. N., & Wilson, K. P. (2021). Coping strategies used by aging parental caregivers of adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Families in Society*, 102(1), 119-132. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044389420913121

Mason, D., Acland, J., Stark, E., Happé, F., & Spain, D. (2023). Compassion-focused therapy with autistic adults. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, 1267968. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1267968

Mason, D., Ingham, B., & Parr, J. (2021). Barriers and facilitators that prevent and enable physical healthcare services access for autistic adults. In: Volkmar, F.R. (eds) *Encyclopedia of Autism Spectrum Disorders* (pp 592-593). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-91280-6_102450

Mason, D., Ronald, A., Ambler, A., Caspi, A., Houts, R., Poulton, R., Ramrakha, S., Wertz, J., Moffitt, T.E., & Happé, F. (2021). Autistic traits are associated with faster pace of aging: Evidence from the Dunedin study at age 45. *Autism Research*, 14(8), 1684-1694. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2534.

Mason, D., Stewart, G.R. Simone, Capp, J., & Happé, F. (2022). Older age autism research: A rapidly growing field, but still a long way to go. *Autism in Adulthood*, 4(2), 164-172. Published Online:9 Jun 2022. https://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2021.0041

Mazurek, M.O., Sadikova, E., Cheak-Zamora, N., Hardin, A., Sohl, K., & Malow, B.A. (2023). Health care needs, experiences, and perspectives of autistic adults. *Autism in Adulthood*, 1, 5(1), 51-62. doi: 10.1089/aut.2021.0069.

Mazza, M., Pomponi, M., Janiri, L., Bria, P., & Mazza S. (2007). Omega-3 fatty acids and antioxidants in neurological and psychiatric diseases: an overview. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 31(1), 12-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2006.07.010. Epub 2006 Aug 28.

Maguire, E., Mulryan, N., Sheerin, F., McCallion, P., & McCarron, M. (2022). Autism spectrum disorder in older adults with intellectual disability: a scoping review. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 39(3), 287-300. https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2021.65.

McCarron, M., Gill, M., Lawlor, B., & Begley, C. (2002). Time spent caregiving for persons with the dual disability of Down's syndrome and Alzheimer's dementia: Preliminary findings. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 6(3), 263-279. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469004702006003036

McCarron, M., Gill, M., McCallion, P., & Begley, C. (2005). Alzheimer's dementia in persons with Down's syndrome: Predicting time spent on day-to-day caregiving. *Dementia*, 4(4), 521-538. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301205058305

McCarron, M., McCallion, P., Watchman, K., Janicki, M.P., Coppus, A., Service, K., Fortea, J., Hogan, M., Reilly, E., & Stemp, S. (2018). Quality care for people with intellectual disability and advanced dementia: Guidance on service provision. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 21(9), 1344-1352. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2017.0442.

McCarron, M., Reilly, E., & Dunne, P. (2013). Achieving quality environments for person centred dementia care. 45 pp. Dublin, Ireland: Daughters of Charity Service. https://www.desiun.ie/post/2014/02/10/book-launch-achieving-quality-environments-for-person-centred-dementia-care

McEwen, B.S. (2004). Protection and damage from acute and chronic stress: Allostasis and allostatic overload and relevance to the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science*, 1032, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1314.001

McEwen, B.S., & Karatsoreos, I.N. (2015). Sleep deprivation and circadian disruption: Stress, allostasis, and allostatic load. *Sleep Medicine Clinics*, 10(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsmc.2014.11.007. PMID: 26055668; PMCID: PMC8935364. [more recent article: Published online: April 23, 2022.] https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsmc.2022.03.005)

McEwen, B.S., & Karatsoreos, I.N. (2022). Sleep deprivation and circadian disruption stress, allostasis, and allostatic load. *Sleep Medicine Clinics*, 17(2), 253-262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsmc.2022.03.005. Epub 2022 Apr 23. PMID: 35659078.

McEwen, B.S., & Seeman, T. (1999). Protective and damaging effects of mediators of stress. Elaborating and testing the concepts of allostasis and allostatic load. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science*, 896, 30-47. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08103.x.

McGlinchey, E., Reilly, E., McCallion, P., Dunne, P., Mulryan, N., Carroll R. & McCarron, M. (2019). Dementia and intellectual disability: Prevalence, assessment and post-diagnostic support. In: Matson, J.L. (ed.) *Handbook of Intellectual Disabilities*. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20843-1_51

McGuire, B.E., & Defrin, R. (2015). Pain perception in people with Down syndrome: a synthesis of clinical and experimental research. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9, 194. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00194.

McKie, R. (2023). New Alzheimer's drugs bring hope of slowing disease for UK patients. *The Guardian* (London), Sun 17 Dec 2023. https://www.theguardian.com/society/2023/dec/17/ new-alzheimers-drugs-bring-hope-of-slowing-disease-for-uk-patients.

Medical News Today. (2024). *Autism and Alzheimer's disease: Is there a link?* Healthline Media UK Ltd, Brighton, UK. https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/autism-and-alzheimers

Mehra, A., Arora, G., Sahni, G., Kaur, M., Singh, H., Singh, B., & Kaur, S. (2022). Gut microbiota and autism spectrum disorder: From pathogenesis to potential therapeutic perspectives. *Journal of Traditional and Complementary Medicine*, 13(2), 135–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcme.2022.03.001

Midorikawa, A. (2015). [Developmental disorders and dementia]. *Brain Nerve*, 67(9), 1125-1132. Japanese. https://doi.org/10.11477/mf.1416200271.

Midorikawa A. & Kawamura M. (2012). The relationship between subclinical Asperger's syndrome and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders Extra*, 2, 180-186. https://doi.org/10.1159/000338174

Millar-Powell, N., & Warburton, W. (2020). Caregiver burden and relationship satisfaction in ASD-NT relationships. *Journal of Relationships Research*, 11, E15. https://doi.org/10.1017/jrr.2020.11

Mills, R., Nathan, R., Soper, P., Michelet, F., Stewart, A.G. & Jaydeokar, S. (2023. Intellectual disability and autism in adults influence psychological treatments for mental health comorbidities. *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, 17(2), 61-72. https://doi.org/10.1108/AMHID-12-2021-0050

Miot, S., Akbaraly, T., Michelon, C., Couderc, S., Crepiat, S., Loubersac, J., Picot, M.C., Pernon, É., Gonnier, V., Jeandel, C., Blain, H., & Baghdadli, A. (2019). Comorbidity burden in adults with autism spectrum disorders and intellectual disabilities-A Report from the EFAAR (Frailty Assessment in Ageing Adults with Autism Spectrum and Intellectual Disabilities) Study. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*. 2019 Sep 19;10:617. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00617.

Minshew, N.J., Sweeney, J.A., & Bauman, M.L. (1997). Neurological aspects of autism. In D.J. Cohen & F.R. Volkmar (Eds.), *Handbook of autism and pervasive developmental disorders* (2nd edn, pp. 344–369). New York: Wiley.

Mitchell S. L. (2015). Clinical practice - advanced dementia. (2015). *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(26), 2533–2540. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMcp1412652

Montgomery, J. M., Newton, B., & Smith, C. (2008). Test Review: Gilliam, J. (2006). GARS-2: Gilliam Autism Rating Scale—Second Edition. Austin, TX: PRO-ED. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 26(4), 395-401. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734282908317116

Morris, J.C. (1997). Clinical Dementia Rating: A reliable and valid diagnostic and staging measure for dementia of the Alzheimer type. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 9(S1), 173 - 176. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610297004870

Morris, R., Greenblatt, A. & Saini, M. (2019). Healthcare providers' experiences with autism: A scoping review. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49, 2374–2388. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-03912-6

Mostafa, G.A., & Al-Ayadhi, L.Y. (2015). The possible link between elevated serum levels of epithelial cell-derived neutrophil-activating peptide-78 (ENA-78/CXCL5) and autoimmunity in autistic children. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 11, 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12993-015-0056-x.

Murphy, C.M., Wilson, C.E., Robertson, D.M., Ecker, C., Daly, E.M., Hammond, N., Galanopoulos, A., Dud, I., Murphy, D.G., & McAlonan, G.M. (2016). Autism spectrum disorder in adults: diagnosis, management, and health services development. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 12, 1669-1686, https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S65455

Nadeem, M.S., Hosawi, S., Alshehri, S., Ghoneim, M.M., Imam, S.S., Murtaza, B.N., & Kazmi, I. (2021). Symptomatic, genetic, and mechanistic overlaps between autism and Alzheimer's disease. *Biomolecules*, 11(11), 1635. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11111635.

Nagib, W., & Williams, A. (2017). Toward an autism-friendly home environment. *Housing Studies*, 32(2), 140-167. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2016.1181719

National Autistic Society. (2018). *Palliative and end of life care for autistic people*. https://www.au-tism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/professional-practice/palliative-care

National Institute on Aging. (2023). *Alzheimer's disease in people with Down syndrome*. https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/alzheimers-causes-and-risk-factors/alzheimers-disease-people-down-syndrome

National Institute on Aging. (2017). *Home safety checklist for Alzheimer's disease*. https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/safety/home-safety-checklist-alzheimers-disease

National Institute for Health Care and Excellence [NICE]. (2021, Jun 14). *Autism spectrum disorder in adults: diagnosis and management*. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. PMID: 32186834.

National Institute for Health Care and Excellence [NICE]. (2012). *The guidelines manual*. National Institute for Health Care and Excellence. https://www.nice.org.uk/process/pmg6/resources/how-nice-clinical-guidelines-are-developed-an-overview-for-stakeholders-the-public-and-the-nhs-2549708893/chapter/the-guideline-development-group-gdg

National Institute on Health [NIH]. (2023). *Autism spectrum disorder*. National Institute on Health. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/autism-spectrum-disorders-asd

National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities (US). (2023). *Minority health and health disparities definitions*. https://www.nimhd.nih.gov/resources/understanding-health-disparities/minority-health-and-health-disparities-definitions.html

National Task Group on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia Practices [NTG]. (2023a). *NTG Commentary on the CMS 'Settings Rule' and applications for housing adults with intellectual disability living with dementia.* https://www.the- ntg.org/dementia-guidelines.

National Task Group on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia Practices [NTG]. (2023b). Organizing a 'dementia care plan' for adults with intellectual disability. https://www.the-ntg.org/_files/ugd/8c1d0a_428b0e89341743779464a5d16833a15b.pdf

Navarro-Pardo, E., López-Ramón, F., Alonso-Esteban, Y., & Alcantud-Marín F. (2021). Diagnostic tools for autism spectrum disorders by gender: Analysis of current status and future lines. *Children (Basel),* 8(4), 262. doi: 10.3390/children8040262.

Newell, V., Phillips, L., Jones, C., Townsend, E., Richards, C., & Cassidy, S. (2023). A systematic review and meta-analysis of suicidality in autistic and possibly autistic people without co-occurring intellectual disability. *Molecular Autism*, 14(1), 12. doi: 10.1186/s13229-023-00544-7.

Nicolaidis, C., Raymaker, D., Kapp, S.K., Baggs, A., Ashkenazy, E., McDonald, K., Weiner, M., Maslak, J., Hunter, M., & Joyce, A. The AASPIRE practice-based guidelines for the inclusion of autistic adults in research as co-researchers and study participants. *Autism.* 2019 Nov;23(8):2007-2019. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319830523. Epub 2019 Apr 3.

Nimmo-Smith, V., Heuvelman, H., Dalman, C., Lundberg, M., Idring, S., Carpenter, P., Magnusson, C., Rai, D. (2020). Anxiety disorders in adults with autism spectrum disorder: A population-based study. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(1), 308-318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04234-3. PMID: 31621020; PMCID: PMC6946757.

Nylander, L., & Gillberg, C. (2001). Screening for autism spectrum disorders in adult psychiatric out-patients: a preliminary report. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 103(6), 428-434. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0447.2001.00175.x.

Oberman, L.M., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2014). Hyperplasticity in autism spectrum disorder confers protection from Alzheimer's disease. *Medical Hypotheses*, 83(3), 337-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2014.06.008

O'Dwyer, M., Maidment, I.D., Bennett, K., McCarron, M., & Henman, M.C. (2016). Association of anticholinergic burden with adverse effects in older people with intellectual disabilities: an observational cross-sectional study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 209(6), 504-510. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.115.173971.

Oliver, C., Ellis, K., Agar, G., Bissell, S., Chung, J., Cheuk Y., Crawford, H., Pearson, E. Wade, K., Waite, J., Allen, D., Deeprose, L., Edwards, G., Jenner, L., Kearney, B., Shelley, L., Smith, K., Trower, H., Adams, D., Daniel, L., Groves, L., Heald, M., Moss, J., Richards, C., Royston, R., Tarver, J., Welham, A., Wilde, L., & Woodcock, K. (2022). Distress and challenging behavior in people with profound or severe intellectual disability and complex needs: Assessment of causes and evaluation of intervention outcomes. In: A.J. Esbensen & K.K. Schworer, E.K. (Eds.) *International Review of Research in Developmental Disabilities*, (pp. 109–189). Vol. 62. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irrdd.2022.05.004

O'Loughlin, L., Walsh, E., Byrne, D., & O'Connor, P. (2021). Development and preliminary evaluation of a novel physician-report tool for assessing barriers to providing care to autistic patients. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 873. doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06842-1.

O'Nions, E., Petersen, I., Buckman, J.E.J., Charlton, R., Cooper, C., Corbett, A., Happé, F., Manthorpe, J., Richards, M., Saunders, R., Zanker, C., Mandy, W., & Stott, J. (2023). Autism in England: assessing underdiagnosis in a population-based cohort study of prospectively collected primary care data. *Lancet Regional Health - Europe*, 3(29), 100626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanepe.2023.100626.

Øverland, E., Hauge, A.L., Orm, S., Pellicano, E., Øie, M.G., Winther Skogli, E., & Andersen, P.N. (2022). Exploring life with autism: Quality of Life, daily functioning and compensatory strategies from childhood to emerging adulthood: A qualitative study protocol. *Frontiers of Psychiatry*, 13, 1058601. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1058601

Owens, A.P., Mathias, C.J., & Iodice, V. (2021). Autonomic dysfunction in autism spectrum disorder. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 15, 787037. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2021.787037.

Oxelgren, U. W., Myrelid, Å., Annerén, G., Ekstam, B., Göransson, C., Holmbom, A., Isaksson, A., Åberg, M., Gustafsson, J., & Fernell, E. (2017). Prevalence of autism and attention-deficit– hyperactivity disorder in Down syndrome: A population-based study. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 59(3), 276–283. https://doi.org10.1111/dmcn.13217

Ozonoff, S., Young, G.S., Brian, J., Charman, T., Shephard, E., Solish, A., & Zwaigenbaum, L. (2018). Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder after age 5 in children evaluated longitudinally since infancy. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 57(11), 849–857.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2018.06.022

Pacione, L. (2022). Telehealth-delivered caregiver training for autism: Recent innovations. *Frontiers of Psychiatry*, 13, 916532. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.916532.

Pagni, B.A., Walsh, M.J.M., Ofori, E., Chen, K., Sullivan, G., Alvar, J., Monahan, L., Guerithault, N., Delaney, S., & Braden, B.B. (2022). Effects of age on the hippocampus and verbal memory in adults with autism spectrum disorder: Longitudinal versus cross-sectional findings. *Autism Research*. 2022 Oct;15(10):1810-1823. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2797.

Palerino, A. (2023). Never-ending parenting: Challenges experienced by caregivers of adults with severe autism. Dissertation/thesis number: 30425030; ProQuest document ID: 2811112787. https://sigma.nursingrepository.org/handle/10755/23593

Panpalli Ates, M.P., & Yilmaz Can, F. (2020). Which factors can we control the transition from mild cognitive impairment to dementia? *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience*, 73, 108-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2020.01.015.

Perkins, E.A., & Berkman, K.A. (2012). Into the unknown: Aging with autism spectrum disorders. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 117(6), 478–496. https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-117.6.478

Persico, A.M., & Napolioni, V. (2013). Autism genetics. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 251, 95-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.06.012. Epub 2013 Jun 13. PMID: 23769996.

Petersen, R.C., Weintraub, S., Sabbagh, M., Karlawish, J., Adler, C.H., Dilworth-Anderson, P., Frank, L., Huling Hummel, C., & Taylor, T., for the Dementia Nomenclature Initiative. (2023). A new framework for dementia nomenclature. *JAMA Neurology*, 80(12), 1364–1370. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2023.3664

Piven, J., & Rabins, P., on behalf of the Autism-in-Older Adults Working Group. Autism spectrum disorders in older adults: Toward defining a research agenda. *Journal of American Geriatrics Society*, 2011, 59(11), 2151–2155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03632.x

Powell, P.S., Klinger, L.G. & Klinger, M.R. (2017). Patterns of age-related cognitive differences in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47, 3204–3219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3238-6

Public Health Agency of Canada. (2018, March). Autism spectrum disorder among children and youth in Canada 2018: A report of the National Autism Spectrum Disorder Surveillance System. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/services/publications/diseasesconditions/autism-spectrum-disorder-children-youth-canada-2018/autism-spectrum-disorderchildren-youth-canada-2018.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada. (2022). *Autism spectrum disorder: Highlights from the 2019 Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth.* https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/services/publica-tions/diseases-conditions/autism-spectrum-disorder-canadian-health-survey-children-youth-2019/autism-spectrum-disorder-canadian-health-survey-children-youth-2019.pdf

Quinn, A., Wood, A., Lodge, K.-M., & Hollins, S. (2023). Listening to the experts: person-centred approaches to supporting autistic people and people with an intellectual disability in the mental health system. *BJPsych Advances*, 29(5), 308–317. doi:10.1192/bja.2023.31

Quora. (2023). Is it possible that the new drug, Aducanumab for Alzheimer's might also be beneficial in treating autism? Reply by Dr. John Kruse. https://www.quora.com/Is-it-possible-that-the-new-drug-Aducanumabfor-Alzheimer-s-might-also-be-beneficial-in-treating-autism Raja, S.N., Carr, D.B., Cohen, M., Finnerup, N.B., Flor, H., Gibson, S., Keefe, F.J., Mogil, J.S., Ringkamp, M., Sluka, K.A., Song, X.J., Stevens, B., Sullivan, M.D., Tutelman, P.R., Ushida, T., & Vader, K. (2020). The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. *Pain*, 161(9), 1976-1982. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001939.

Rasnani, F.M., Zavieh, A., Heidari, A., & Motamed M. (2023). From neurodevelopmental to neurodegenerative disorders: Investigating symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in patients with dementia. *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult, 1-10.* https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2023.2230507

Rattaz, C., Dubois, A., & Baghdadli, A. (2016). How do people with autism spectrum disorders (ASD) experience pain? In A.A. Battaglia (Ed.), *An Introduction to Pain and its Relation to Nervous System Disorders* (pp. 295-316). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118455968.

Ratto, A.B., Kenworthy, L., Yerys, B.E., Bascom, J., Wieckowski, A.T., White, S.W., Wallace, G.L., Pugliese, C., Schultz, R.T., Ollendick, T.H., Scarpa, A., Seese, S., Register-Brown, K., Martin, A. & Anthony, L.G. (2018). What About the girls? Sex-based differences in autistic traits and adaptive skills. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(5), 1698-1711. doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3413-9.

Ravn, M.B., Klingberg, T., & Schultz Petersen, K. (2018). The Adult Sensory Profile[™] in care homes targeting people diagnosed with dementia: A qualitative study from the care provider perspective. *Rehabilitation Research and Practice*, 5091643. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5091643

Research Institute of the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. (2024). *Where to live? The options for autistic adults.* https://www.research.chop.edu/car-autism-roadmap/where-to-live-the-options-for-autistic-adults

Reyes, A., Schneider, A. L. C., Kucharska-Newton, A. M., Gottesman, R. F., Johnson, E. L., & McDonald, C. R. (2023). Cognitive phenotypes in late-onset epilepsy: results from the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 14, 1230368. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2023.1230368

Rhodus, E. K., Barber, J., Abner, E. L., Duff, D. M. C., Bardach, S. H., Caban-Holt, A., Lightner, D., Rowles, G. D., Schmitt, F. A., & Jicha, G. A. (2020). Behaviors characteristic of autism spectrum disorder in a geriatric cohort with mild cognitive impairment or early dementia. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, 34(1), 66–71. https://doi.org/10.1097/WAD.00000000000345

Rhodus, E.K., Barber, J.M., Bardach, S.H., Nelson, P.T., & Jicha, G.A. (2020). Autistic spectrum behaviors in latelife dementia are associated with an increased burden of neurofibrillary tangles in the frontal lobe. *Alzheimer's* & *Dementia*, 16(Suppl.2), e043927. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.043927. https://alz-journals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/alz.043927

Rhodus, E.K., Barber, J., Kryscio, R.J., Abner, E.L., Bahrani, A.A., Lewis, K.E.S., Carey, B., Nelson, P.T., Van Eldik, L.J., & Jicha, G.A. (2022). Frontotemporal neurofibrillary tangles and cerebrovascular lesions are associated with autism spectrum behaviors in late-life dementia. *Journal of Neurology*, 269, 5105–5113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-022-11167-y

Richards, C., Jones, C., Groves, L., Moss, J., & Oliver, C. (2015). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder phenomenology in genetic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. Oct;2(10):909-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00376-4.

Richmond-Rakerd, L.S., D'Souza, S., Milne, B.J., Caspi, A., Moffitt, T.E. (2022). Longitudinal associations of mental disorders with dementia: 30-year analysis of 1.7 million New Zealand citizens. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 79(4), 333-340. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.4377.

Robbins, R. (2024). Biogen drops drug created for Alzheimer's. New York Times, February 1, 2024, p. B4.

Robert, J., & Duff, E. (2021). The role of the NP in primary care of adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Nurse Practitioner*, 46(10), 44-48. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NPR.0000769744.15933.0f.

Robertson, S.M. (2010). Neurodiversity, quality of life, and autistic adults: Shifting research and professional focuses onto real-life challenges. *Disability Studies Quarterly*, 30(1), https://dsq-sds.org/index.php/dsq/arti-cle/view/1069/1234

Roestorf, A., Howlin, P., & Bowler, D. M. (2022). Ageing and autism: A longitudinal follow-up study of mental health and quality of life in autistic adults. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 741213. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.741213

Roestorf, A., Bowler, D.M., Deserno, M.K., Howlin, P., Klinger, L., McConachie, H., Parr, J.R., Powell, P., Van Heijst, B.F.C., & Geurts, H.M. (2019). "Older adults with ASD: The consequences of aging." Insights from a series of special interest group meetings held at the International Society for Autism Research 2016-2017. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 63, 3-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2018.08.007.

Romero-Martínez, A., Ruiz-Robledillo, N., Sariñana-González, P., de Andrés-García, S., Vitoria-Estruch, S., & Moya-Albiol, L. (2017). A cognitive-behavioural intervention improves cognition in caregivers of people with autism spectrum disorder: A pilot study. *Psychosocial Intervention*, 26(3), 165-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psi.2017.06.002.

Rong, Y., Yang, C.-J., Jin, Y., & Wang, Y. (2021). Prevalence of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in individuals with autism spectrum disorder: A meta-analysis. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 83, 101759. doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2021.101759

Rossignol, D.A. & Frye, R.E. (2014). The use of medications approved for Alzheimer's disease in autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 2(87), 1-8. Published online 2014 Aug 22. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2014.00087

Royal College of Psychiatrists. (2020). *The psychiatric management of autism in adults* [CR228]. https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/better-mh-policy/college-reports/college-report-cr228.pdf?sfvrsn=c64e10e3_2

Ruiz-Rodrigo, A., Lemay, M., Savaria, A., Louis-Delsoin, C. & Morales, E. (2023) Assessment of home environment for autistic individuals: a literature review of the existing tools. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*. Published online: 24 Apr 2023. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2023.2202010

Russell, T. (2023). Assisted living vs. memory care: What's the difference? *Forbes.* Mar 31, 2023. https://www.forbes.com/health/senior-living/assisted-living-vs-memory-care/

Rutter, M., LeCouteur, A., & Lord, C. (2003). *Autism Diagnostic Interview–Revised (ADI-R)*. Western Psychological Services. https://www.wpspublish.com/adi-r-autism-diagnostic-interviewrevised.html?utm_term=adi%20r&utm_campaign=Search+%7C+Product+Family+Name&utm_source=adwords&utm_medium=ppc&hsa_net=adwords&hsa_tgt=kwd-

323653837841&hsa_ad=628854246702&hsa_acc=6243382947&hsa_grp=145401091671&hsa_mt=b&hsa_ca m=18635497850&hsa_kw=adi%20r&hsa_ver=3&hsa_src=g&gad_source=1&gclid=Cj0KCQjwwYSwBhDcARIsAOyL0fjezYUBLGE1YYHSCPzSEzoS_teRbBL4se412fv37lcpBvUiD9cWqjlaAqzpEALw_wcB

Ryan, L., Beer, H., Thomson, E., Philcox, E. & Kelly, C. (2023) Autistic traits correlate with chronic musculoskeletal pain: A self-selected population-based survey. *OBM Neurobiology*, 7(1), ??? https://doi.org/10.21926/obm.neurobiol.2301155

Rydzewska, E., Hughes-McCormack, L.A., Gillberg, C., Henderson, A., MacIntyre, C., Rintoul, J., & Cooper, S.A. (2018). Prevalence of long-term health conditions in adults with autism: observational study of a whole country population. *BMJ Open*, 8, e023945. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023945

Rynkiewicz, A., Schuller, B., Marchi, E., Piana, S., Camurri, A., Lassalle, A., & Baron-Cohen S. (2016). An investigation of the 'female camouflage effect' in autism using a computerized ADOS-2 and a test of sex/gender differences. *Molecular Autism*, 7(10). doi: 10.1186/s13229-016-0073-0.

Sacco, R., Camilleri, N., Eberhardt, J., Umla-Runge, K., & Newbury-Birch, D. (2023). The prevalence of autism spectrum disorder in Europe. In: M. Carotenuto (Ed.), *Autism Spectrum Disorders - Recent Advances and New Perspectives*. Intech Open. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.100837

Salomone, E., Pacione, L., Shire, S., Brown, F.L., Reichow, B., & Servili, C. (2019). Development of the WHO Caregiver Skills Training Program for Developmental Disorders or Delays. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10, 769. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00769.

Sandoiu, A. (2021). 'Weathering': What are the health effects of stress and discrimination? *Medical News To-day* (February 26, 2021). https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/weathering-what-are-the-health-effects-of-stress-and-discrimination

Schindler, S.E. (2024). *Obstacles to equitable and timely access to new Alzheimer disease diagnostics and treatments*. Presentation at the February 14, 2024, meeting of the LEAD Coalition, Washington, DC. https://www.agreedementia.org/.

Shaw, S.C., Carravallah, L., Johnson, M., O'Sullivan, J., Chown, N., Neilson, S., & Doherty, M. (2023). Barriers to healthcare and a 'triple empathy problem' may lead to adverse outcomes for autistic adults: A qualitative study. *Autism*. 2023 Oct 17:13623613231205629. doi: 10.1177/13623613231205629. Epub ahead of print.

Shaw, K.A., McArthur, D., Hughes, M.M., Bakian, A.V., Lee, L.C., Pettygrove, S., & Maenner, M.J. (2022). Progress and disparities in early identification of autism spectrum disorder: Autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 2002-2016. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 61(7), 905-914. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2021.11.019.

Shooshtari, S., Stoesz, B., Udell, L., Fenez, L., Dik, N., Burchill, C., Sachs, E., & Menec, V. (2017). Aging with intellectual and developmental disabilities and dementia in Manitoba. *Journal of Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, 11 (4), 134-144. https://doi.org/10.1108/AMHID-03-2017-0007

Sims, J.R., Zimmer, J.A., Evans, C.D., Lu, M., Ardayfio, P., Sparks, J., Wessels, A.M., Shcherbinin, S., Wang, H., Monkul Nery, E.S., Collins, E.C., Solomon, P., Salloway, S., Apostolova, L.G., Hansson, O., Ritchie, C., Brooks, D.A., Mintun, M., & Skovronsky, D.M. (2023). TRAILBLAZER-ALZ 2 Investigators. Donanemab in Early Symptomatic Alzheimer Disease: The TRAILBLAZER-ALZ 2 Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, 330(6), 512-527. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2023.13239.

Singapore Ministry of Health. (2013). *Dementia. MOH clinical practice guidelines 1/2013.* https://www.moh.gov.sg/docs/librariesprovider4/guidelines/dementia-10-jul-2013---booklet.pdf

Sonido, M., Arnold, S., Higgins, & Hwang, Y.I.J. (2020). Autism in later life: What is known and what is needed? *Current Developmental Disorders Reports*, 7, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-020-00192-z

Spinazzi, N. A., Santoro, J. D., Pawlowski, K., Anzueto, G., Howe, Y. J., Patel, L. R., & Baumer, N. T. (2023). Cooccurring conditions in children with Down syndrome and autism: a retrospective study. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 15(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11689-023-09478-w

Spinazzi, N.A., Velasco, A.B., Wodecki, D.J., Patel, L. (2023). Autism spectrum disorder in Down syndrome: Experiences from caregivers. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 54(3), 1171-1180. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05758-x

Spragge, F., Bakkeren, E., Jahn, M.T., Araujo, E.B.N., Pearson, C.F., Wang, X., Pankhurst, L., Cunrath, O., & Foster, K.R. (2023). Microbiome diversity protects against pathogens by nutrient blocking. *Science*, 382(6676), https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.adj3502

Srikantha, P., & Mohajeri, M.H. (2019). The possible role of the microbiota-gut-brain-axis in autism spectrum disorder. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(9), 2115. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20092115. PMID: 31035684; PMCID: PMC6539237.

Stewart, G.R., Corbett, A., Ballard, C., Creese, B., Aarsland, D., Hampshire, A., Charlton, R.A., & Happé, F. (2020). Sleep problems and mental health difficulties in older adults who endorse high autistic traits. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 77(101633). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2020.101633.

Stewart, G.R., Corbett, A., Ballard, C., Creese, B., Aarsland, D., Hampshire, A., Charlton, R.A., & Happé, F. (2021). The mental and physical health profiles of older adults who endorse elevated autistic traits. *Journal of Gerontology - B Psychological sciences and social sciences*, 76(9), 1726-1737. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbaa112.

Stone, B., Cameron, A., & Dowling, S. (2023). The autistic experience of homelessness: Implications from a narrative enquiry. *Autism*, 27(2), 489-499. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613221105091

Stone-Heaberlin, M., Blackburn, A., & Qian, C. (2024). Caregiver education programme on intellectual and developmental disabilities: An acceptability and feasibility study in an academic medical setting. *Child: Care, Health, and Development*, 50(1), e13178. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.13178

Struckmeyer L, Morgan-Daniel J, Ahrentzen S, Ellison C. (2021). Home modification assessments for accessibility and aesthetics: A rapid review. *HERD: Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, 14(2), 313-327. https://doi.org/10.1177/1937586720960704

Strydom, A., Chan, T., King, M., Hassiotis, A., & Livingston, G. (2013). Incidence of dementia in older adults with intellectual disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 34(6), 1881-1885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2013.02.021. Epub 2013 Apr 9. PMID: 23578903.

Sultan, A., Juneja, A., & Bhaskar, S. (2020). Co-morbidity of down syndrome with autism spectrum disorder: Dental implications. *Journal of Oral Biology and Craniofacial Research*, 10(2), 146–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobcr.2020.03.014

Swerdlow, R.H. (2018). Mitochondria and mitochondrial cascades in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 62(3), 1403-1416. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170585.

Swetlik, C., Earp, S.E., & Franco, K.N. (2019). Adults with autism spectrum disorder: Updated considerations for healthcare providers. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*, 86(8) 543-553. https://doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.86a.18100

Symons, F.J., Harper, V.N., McGrath, P.J., Breau, L.M., & Bodfish, J.W. (2009). Evidence of increased non-verbal behavioral signs of pain in adults with neurodevelopmental disorders and chronic self-injury. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 30, 521–528. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2008.07.012.

Taboas, A., Doepke, K., & Zimmerman, C. (2023). Preferences for identity-first versus person-first language in a US sample of autism stakeholders. *Autism*, 27(2), 565-570. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613221130845.

Takenoshita, S., Terada, S., Inoue, T., Kurozumi, T., Yamada, N., Kuwano, R., & Suemitsu, S. (2023). Prevalence and modifiable risk factors for dementia in persons with intellectual disabilities. *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy*, 15(1), 125. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-023-01270-1.

Taylor, S.C., Gehringer, B.N., Dow, H.C., Langer, A., Rawot, E., Smernoff, Z., Steeman, S., Almasy, L., Rader, D.J., Bučan, M., & Brodkin, E.S. (2024). Contrasting views of autism spectrum traits in adults, especially in self-reports vs. informant-reports for women high in autism spectrum traits. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 54(3), 1088-1100. doi: 10.1007/s10803-022-05822-6. Epub 2022 Dec 9.

Thye, M.D., Bednarz, H.M., Herringshaw, A.J., Sartin, E.B., & Kana, R.K. (2018). The impact of atypical sensory processing on social impairments in autism spectrum disorder. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 29, 151-167. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2017.04.010.

Tidmarsh, L., & Volkmar, F.R. (2003). Diagnosis and epidemiology of autism spectrum disorders. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 48(8), 517-525. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370304800803

Tola, G., Talu, V., Congiu, T., Bain, P., & Lindert, J. (2021). Built environment design and people with autism spectrum disorder (ASD): A scoping review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(6), 3203. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18063203.

Tollerfield, I., Chapman, H.M. & Lovell, A. (2021), Underlying thinking pattern profiles predict parent-reported distress responses in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 52(5), 2112-2131. doi: 10.1007/s10803-021-05092-8.

Toloza Ramírez, D., Iturra Pedreros, C., & Iturra Pedreros, G. (2020). Deterioro cognitivo y demencias en adultos con trastorno del espectro autista [Cognitive impairment and dementia in adults with autism spectrum disorder]. *Revista Ecuatoriana de Neurología*, 29(2), 92-102. https://doi.org/10.46997/revecuatneurol29200092

Torr, J., Carling-Jenkins, R., Iacono, T., & Bigby, C. (2010). Pathways to assessment and diagnosis of dementia in adults with Down syndrome. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 23(5), 408.

Torenvliet, C., Groenman, A.P., Radhoe, T.A., Agelink van Rentergem, J.A., Van der Putten, W.J., & Geurts, H.M. (2023). A longitudinal study on cognitive aging in autism. *Psychiatry Research*, 321, 115063, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2023.115063.

Totsika, V., Felce, D., Kerr, M., & Hastings, R.P. (2010). Behavior problems, psychiatric symptoms, and quality of life for older adults with intellectual disability with and without autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(10), 1171-1178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-0975-1.

Trembath, D., Paynter, J., Sutherland, R., & Tager-Flusberg, H. (2019). Assessing communication in children with autism spectrum disorder who are minimally verbal. *Current Developmental Disorders Reports*, 6(3), 103-110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-019-00171-z

Turnbaugh, P.J., Ley, R.E., Hamady, M., Fraser-Liggett, C.M., Knight, R., & Gordon, J.I. (2007). The human microbiome project. *Nature*, 449(7164), 804-810. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06244.

Tye, C., Runicles, A.K., Whitehouse, A.J.O., & Alvares, G.A. (2019). Characterizing the interplay between autism spectrum disorder and comorbid medical conditions: An integrative review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*. 2019 Jan 23;9:751. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00751. Erratum in: *Frontiers in Psychiatry*. 2019 Jun 27;10:438.

van Hoof, J., Kort, H.S., van Waarde, H., & Blom, M.M. (2010). Environmental interventions and the design of homes for older adults with dementia: an overview. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias*, 25(3), 202-232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533317509358885

van Niekerk, M.E.H., Groen, W., Vissers, C.T.W.M., van Driel-de Jong, D., Kan, C.C., & Oude Voshaar, R.C. (2011). Diagnosing autism spectrum disorders in elderly people. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23(5), 700-710. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610210002152

Vidyadharan, V., & Tharayil, H. M. (2019). Learning disorder or learning disability: Time to rethink. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 41(3), 276–278. https://doi.org/10.4103/IJPSYM_IJPSYM_371_18

Vinay, R., & Biller-Andorno, N. (2023). A critical analysis of national dementia care guidances. *Health Policy*, 130, 104736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2023.104736.

Vivanti, G., Tao, S., Lyall, K., Robins, D.L., & Shea, L.L. (2021). The prevalence and incidence of early-onset dementia among adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research.* 14(10), 2189-2199. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2590. Epub 2021 Aug 11.

Vogan, V., Lake, J.K., Tint, A., Weiss, J.A., & Lunsky, Y. (2017). Tracking health care service use and the experiences of adults with autism spectrum disorder without intellectual disability: A longitudinal study of service rates, barriers, and satisfaction. *Disability and Health Journal*, 10, 264–270. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2016.11.002.

Vohra, R., Madhavan, S., & Sambamoorthi, U. (2017). Comorbidity prevalence, healthcare utilization, and expenditures of Medicaid enrolled adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 21(8), 995-1009. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316665222

Volker, M.A., Dua, E.H., Lopata, C., Thomeer, M.L., Toomey, J.A., Smerbeck, A.M., Rodgers, J.D., Popkin, J.R., Nelson, A.T., & Lee, G.K. (2016). Factor structure, internal consistency, and screening sensitivity of the GARS-2 in a developmental disabilities sample. *Autism Research and Treatment*, 2016, 8243079. doi: 10.1155/2016/8243079. Epub 2016 Feb 15.

Wagner, M., Agarwal, P., Leurgans, S.E., Bennett, D.A., Schneider, J.A., Capuano, A.W., & Grodstein, F. (2023). The association of MIND diet with cognitive resilience to neuropathologies. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 19(8), 3644-3653. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12982. Epub 2023 Feb 28.

Walsh, M.J., Ofori, E., Pagni, B.A., Chen, K., Sullivan, G., & Braden, B.B. (2022). Preliminary findings of accelerated visual memory decline and baseline brain correlates in middle-age and older adults with autism: The case for hippocampal free-water. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 14, 1029166. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.1029166.

Ward, J.H, Weir, E., Allison, C. & Baron-Cohen, S. (2023). Increased rates of chronic physical health conditions across all organ systems in autistic adolescents and adults. *Molecular Autism*, 14(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-023-00565-2.

Warner, G., Moss, J., Smith, P., & Howlin, P. (2014). Autism characteristics and behavioural disturbances in ~500 children with Down's syndrome in England and Wales. *Autism Research*, 7(4), 433–441. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur. 1371

Warreman, E.B., Lloyd, S.E., Nooteboom, L.A., Leenen, P.J.M., Terry, M.B., Hoek, H.W., van Rossum, E.F.C., Vermeiren, R.R.J.M., & Ester, W.A. (2023). Psychological, behavioural, and physical aspects of caregiver strain in autism-caregivers: a cohort study. *Clinical Medicine*, 64, 102211, October 2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2023.102211.

Wasilewska, J., & Klukowski, M. (2015). Gastrointestinal symptoms and autism spectrum disorder: links and risks - a possible new overlap syndrome. *Pediatric Health, Medicine and Therapeutics*, 6, 153–166. https://doi.org/10.2147/PHMT.S85717

Watson, J. (2023). Where Is the 'Microbiome Revolution' headed next? *Medscape Medical News*. December 19, 2023. https://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/where-microbiome-revolution-headed-next-2023a1000vz1

Watchman, K. (2024). Stand by me: experiences of couples with an intellectual disability when one partner has dementia. Presentation as part of the symposium, "Stages of dementia and other dementias' at the 36th Global Conference of Alzheimer's Disease International, Krakow, Poland (April 24, 2024).

Watchman, K., Jacobs, P., Boustead, L., Doyle, A., Doyle, L., Murdoch, J., Carson, J., Hoyle, L., & Wilkinson, H. (2024). "How will we cope?" Couples with intellectual disability where one partner has a diagnosis of dementia. *The Gerontologist*, gnae030, https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnae030.

Watt, J.A., Isaranuwatchai, W., Grossman, L., & Straus., S.E. (2023). Disease-modifying drugs for Alzheimer disease: implications for people in Canada. *CMAJ*, 195(42) E1446-E1448. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.230595

Weir, E.M. (2023). Autism, physical health conditions, and a need for reform. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 177(3), 229-230. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.5639.

Weir, E., Allison, C. & Baron-Cohen, S. (2022). Autistic adults have poorer quality healthcare and worse health based on self-report data. *Molecular Autism*, 13, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-022-00501-w

Whitehouse, A.J.O., Evans, K., Eapen, V., & Wray, J. (2018). A national guideline for the assessment and diagnosis of autism spectrum disorders in Australia – Responses to public consultation submissions. Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia. https://www.autismcrc.com.au/access/national-guideline

Wigham, S., Ingham, B., Le Couteur, A., Wilson, C., Ensum, I., & Parr, J. R. (2022). A survey of autistic adults, relatives and clinical teams in the United Kingdom: And Delphi process consensus statements on optimal autism diagnostic assessment for adults. *Autism*, 26(8), 1959-1972. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211073020

Wilcock, D.M., & Griffin, W.S.T. (2013). Down's syndrome, neuroinflammation, and Alzheimer neuropathogenesis. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 10, 864. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-10-84

Williams, C. (2015). Maintaining caring relationships in spouses affected by Alzheimer's disease. *International Journal for Human Caring*, 19, 12-18. https://doi.org/10.20467/1091-5710-19.3.12.

Wilson, C., Roberts, G., Gillan, N., Ohlsen, C., Robertson, D. & Zinkstok, J. (2014). The NICE guideline on recognition, referral, diagnosis, and management of adults on the autism spectrum. *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, 8(1), 3-14. https://doi.org/10.1108/AMHID-05-2013-0035,

Wise, E.A., Smith, M.D. & Rabins, P.V. (2017). Aging and autism spectrum disorder: A naturalistic, longitudinal study of the comorbidities and behavioral and neuropsychiatric symptoms in adults with ASD. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47, 1708–1715. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3095-3

World Health Organization [WHO]. (2014, March 21). *Comprehensive and coordinated efforts for the management of autism spectrum disorders.* Sixty-Seventh World Health Assembly A67/17, Provisional agenda item 13.4 21 March 2014. https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA67/A67_17-en.pdf

World Health Organization [WHO]. (2019/2021). *International Classification of Diseases, Eleventh Revision* (ICD-11). Geneva: World Health Organization. https://icd.who.int/browse11.

World Health Organization [WHO]. (2020). *Global actions on epilepsy and other neurological disorders*. (Seventy-Third World Health Assembly WHA73.10). https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA73/A73_R10-en.pdf

World Health Organization [WHO]. (2023, November 15). *Autism*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/autism-spectrum-disorders

Yassine, H.N., Samieri, C., Livingston, G., Glass, K., Wagner, M., Tangney, C., Plassman, B.L., Ikram, M.A., Voigt, R.M., Gu, Y., O'Bryant, S., Minihane, A.M., Craft, S., Fink, H.A., Judd, S., Andrieu, S., Bowman, G.L., Richard, E., Albensi, B., Meyers, E., Khosravian, S., Solis, M., Carrillo, M., Snyder, H., Grodstein, F., Scarmeas, N., & Schneider, L.S. (2022). Nutrition state of science and dementia prevention: recommendations of the Nutrition for Dementia Prevention Working Group. *Lancet Healthy Longevity*, 3(7), e501-e512. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2666-7568(22)00120-9. Epub 2022 Jul 4.

Xie, S., Karlsson, H., Dalman, C., Widman, L., Rai, D., Gardner, R.M., Magnusson, C., Schendel, D.E., Newschaffer, C.J., & Lee, B.K. (2019). Family history of mental and neurological disorders and risk of autism. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(3), e190154. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.0154

Zahorodny, W., Shenouda, J., Sidwell, K., Verile, M.G., Alvarez, C.C., Fusco, A., Mars, A., Waale, M., Gleeson, T., Burack, G., & Zumoff, P. (2023). Prevalence and characteristics of adolescents with autism spectrum disorder in the New York-New Jersey metropolitan area. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(6), 1766-1773. doi: 10.1007/s10803-023-06058-8.

Zauderer, S. (2023). Autism and dementia, surprising connection. Crossrivertherapy.com. https://www.crossrivertherapy.com/autism/dementia

Zauderer, S. (2023). *Group homes for autistic adults.* Cross River Therapy. https://www.crossriverther-apy.com/autism/group-homes#how-do-group-homes-for-autistic-adults-work?

Zhang, L., Du Rietz, E., Kuja-Halkola, R., Dobrosavljevic, M., Johnell, K., Pedersen, N. L., Larsson, H., & Chang Z. (2022). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and Alzheimer's disease and any dementia: A multi-generation cohort study in Sweden. *Alzheimer's* & *Dementia*, 18(6), 1155-1163. doi:10.1002/alz.12462

Zigman, W.B., Schupf, N., Devenny, D.A., Miezejeski, C., Ryan, R., Urv, T.K., Schubert, R., & Silverman, W. (2004). Incidence and prevalence of dementia in elderly adults with mental retardation without down syndrome. *American Journal of Mental Retardation*, 109(2), 126-141. https://doi.org/10.1352/0895-8017(2004)109<126:IAPODI>2.0.CO;2. PMID: 15000676.

Zhou, Y., Wang, Y., Quan, M., Zhao, H., & Jia, J. (2021). Gut microbiota changes and their correlation with cognitive and neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 81(2), 583-595, 20211. doi:10.3233/JAD-201497

Zwakhalen, S.M., van Dongen, K.A., & Hamers, J.P., & Abu-Saad, H.H. (2004). Pain assessment in intellectually disabled people: non-verbal indicators. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 45(3), 236-245. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02884.x.

Zwilling, M. & Levy, B.R. (2022). How well environmental design is and can be suited to people with autism spectrum disorder (ASD): A natural language processing analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(9), 5037. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19095037.

-30-

Title of report/article	Year	Type	Key Finding(s)	Reference
Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Aging: Report on the Atlanta Study Group Charrette on Neurodevelopmental Conditions and Aging	2008	Meeting report/jour- nal Scientific meeting held in 2007 at CDC in Atlanta, Georgia (U.S.)	 The difficulty with ascertaining aging-related issues among older- age adults with autism is sparse case identification, low numbers of older adults among established study participants, and negligible focus on aging among autism re- searchers. Little is known about the ad- verse health status of older per- sons with autism or if there are any predictable trajectories common to people affected by autism. 	Janicki, M.P., Henderson, C.M., Rubin, I.L. & Neurodevel- opmental Conditions Study Group. (2008). Neurodevel- opmental conditions and aging: Report on the Atlanta Study Group Charrette on Neurodevelopmental Condi- tions and Aging. <i>Disobility and Health Journal</i> , 1(2), 116- 124. goi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2008.02.004.
Autism Spectrum Disor- ders in Older Adults: To- ward Defining a Re- search Agenda	2011	Meeting report/jour- nal Multidisciplinary expert group con- vened March 2010 (U.S.)	 Little is known about the phe- nomenology and associated fea- tures of autism as individuals age, about underlying long range neuro-biological changes, and about specific medical, psychiatric, and social aspects. Studies on autism and aging are practically nonexistent. 	Piven, J., Rabins, P. & Autism-in-Older Adults Working Group. (2011). Autism spectrum disorders in older adults: toward defining a research agenda. <i>Journal of the</i> <i>American Geriatric Society</i> , 59(11), 2151-2155. doi: 10.11111/j.1532-5415.2011.03632.x. Epub. 2011 Nov 8.

Table: Reports and Key Findings of Previous Efforts

A | P a g e

Ageing in People with Autistic Spectrum Disor- der	2012	Journal article/review	 Although there is a growing body of evidence on pathological, imaging, neuropharmacological and other key brain abnormalities in autism, these are, to date, con- fined to children and young (only rarely to middle aged) adults. Lacking any published evidence, there is a clear need to design cog- nitive and behavioral assessment tools appropriate to aging in adults with autism, as was done with de- 	Mukaetova-Ladinska, E.B., Perry, E., Baron, M., Povey, C. on behalf of the Autism Ageing Writing Group. (2012). Ageing in people with autistic spectrum disorder. <i>Inter-</i> <i>national Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry</i> , 27(2), 109-118. First published: 27 April 2011 https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.2711
Into The Unknown: Aging With Autism Spectrum Disorders	2012	Journal article/ <u>review</u> Academic work by authors	 The impact of aging processes and aging-related outcomes for in- dividuals with autism remains rela- tively unknown. The emerging literature indi- cates that autism's behavioral characteristics appear changeable across the lifespan, and comorbidi- ties, including epilepsy and ID, and mental health issues, including anxiety and depression, can reduce quality of life. 	Perkins, E.A., & Berkman, K.A. (2012). Into the unknown: Aging with autism spectrum disorders. American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disobilities, 117(6), 478-496. DOI: 10.1352/1944-7558-117.6.478
Aging in Autism Spec- trum Disorders: A Mini- Review	2012	Journal article/review	 The trajectories of change in cognitive and social functioning in autism in old age remain unknown. Studies using prospective, longi- tudinal methods are needed to identify the nature of age-related changes in behavior, cognition, and neurobiology. 	Happé, F. & Charlton, R.A. (2012). Aging in autism spec- trum disorders: a mini-review. <i>Gerontology</i> , 58(1), 70-8. <mark>dgi</mark> ; 10.1159/000329720. <mark>5040</mark> , 2011 Aug 24.

┣─				allacorg/wp-content/jupicaus/zoto/o4/AC_zot/-				It																		P			
1. More community- based solu-	tions and interventions are needed	to avoid or overcome social isola-	tion, promote inclusivity, and pro-	their families	 Needed are seerialized training 	2. Needed are specialized training	programs for staff in residential	care facilities and the development	of alternatives to facility-based	care.	Some evidence exists to suggest	that different genomic signatures	and biological pathways correlate	with different subtypes, but more	basic and applied research is	needed to fully understand and dif-	ferentiate the various subtypes as	well as to bridge the gap between	biology and functionality.	Needed is more information	about specific health conditions as-	sociated with aging, such as arthri-	tis, cancer, hypertension, diabetes,	obesity, stroke, and dementia, and	how they	manifest in autistic individuals. and	how those individuals respond to	standard therapies.	
Meeting report		Multidisciplinary	expert group con-	(Canada)	(analian)																								
2018																													
Aging and Autism: A	Think Tank Round Table -	Autism in Later Life: A	Think Tank on the Effects	of Aging on the Autism	Spectrum																								

Roestorf, A., Bowler, D.M., Deseroo, M.K., Howlin, P., Klinger, L., McConachie, H., Parr, J.R., Powell, P., Van Ueijt, B.F.C., Geurts, H.M. Older Adults with ASD: The Consequences of aging insights from a series of special interest group meetings held at the International Society for Autism Research 2016-2017. <i>Research in Autism</i> <i>Spectrum Disorders.</i> 2019 Jul; 63:3-12. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2018.08.007.	Edelson, S.M., Nicholas, D.B., Stoddart, K.P., Bauman, M.B., Mowlam, L., Lawson, W.B., Jose, C., Morris, R., Wright, S.D. Strategies for Research, Practice, and Policy for Autism in Later Life: A Report from a Think Tank on Aging and Autism. <i>Journal of Autism and Developmental</i> <i>Disorders</i> . 2021 Jan;51(1):382-390. doi: 10.1007/s10803- 020-04514-3. <i>See also</i> : Autism Canada, Autism Research Institute, and Pacific Autism Canada, Autism Research Institute, and Pacific Jourders: 2018/04/AC_2017-ThinkTank_Final.pdf loads/2018/04/AC_2017-ThinkTank_Final.pdf
 Consensus was not reached re- garding effective diagnostic ap- proaches to later life assessments, earlier referral for diagnosis, and establishing post-diagnostic sup- port pathways for autistic adults across the adult life course. Cross-sectional and longitudinal methods need to be employed to enhance research knowledge in: (a) understanding of typical and atypical aging in autism; and (b) the relative effectiveness of inter- vention approaches for different sub-groups of older adults with au- tism. 	 Data are lacking with respect to details regarding medical history, development, therapies, and edu- cational backgrounds, or adults with autism, thus limiting opportu- nities for reliable clinical and neu- robiological correlations. Needed are longitudinal studies on autism and aging to obtain bio- logical samples and eventually brain tissue. Needed are studies to provide detailed insight into how autism progresses over the life course and improve correlations between clin- ical phenotypes and neurobiologi- cal mechanisms. Current research involving brain tissue is impeded by the heteroge- neity among the spectrum's disor- ders as well as differing clinical or functional presentations and de- velopmental trajectories.
Meeting report/jour- nal Scientific panel meet- ings held in London UK, and other cities in 2016-17	Meeting report/jour- nal Think Tank' meeting held October 2017 (Canada) (Canada)
2019	2021
Older Adults with ASD: The Consequences of Ag- ing Insights from a series of special interest group meetings held at the In- ternational Society for Research	Strategies for Research, Practice, and Policy for Autism in Later Life: A Report from a Think Tank on Aging and Autism



The Summit Secretariat acknowledges the contributions of the National Task Group on Intellectual Disabilities and Dementia Practices in the United States for its development and production of this report and for hosting the Secretariat.



www.the-ntg.org